2009
Annual Report
and Accounts
2009-2010

Presented to Parliament pursuant to
Schedule 7, paragraph 25(4) of the
National Health Service Act 2006
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report and Accounts 2009-2010.

Contents
1 Chairman’s statement .............................................................................................6
2 Directors’ report and business review...................................................................8
2.1 Statutory information and history.....................................................................8
2.2 Review of the year ..........................................................................................11
3 Foundation Trust Membership ..............................................................................34
3.1 Eligibility, constituencies and boundaries..........................................................34
3.2 Membership size and movements in year.........................................................36
3.3 Summary of membership strategy, recruitment and involvement . ...................37
3.4 Changes in membership numbers....................................................................37
3.5 Involving our members . ..................................................................................38
3.6 How to contact your Governors.......................................................................38
4 The Governors’ Council ..........................................................................................40
4.1 Structure and members of our Governors’ Council ..........................................40
4.2 Governors’ committees and work programme.................................................43
4.3 Governor elections in year . .............................................................................44
4.4 Governors’ Council meetings and attendance . ................................................45
5 Board of Directors . .................................................................................................48
5.1 Composition of the board ...............................................................................48
5.2 Trust Board meetings and attendance..............................................................51
5.3 Balance, completeness and appropriateness of membership ...........................52
5.4 Performance and evaluation . ..........................................................................52
5.5 Understanding the views of Governors and members......................................52
5.6 Register of interests . .......................................................................................52
5.7 The Audit Committee ......................................................................................53
6 Quality report...........................................................................................................55
6.1 Chief Executive’s statement..............................................................................56
6.2 Our priorities for improvement and how we’ve performed...............................58
6.3 Improving quality, safety and patient experience..............................................72
7 Remuneration report...............................................................................................84
Accounting officer’s responsibilities................................................................................90
Statement on internal control.........................................................................................91
Foreword to the accounts . ............................................................................................98
Independent auditor’s report .........................................................................................98
Financial statements...................................................................................................100
Notes to the accounts . ..................................................................................................105

5

1 Chairman’s statement
Welcome to the first full year annual report
and accounts for Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

This work programme included changes to some
of our emergency wards to create single sex
areas and work to ensure that areas previously
exempt from same sex accommodation rules such as intensive care - met the requirements.

2009-2010 has been a good year for our
hospitals. We have further reduced the rate
of hospital infections across the Trust and
developed a wide range of work that will help
us improve quality and safety for our patients by
reducing risk in our hospitals. We already provide
a good service but we can make it even better in
the future through this work programme.

Although we have made a great deal of progress,
it has been a difficult year at times. In the
introduction to last year’s Annual Report I spoke
of the winter pressures that we faced. This year
the challenge we faced was even greater. The
period straight after Christmas saw us face
particular difficulties with record numbers of
emergency admissions that continued well into
February. This was made worse by the period of
severe winter weather that hit the country.

The quality report in this annual report and our
first full Quality Account which is published
alongside this document explain how we are
doing this. It is an exciting programme of work
that is engaging our staff. This programme also
involves new ways of working and how we
are open with our staff and patients - through
the Quality Account we are actively publishing
information about how we perform and the
areas where we need to improve our standards
in the future. Information will also be available at
each ward in the future.

Like last year, thanks must go to our staff who
enabled us to work through this period. A great
deal of flexibility and reorganisation ensured that
patients whose appointments and operations
were cancelled as a result of the pressures were
seen again as quickly as possible and meant that
we were still able to meet our targets for 18
week waiting.

A key part of raising standards is about providing
care in the best facilities. During the year we
have been able to invest in our services and
have opened several new facilities that have
improved the quality of the environment for the
care that our staff provide. A new endoscopy
unit at Warrington Hospital has been opened
that means patients receive care in a state of
the art facility. It’s a far cry from the temporary
accommodation that our endoscopy unit was
based in before at the hospital.

Away from the clinical side of our work we have
been developing our new ways of working as an
NHS Foundation Trust. Our Governors have been
in post for over a year now. They have bought
a lot to the organisation and have changed the
way we work.
A new committee structure has been developed
with Governors leading key areas of work
and our public and staff representatives have
also become active members of our existing
committees.

Alongside the endoscopy unit, a new ophthalmic
day case unit has also opened for eye surgery
and we were also pleased to secure over
£500,000 to invest in improving same-sex
accommodation at our hospitals during the
year. Privacy and dignity is a key part of the
quality agenda and we were able to declare
compliance against the national standards
around ensuring our patients are treated in same
sex accommodation by the end of the year.

There have been challenges as well. Defining
the role of Governors has taken time and is still
continuing. We lost two of our Governors due to
resignations during the year but rather than allow
that to deflect our work, we have appointed new
Governors who we hope can strengthen our
Governors’ Council. We will ensure that the new
way of working will benefit the Trust.
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We are all working to the same goals around
improving what we do, it is about moving the
agenda forward and using the skills of our
Governors in the best way possible.
As well as our staff, it is only right to pay tribute
to our army of volunteers and supporters who
have yet again made a fantastic contribution over
the course of the year. As well as the League of
Friends, WRVS and hospital radio stations, there
are a wide group of people who give up their
time to support our patients through fundraising
and other charity and support groups every day
of the year. Their impact is huge and helps us
immensely. They are part of our team here at the
hospitals and I’d like to thank all of them for their
contribution.
Looking to the future, working in this coherent
way for the benefit of the Trust is going to be
vitally important. We face some significant
challenges in 2010-2011 and beyond, with
public sector finances under increasing pressure.
Our challenge is to find new ways of working
efficiently whilst enhancing quality and safety.
We need to work through these challenges as a
health community across Warrington and Halton.
That means our staff, Governors and Trust Board
working as one for the benefit of our patients
and communities.

Allan Massey
Chairman
2nd June 2010
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2
Directors’ report and
business review
2.1 Statutory information and history
Principal activities of the Trust

Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust manages Warrington
Hospital, Halton General Hospital and the
Houghton Hall intermediate care facility in
the North West of England.

During the period 1st April 2009 to March
31st 2010, the Trust’s principle activity was
the provision and delivery of health services
as required to be provided in our Terms of
Authorisation as an NHS Foundation Trust.

The Trust provides health care services across the
towns of Warrington, Runcorn (where Halton
General Hospital is based), Widnes and the
surrounding areas. It became an NHS Foundation
Trust on 1 December 2008 and changed its name
from North Cheshire Hospitals NHS Trust.

Board of Directors
During the period 1st April 2009 to March 31st
2010, the following were members of the Trust’s
Board of Directors:
Name

Title

Notes

Allan Massey

Chairman

Maureen Banner

Vice Chair

Term of office ended 30th November 2009

Allan Mackie

Deputy Chair

Appointed Deputy Chair 1st December 2009

Rory Adam

Non Executive Director

Clare Briegal

Non Executive Director

Lynne Lobley

Non Executive Director

Carol Withenshaw

Non Executive Director

Catherine Beardshaw

Chief Executive

Jonathan Stephens

Director of Finance and Deputy
Chief Executive

Kathryn Holbourn

Director of Nursing

Christopher Knights

Director of Strategy and Business
Development

Gordon Ramsden

Medical Director

Sheila Samuels

Director of Governance and
Organisational Development

Simon Wright

Chief Operating Officer

Appointed 1st December 2009

Non voting director

Non voting director
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Our vision and objectives

Our sites and services

Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust has a clear vision and objectives
which was developed during the year. Our vision
is to provide High Quality, Safe Healthcare.

Warrington Hospital
Warrington Hospital is a major general
hospital which is home to a wide range
of NHS services. There are over 500
inpatient beds at the hospital.

To help us deliver this vision we have four clear
objectives:

It focuses on emergency and urgent
care and has all the back-up services
required to treat patients with a range of
complex medical and surgical conditions.
The hospital has undergone significant
development work over the past 20 years
and it provides a full range of expert
inpatient and outpatient services.

1. To ensure all patients are safe in our care
2. To give our patients the best possible
experience
3. To be the employer of choice for health
care we deliver
4. To provide sustainable local health care
services.

Warrington Hospital is home to the Trust’s
accident and emergency department and
maternity services. If your surgery or care
might require extra support or a high level
of specialist care it is likely to be carried out
at Warrington. The hospital also provides
specialist critical care, stroke, paediatric,
cardiac and surgical units.

Each of our objectives has a range of measures
underneath that help us measure our
performance in achieving them.

Services provided at Warrington
Hospital include:
Accident and Emergency, surgical services,
general medicine, children’s services,
intensive care, cardiac care, stroke care,
cancer care, elderly care, obstetrics
(maternity), gynaecology, orthopaedic,
critical care, genito-urinary medicine and
ophthalmology.
Support services include:
Occupational therapy, pathology,
physiotherapy, pharmacy, dietetics,
outpatient services, diagnostic services,
radiology and a range of specialist nursing
services.
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Halton General Hospital

Houghton Hall

Halton General Hospital in Runcorn
provides a wide range of NHS services
with a focus on planned specialist
surgery. There are 78 inpatient beds at
the hospital.

Houghton Hall in Warrington is an
intermediate care facility managed and
run by the Trust in partnership with
the Community Services Unit of NHS
Warrington and Warrington Borough
Council Social Services. It provides 39
beds in total.

A range of care for medical and surgical
conditions is provided from the hospital
and it houses a mix of inpatient and
outpatient services. It provides a comfortable
environment for expert surgical care. If your
surgery is non-complex and does not require
a long hospital stay it is likely to be carried
out at Halton General Hospital.

35 of the beds are used for ‘step down’ care
for patients who have completed their acute
care at Warrington Hospital following illness
or surgery but who require high quality
therapy and rehabilitation before going back
home or to community care. Four beds are
used for step up care - providing a facility
for local GPs to send patients from the
community who need some support to help
manage their condition and prevent them
from needing a longer acute hospital stay.

The hospital provides outpatient clinics in all
Trust specialties to ensure that people can
access their initial appointment close to home.
The hospital also has a minor injuries unit
which provides a range of minor emergency
care services for local people. An intermediate
care ‘step down’ ward at the hospital is
designed for patients who have had surgery
or emergency medical care but who require
some further support before going home.
Services provided at Halton General
Hospital include:
General surgery, urology, minor injuries
(not accident and emergency), endoscopy,
intermediate rehabilitation, cancer care, renal
dialysis, outpatient services and genito-urinary
medicine.
Support services include:
Occupational therapy, physiotherapy,
dietetics, outpatient services, diagnostic
services, radiology and a range of specialist
nursing services.
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2.2 Review of the year
2.2.1 Analysis of the development and performance of the Trust
End of year position

Meeting infection control targets

As a Foundation Trust it is increasingly important
that the organisation’s finances are secure
and that it develops robust long-term financial
plans that are achievable and support future
development.

The Trust has made increasing progress in
reducing the incidence of healthcare associated
infections both in terms of the number of
Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aurelius
(MRSA) bacteraemia cases and the number of
Clostridium difficile (C-diff) cases.

During 2009-2010 the Trust has achieved a surplus
of £4.01 million which is 2% of turnover and
continues the good progress made in the previous
year 2008-2009 when a surplus of £2.6 million
was achieved.
The surplus generated by the Trust was used to
invest in patient care services, to pay the public
dividend capital and to repay part of its loans.
The Trust has now repaid in full its historic
working capital loan and the final instalment
of the loan taken out to fund the critical care
development is due in 2012-2013.

The Trust met its nationally set target of having
no more than 12 hospital acquired MRSA
bacteraemia during the year. In total there were
four hospital acquired bacteraemia over the year,
a reduction from nine cases in 2008-2009.
The Trust also sustained its progress in reducing
incidence of hospital acquired Clostridium
difficile. The Trust had 114 cases in 2009-2010
which was a small reduction from the 116 cases
in 2008-2009. 22 of these cases of Clostridium
difficile were repeat specimens, taken outside
the Health Protection Agency’s 28 day period
so classed as a new case. In total 92 individuals
were affected.

Copies of the full accounts of the Trust are
available on the following websites:
www.warringtonandhaltonhospitals.nhs.uk
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk

Clinical Activity and waiting times

Patient care report
Our Quality Report on page 50 provides full
information on the care received by our patients
over the course of the year and some of the
challenges, successes and improvements that have
been achieved seen over the course of 2009-2010.
The Quality Report also includes full information
on our clinical and patient care performance
including surveying, complaints handling and key
quality improvements.
Some of the key developments and topics around
patient care have included:
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During the year a significant increase in activity
was delivered - with growth in all areas of
the Trust’s activity. This was driven by the low
waiting times associated with the delivery and
achievement of the 18 week referral to treatment
target milestones but also the increase in General
Practice (GP) referrals to the Trust’s services and a
rise in emergency admissions.
A summary of activity undertaken over the year
compared to prior year is provided in the table
below. Figures are presented for the full calendar
period April to March for comparative purposes.

Table: Hospital activity (spells, attendances, other)
2008-2009 activity

2009-2010 activity

% change

Elective inpatients

6,983

7,095

1.6%

Day cases

26,537

28,323

6.7%

Emergency inpatients

42,392

44,022

3.8%

Outpatients (including ward attenders
and outpatient procedures)

295,872

308,204

4.2%

Accident and Emergency

96666

97,252

0.6%

Total

468,450

484,896

3.5%

The H1N1 Swine Flu pandemic

and hours in many cases to ensure that our core
emergency services were not at risk and that
emergency patients were treated.

In April 2009, cases of the H1N1 ‘swine flu’ virus
first appeared in Mexico and quickly became a
global pandemic. Like all NHS organisations, the
Trust put in place plans to prepare for an increase
in admissions and the predicted severity of
cases that might be required based on national
modelling.

The Trust’s emergency plans were further tested
on January 7th when the weather caused
flooding and the collapse of part of the roof due
to a burst pipe at the Houghton Hall intermediate
care facility in Warrington. Trust staff evacuated
39 elderly residents safely to a ward at Halton
General. Everyone was moved safely within just
three hours of the incident occurring.

Staff from across the Trust worked together to
ensure that plans were in place in a test of the
organisation’s business continuity processes. A
rise in admissions from people with suspected
and/or confirmed H1N1 was seen, although
as with the national picture, overall admission
rates were not as high as the initial predictions.
However, the planning processes and testing of
our systems as part of this work was incredibly
valuable - as was the joint working across the
community with partners in both health and local
authorities.

During January 2010 alone there was a fivefold increase in trauma cases - many the
result of fractures and other injuries from the
winter weather. This resulted in a build up of
complex discharge patients throughout the
Trust and cancellation of elective work which
was rescheduled through the rest of the year,
allowing the Trust to still meet its 18 week wait
targets and minimise inconvenience to patients.

Winter pressures

New facilities to improve patient care

Some of the escalation plans that were put
in place for the H1N1 virus were fully tested
just months later in December and January.
Immediately after Christmas, the Trust dealt
with a large rise in emergency admissions from
across the community, resulting in the need to
open extra emergency beds in escalation areas.
The severe winter weather in the first week of
the year caused particular problems. Staff across
the Trust not only braved some awful travelling
conditions over those days, but also worked
flexibly and outside their normal working areas

A range of new facilities have been provided
during the course of the year that have improved
the quality of patient care at the hospitals. New
endoscopy and ophthalmic day case surgery
units were created during the year providing
modern accommodation and facilities for these
services. Alongside this, a wide range of work
was completed to improve privacy and dignity
for our patients as part of the NHS North West
Delivering Same Sex Accommodation project.
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2.2.2 Principal risks and uncertainties during the year
The Trust continues to face risks to achieving its
strategic objectives and developments and has
established and maintained a comprehensive
Assurance Framework and supporting Corporate
Risk Register to identify, understand and manage
risk. The Assurance Framework and Corporate
Risk Register are subject to regular review and
appraisal to ensure risks and reduction of risk are
managed proactively.

The table below sets out a number of
governance risks that the Board of Directors
considers to be of particular significance. Systems
and controls have been established to manage
the risks, which are monitored by the Board on a
regular basis.

Principal potential governance risks

Risk of inability to achieve innovative service transition in a changing economic environment requiring the
development and maintenance of partnerships and skills that support the Trust’s business through cooperation.
Risk of failure to implement all aspects of the Quality and Safety Strategy.
Risk of lack of access to the required capital resources required to deliver an integrated Estates Strategy.
Risk of inadequate development of a patient centred organisation.
Risk of failure to successfully implement an information strategy to support current and future business
requirements and service delivery.
Risk of the business impact of failure of emergency preparedness arrangements to respond to major
outbreak or incident.
Risk of Terms of Authorisation compromised due to the ongoing challenge of maintaining compliance with all
national targets and standards (failure to achieve national performance indicators).
Risk of adverse publicity and business consequence due to a major governance failure.
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2.2.3 Future trends and factors likely to affect the Trust
The Board of Directors has responsibility
to implement robust assurance,
governance and performance management
arrangements to deliver its corporate
objectives, which it does through a number
of assurance and management committees
and a rigorous and regular analysis of risk.

additional income are forecast to be in the region
of 4% to 5% in total, requiring the Trust to
deliver cost savings of circa £10m.
These savings will be achieved from a range of
measures including procurement savings, drug
prescribing efficiencies, improved productivity
and workforce redesign. The Trust has robust
plans and well established performance
monitoring processes in place to ensure these
savings are delivered.

As part of the annual planning requirements the
Trust must develop a three year strategic plan
(referred to as the annual plan) covering the
period up to 2013-2014.

Because of the financial pressures on the
organisation, the capital programme for the year
has been restricted to £2 million. The key focus
of the capital programme will be around key
maintenance work including the installation of
new fire alarm systems.

These medium-term plans contain a number
of assumptions including levels of income
and expenditure inflation and forecasts of
the financial impact of changes in clinical
activity on income and costs. This plan is
reviewed periodically at board-level in the Trust
and revised, as required, to reflect updated
information.

In addition to the challenge of delivering
cost savings, The Trust also faces a particular
challenge over the coming year in relation to its
contract position with its main commissioning
body, NHS Warrington (the Primary Care Trust)
and the challenging financial position facing the
local health economy. Financial difficulties at
NHS Warrington towards the end of 2009-2010
means that the PCT will need to take action to
reduce overall demand for health care services
across all of its providers in order to contain the
cost of services within the resources it receives.
In the interest of partnership working, the Trust
is working with NHS Warrington to deliver new
models of care which will reduce the reliance on
expensive hospital admission and redirect care to
be undertaken more locally and economically in
the community.

Looking ahead to 2010-2011, the Trust is looking
to build on the good results achieved during
2009-2010. This includes sustaining strong
financial performance and investing in front
line services to ensure the delivery of continued
improvements both in clinical quality and
patient and staff experience. In addition, the
Trust will further develop its working with the
Governors’ Council and continue to grow the
public membership. In support of the objective,
the Trust is planning a £0.6 million surplus for the
2010-2011 financial year with capital investment
of £2 million.
The lower level of surplus planned for 2010-2011
recognises the reduced level of funding the Trust
will receive next year following reductions made
to the national tariffs (the prices a Trust gets paid
for treating patients) particularly for emergency
admissions and the need to provide for increases
in expenditure such as pay awards and price
inflation for the goods and services we buy.
The Trust will not receive an inflationary increase
in 2010-2011 to the income it receives for the
provision of health care services and therefore
these cost increases will need to be financed
from internally generated savings.

Where these measures result in a reduce level
of activity and income for the Trust they will be
reflected in the contract agreement between
the two organisations and the financial impact is
reflected in the lower level of surplus planned by
the Trust for 2010-2011. In order to better meet
the balance between our emergency work and
planned elective work, the Trust is planning to
better utilise its two main hospital sites with more
elective surgery moving to the Halton General
Hospital site in the second quarter of 2010-2011.
This will free up bed and theatre capacity for nonelective work on the Warrington Hospital site.

In addition, the financial plans for 2010-2011
include revenue investments which recognise and
address the main service pressures experienced
delivering the growth in activity during 20092010. In total, the cost increases for the coming
financial year which will not be covered by

There are no other major services changes
or significant service developments planned.
The focus for the next 12 months is one of
consolidation.
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2.2.4 Regulatory Ratings
There are two ratings - a Governance
Rating and a Financial Risk Rating. The
Governance rating describes the effectiveness of
an NHS Foundation Trust’s leadership. Monitor
use performance measures such as whether
Foundation Trusts are meeting national targets
and standards, such as a reduction in MRSA
rates, as an indication of this, together with a
range of other governance measures. Monitor
consider these areas when assessing the annual
and quarterly governance risk ratings which they
publish for each Trust:

Care Quality Commission Ratings
Prior to achieving Foundation Trust status, the
organisation in 2007-2008 was rated ‘good’ for
quality of services and ‘fair’ for use of resource /
financial performance in the annual healthcheck
carried out by then Healthcare Commission. In
the 2008-2009 ratings which were published
last year the Trust was rated ‘good’ for quality of
service and ‘excellent’ for its use of resources /
financial performance. The final ratings for 20092010 will be awarded and published later in 2010
and we anticipate that we will record this level of
performance again.

1. Legality of constitution - NHS Foundation
Trust constitutions are legal documents that
describe how each is governed

The Trust declared compliance with all 44 health
care standards. Standards for Better Health is a
set of standards that the National Health Service
in England must meet. The standards were set
out by the Department of Health. NHS Trusts
must declare their level of compliance with these
standards annually as part of the Annual Health
Check. The Care Quality Commission has now
published a set of standards which superseded
those previously used in the Annual Health
Check. The Trust must demonstrate ongoing
compliance with these as part of its registration
requirements.

2. Growing a representative membership NHS Foundation Trusts are accountable to
their local communities and must have plans
in place to develop and grow a representative
membership
3. Appropriate board roles and structures Monitor checks whether the appropriate
roles exist and are filled within each NHS
Foundation Trust. We also look for evidence
that a collaborative but challenging relationship
exists between the Board of Governors and the
board of directors, and the executive and nonexecutive members of the board of directors

Monitor Ratings
Monitor, the Independent Regulator of
Foundation Trusts, has created a forward-looking,
risk-based system of regulation which informs the
intensity of monitoring. It identifies actual and
potential financial and non-financial problems,
and deals with them effectively.

4. Co-operation with NHS bodies and local
authorities - NHS Foundation Trusts have a
duty as part of their terms of authorisation
to cooperate with a range of NHS bodies and
with local authorities

On authorisation, each Foundation Trust is
assigned a Monitor relationship manager. The
relationship manager ensures that where an NHS
Foundation Trust fails to comply with its terms
of authorisation, the Trust’s board takes the
appropriate remedial action.

5. Clinical quality - boards must be satisfied,
and certify to Monitor, that their NHS
Foundation Trust has effective measures
and arrangements in place to monitor and
continually improve the quality of healthcare
it provides

Monitor requires each Foundation Trust board to
submit an annual plan and quarterly and reports.
Performance is monitored against these plans
to identify where potential and actual problems
might arise. Monitor publishes quarterly and
annual reports on these submissions and
assigns each Foundation Trust with an annual
and quarterly risk rating. These risk ratings
are designed to indicate the risk of a failure to
comply with the terms of authorisation.

6. Service performance (healthcare targets
and standards) - boards have to confirm
to us that plans are in place to ensure that
priority targets and standards will be met
continually
7. Other risk management processes - boards
must address and resolve any risks that have
been identified. If issues are outstanding,
the board must demonstrate to Monitor that
robust plans are in place to address them.
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Financial risk ratings are allocated using
a scorecard which compares key financial
information across all Foundation Trusts. A rating
of 5 reflects the lowest level of financial risk and
a rating of 1 the greatest.
When assessing financial risk, Monitor will assign
quarterly and annual risk ratings using a system
which looks at four criteria:
1. Achievement of plan;
2. Underlying performance;
3. Financial efficiency; and
4. Liquidity.
The risk rating is forward-looking and is intended
to reflect the likelihood of an actual or potential
financial breach of the Foundation Trust’s terms
of authorisation. Monitor also assigns a rating
for mandatory services. Mandatory services
are the services which each NHS Foundation
Trust must provide as detailed in their terms of
authorisation. There are specific processes which
must be followed if an NHS Foundation Trust
wishes to request a change in these services or
to dispose of assets required to provide these
services.

Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust performance
against Monitor risk ratings 2008-2009 and 2009-2010
The Trust was authorised as an NHS Foundation
Trust in Quarter 3 of 2008-2009.
Trust Annual Plan
2008-2009 target

Quarter 1
2008-2009

Quarter 2
2008-2009

Quarter 3
2008-2009

Quarter 4
2008-2009

Financial Risk Rating

4

N/A

N/A

3

4

Governance Risk
Rating

Green

N/A

N/A

Amber

Green

Mandatory Services

Green

N/A

N/A

Green

Green

Trust Annual Plan
2009-2010 target

Quarter 1
2009-2010

Quarter 2
2009-2010

Quarter 3
2009-2010

Quarter 4
2009-2010

Financial Risk Rating

4

3

4

4

4

Governance Risk
Rating

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green

Mandatory Services

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green
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2.2.5 Employee report
Staff in post at 31st March 2009

4,102 (3,292.08 whole time equivalent)

Cumulative sickness over the full 2009-2010 year 5.14%
The Trust will face many challenges over
the coming years and continues to work to
develop its staff and services to enable them
to be able to respond flexibly to the future.

range of issues which are of common interest
to managers and employees. Full minutes of
each meeting are available through either
trade union representatives or the human
resources department. The bi-monthly meetings
are supplemented by further sub-committee
meetings on specific topic items and ad-hoc
meetings to discuss developments and areas of
concern.

The hospitals would not be able to provide the
high quality services for which it is recognised
without the dedication, hard work and high
standards of professionalism demonstrated by
all staff. This was highlighted over the last year
with the incredible support that staff provided
during the period of emergency pressure from
late December. Despite difficult circumstances
our staff worked flexibly and above and beyond
the call of duty to ensure continuation of care for
our patients.

In March 2010 the Trust held its second major
staff awards event - the Thank You Awards.
Nominations were received from staff and
patients and winners included the stroke team,
midwives, nurses and therapy teams. Over 350
staff were able to attend the event and share
best practice and celebrate their achievements.

The Trust prides itself on its ability to attract
the highest calibre of staff and aims to provide
an environment that encourages staff to
continuously develop and update their skills. Staff
can access a range of benefits, including access
to onsite occupational health and counselling
services and a range of training and education
opportunities. The Trust is proud that its efforts
to be a good employer are recognised by the
staff and a range of external bodies and is an
Improving Working Lives Practice Plus employer.

Communication with staff is also vital and is
provided in the form of a quarterly newsletter
‘Link Up’ which provides detailed features
and information on key developments. This is
complemented by a weekly email bulletin called
‘The Week’ and a monthly team brief system, led
by the Chief Executive, which works by cascading
information to managers for dissemination across
the hospital teams.
We are pleased to have improved the attendance
at key mandatory training and the number of
staff who are undertaking an annual appraisal.
There is still room for improvement in these areas
and we will major on this during the coming year.

The Trust works closely with trade union staff
representatives and unions through its Joint
Negotiating and Consultative Committee.
The group meets every two months as a
forum for consultation and negotiation on a

Key indicators regards Mandatory training and appraisal.
Indicators

Mandatory Training

April 2008 to
March 2009

April 2009 to
March 2010

Health and Safety

74%

82%

Fire Safety

52%

55%

Manual Handling

63%

80%

51%

67%

Non-medical staff appraisals
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2.2.6 The NHS Staff Survey 2009
In the 2009 NHS Staff Opinion Survey
results improved or did not statistically
decrease in all but one area of the survey
when compared to the 2008 survey. The
Trust scored in the top 20% of NHS Trusts
in 17 areas of the survey an increase on
last year’s 11 areas.
The Trust scored particularly well on the
low number of staff who have experienced
discrimination at work in the last 12 months,
had suffered a work related injury in the last 12
months and the percentage of staff who felt
supported by their immediate line managers.
Other areas amongst the top 20% in the NHS
included the percentage of staff stating hand
wash facilities were always available, staff
job satisfaction, and the percentage of staff
appraised with personal development plans in
the previous 12 months.

These actions focus on enabling the Trust to
make improvements where it remains in the
bottom 20% of NHS Trust scores. These areas
include the percentage of staff agreeing their
role makes a difference to patients, agreeing
they have an interesting job and understanding
their role and where it fits it. Improvement will
be achieved through greater communication,
simplified commitments regarding the actions
we will take to address staff concerns and a
programme of consultation with staff to gain a
greater insight into their concerns.

The Trust showed improvement in 9 areas,
three of which were areas where the Trust was
in the worst 20% of Acute Trusts in 2008 and
therefore demonstrates that each of these areas
has successfully been improved since they were
identified as weak areas in 2008. Although
the Trust’s scores decreased slightly in relation
to staff suffering bullying and harassment by
patients / visitors or service users the results
remained in the top 20% of Trusts.

It should be noted that the Trust also undertakes
a bi-annual local Heath and Wellbeing survey, the
results of which will be compared where possible
to those of the national staff survey and will
also influence actions and priorities for the Trust
going forward.

The percentage of staff returning the survey this
year fell by 2% however this was in line with
the national fall of the same percentage and the
average return rate has remained steady over the
last five years. Work will continue throughout
the year to communicate messages of actions
completed following the survey, the aim being to
try to improve response rates.

It is hoped that by developing key commitments
the Trust will not only improve specific areas of
the Staff Survey but also increase overall levels
of staff engagement which links to the Trusts
Strategic Objective of achieving the status of an
employer of Choice.

The communication plan used in the lead up
to and during the survey will be reviewed and
enhanced in order to try and increase response
rates.
Overall the results showed improvements,
however there are still areas where the Trust
recognises a need to improve the results and
work will be targeted in order to achieve this
over the coming 12 months. In order to address
this, the Trust has developed six key actions
which will be taken forward and implemented
during 2010.
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Staff survey report overall response rates

Response
rate

2008-2009

2009-2010

Trust Improvement/Deterioration

Trust

National Average

Trust

National Average

46%

57%

44%

55%

Decrease in 2% points.

Staff survey - Trust performance, top four ranking scores
2008-2009

2009-2010

Trust

National Average

Trust

National Average

Question:
Low percentage of staff
experiencing harassment, 14%
bullying or abuse from
staff in the last 12 months

19%

13%

18%

Decrease in 1% points

Question:
Low percentage of staff
experiencing physical
8%
violence from patients /
relatives in last 12 months

12%

10%

11%

Increase in 2% points

Question:
Low percentage of staff
experiencing harassment,
18%
bullying or abuse from
patients/relatives in
last 12 months

22%

21%

21%

Increase in 3% points

Question:
Low percentage of staff
experiencing physical
violence from staff in
last 12 months

2%

2%

2%

Increase in 1% points

Top 4 Ranking Scores

1%
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Trust Improvement/
Deterioration

Staff survey - Trust performance, bottom four ranking scores
2008-2009

2009-2010

Trust
Improvement/
Deterioration

Bottom 4 Ranking
Scores

Trust

National Average

Trust

National Average

Question:
Low percentage of staff
agreeing that they have
an interesting job

75%

79%

77%

80%

Increase/
decrease in
2% points

Question:
Low percentage of staff
feeling there are good
opportunities to develop
their potential at work

37%

42%

42%

42%

Increase in
5% points

3.36

3.39

3.38

Increase in
0.7 points

Question:
Low percentage of staff
feeling that they have
a high quality of job
design (clear job content,
feedback and staff
involvement)
Question:
Low percentage of staff
that would recommend
the Trust as a place to
work

3.32
(1 representing
a low quality
job and 5 a high
quality role)

47%

Not able to
compare

52%
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2.2.7 Equality and Diversity
At Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust we understand that it is
essential that everyone has equal access to
health services and we are committed to
ensuring this.

This work is supported by the Trust’s Equality and
Diversity Sub-group that reports to the Patient
and Workforce Experience Committee. This
forum considers all aspects of equality including
how to address barriers identified to for disabled
staff or service users or members of any minority
group. Following the completion of the Single
Equality Scheme Consultation any issues will
be considered and a timetable for addressing
any concerns will be produced. Action against
the plan will be monitored by the Equality and
Diversity Sub-committee.

Although the Trust has policies and procedures
in place in relation to disabled employees and
equal opportunities, which set out how the
Trust recognises the needs of disabled people
and how it will respond to those needs as an
employer and as a service provider, we have
decided to implement a new Single Equality
Scheme.

The Trust publishes annual data on age, ethnicity
and disability to comply with our statutory duties
and all the Trust’s policies and procedures are
widely available to staff through the intranet, and
advice is available through the human resources
lead for equality and diversity.

The Trust has a duty to eliminate discrimination
and promote equality across all its functions,
including the delivery of service the single
equality scheme will allow these principles to
be implemented across the Trust for each of the
equality strands.

Equality and Diversity summary of
performance - workforce statistics

The Single Equality Scheme is a living document
that will be developed and revised in line with
changes in legislation, progress made and as
our priorities change.

The majority of roles within the Trust require
specific qualifications usually obtained post
A-level. Therefore there are few opportunities
for staff aged 16 -21. However, the Trust does
advertise roles through a mixture of media in
order to attract a broad spectrum of applicants,
for instance newspapers and the internet. We
uphold an equal opportunities policy and each
applicant has a fair chance of appointment.

Our scheme will show how we will:
• Promote equality.
• Eliminate discrimination.
• Eliminate harassment.
• Promote good community relations.

When the ethnicity of the staff within the Trust is
compared to the local population the mix of staff
is proportionate and representative of the local
population for both 2008-2009 and 2009-2010.

• Reduce inequalities in access to health care.
• Develop a workforce that reflects the local
population.

The Trust is aware that the proportion of staff
registered as disabled is not representative of
the actual numbers. This is due to the recording
methods and will be addressed through a
‘Personal Details Audit’ during 2010-2011.

• Promote equal opportunities for all our staff.
We want to develop good community
engagement to communicate the importance
of the SES to them and how it will improve
the services we provide. We are undertaking
consultation both internally with staff and
with the public, our aim being to understand
whether our equality priorities are meeting their
needs and requirements.
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Workforce equality and diversity statistics
Staff
2008-2009

%

Staff
2009-2010

%

0 - 16

0

0

0

0

17 - 21

8

0.2

24

0.6

22+

3641

99.8

4123

90.4

White

3457

92

3531

86

Mixed

31

1

50

1

Asian or Asian British

154

4

318

8

Black or Black British

24

1

46

1

Other

93

2

182

4

Male

745

20

998

24

Female

2907

80

3131

76

Trans-gender

0

0

0

0

Recorded Disability

5

0.14

7

0.17

Age

Ethnicity

Gender
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2.2.8 Stakeholder relations report
The Trust cannot deliver its services in
isolation, and is an active participant
in quality and safety work undertaken
across the health economy both with lead
commissioners and neighbouring provider
units.

Our two local LINks organisations in Warrington
and Halton provide external scrutiny by
undertaking visits with formal reports which
identify both areas of good practice as well
as areas for improvement. Their involvement
in larger pieces of work such as improving
discharge and in membership of the Patient
Experience and Patient Communication groups
has been particularly valuable. The Trust has
worked closely with these groups and forged
strong and open relationships.

Through its Safeguarding work with both Adult
and Children, strong relationships have been
developed with other partner agencies such
as the Police; Social Care; Youth Offending
Services/Probation and the Voluntary sector.

The Trust has close links with both Local
Authorities Overview and Scrutiny Committees.
Warrington has a system of Emissary members,
whereby three members of the Health Overview
and Scrutiny Committee have a specific liaison
function with the Trust and meet with the
Trust regularly to learn about key issues. This
has been an excellent opportunity for the Trust
to work more closely with elected members,
and gain feedback on services from their
constituents’ viewpoint.

Key partners are the Trust Governors, who
through their own sub committees and
involvement in the Trust committees are able
to bring the patients’ and local communities’
views and experiences into our quality
improvement work. Their challenge and
positive commitment to enhancing the patient
experience, has been practically focused into
undertaking audits; identifying quality priorities
and bringing external expertise into improving
communication and patient journeys.
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2.2.9 Sustainability and Climate Change
The overall sustainability strategy of
the Trust

Sustainability is about enabling all people
throughout the world to satisfy their basic
needs and enjoy a better quality life without
compromising the quality of life for future
generations.

The aims and objectives of the Trust’s
sustainability strategy, as encompassed by the
Trusts Sustainable Development Management
Plan, are to:

The Trust appreciates that, as the largest single
organisation in the UK, the NHS is responsible
for major consumption of resources emitting
around 18 million tonnes of CO2 every year. It is
therefore incumbent on all NHS organisations to
lead, both by example and in practice, in making
sustainability a strategic priority.

• Reduce the Trust’s carbon footprint in line
with government guidance or better
• Ensure that all resources are used effectively
and economically, thus releasing more
funding to be spent directly on patient care
• Minimise the environmental impact of the
Trust’s activities on both the local and global
environments

The 2009-2010 financial year has seen the Trust
introduce many measures and initiatives that
will enable the organisation to continue to make
steady progress on the Sustainability and Carbon
Management Agenda in future years.

• Maximise the efficient use of water resources
• Minimise waste arisings and limit the impact
of waste disposal
• Ensure that the Trust manages the built
environment to encourage sustainable
development and low carbon usage
• Empower all staff to deliver high quality care
now, that does not compromise our ability to
do so in the future
• Work with all our stakeholders and partners
to create strong partnerships to promote and
ensure the changes required for a low carbon
society
• Ensure good governance
• Utilise our understanding of carbon and how
it can be used as a tax regime and currency.
The governance processes in place to
support management and reporting of
sustainability performance
The responsibility for managing sustainability
falls under the remit of the Sustainable
Development Committee, who report to the
Estates Strategy Group. The group will have
formal minutes and these will be submitted to
the Business Strategy Group.
The Chairman of the group will draw attention
of the group to any issues that require
disclosure to the full Board or requiring
Executive action.
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Sustainability performance summary
Area

Waste
Minimisation
and Waste
Management

Finite
Resources

Non-Financial
Data
2008-2009

Non-Financial
Data
2009-2010

Financial
Data (£k)
2008-2009

Financial
Data (£k)
2009-2010

Absolute
Values Trust Total
Waste
Production

1,311.4
tonnes

Figures
TBA

Expenditure Trust Waste
Disposal (£k)

292

Figures
TBA

Trust's
Methods
of Waste
Disposal

Waste Contractors Process
Different Waste Streams
(High Temp, Alternative NonBurn, Landfill, WEEE, Construction
Waste etc)

Water (m3)

101,020.00

96,345

Water (£k)

270.29

283.08

Electricity
(tCO2)

6,267

6,746

Electricity (£k)

1,294.98

1,070.50

Gas (tCO2)

5,246

5,025

Gas (£k)

866

633.29

Other Energy
Consumption

N/A

N/A

Other Energy
Consumption

N/A

N/A

Notes:
• Energy use (Electricity and Gas) measured as carbon emissions in tonnes of CO2 (tCO2) using CRC EES conversion
factors and methodology.
• Energy use based upon Level 1 Footprint (Scope 1 and Scope 2) (However no fleet vehicles owned by Trust)
• 2009-2010 figures based on year end Forecast as per January 2010
• Standby fuels (Gas Oil / Diesel Oil) not measured - minimal use of fuels for ‘test’ purposes
• Waste disposal details based upon Trust ERIC return information
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Future priorities and targets
around sustainability

The Trust has completed the installation of three
new natural gas / gas oil fired low pressure hot
water (LPHW) boilers on the Warrington Hospital
site during the financial year 2009 / 2010.
These boilers will replace the existing much less
efficient steam boilers that were approaching the
end of their useful life. Design calculations show
that the new boiler plant will reduce the Trust’s
gas use by over 4,125,000 kWh per annum. This
will equate to a reduction of more than 750
tonnes of carbon emissions per annum. The
Trust is also reviewing the possibility of installing
combined heating and power units at each of its
sites, giving each site the capability to meet the
base heating and electrical baseloads.

The Trust’s carbon emissions footprint (Level 1 /
CRC equivalent) for the 2009-2010 financial
year amounted to some 11,770 tonnes of CO2.
The Trust will continue to work to reduce this
footprint in both relative and absolute terms
and is committed to meeting the NHS target of
reducing the Trust’s carbon footprint by at least
10% (on 2007 / 2008 baseline levels) by 2015.
The Trust is ready to fully participate in the
Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC) Scheme
that will be operated by the Environment Agency
as from 1st April 2010. Under the CRC the Trust
will be required to monitor and report relevant
carbon emissions to the Environment Agency on
an annual basis.

The Trust is committed to embark upon the NHS
Carbon Management Programme operated by
the Carbon Trust in May 2010. This programme
is specifically designed to assist NHS Trusts to
realise carbon emissions savings.

In January 2010 the Trust created a new Specialist
Services Manager post within the Estates
Department. Energy, carbon management and
sustainability roles will form a major part of the
duties for that post.
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2.2.10 Financial Summary
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust was established on the 1
December 2008, and therefore the financial
results reported for 1 April 2009 to the 31 March
2010 represent the first complete financial year.
However, in order to provide the reader of the
accounts with a full year on year comparison,
the financial tables compare the financial years
2009-2010 (1st April 2009 to 31st March 2010)
and 2008-2009 (1st April 2008 to 31st March
2009). The 2008-2009 financial year therefore

represents eight months operating as North
Cheshire Hospitals NHS Trust and four months
operating as the successor organisation
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust.
It should be noted that the 2008-2009
comparative figures presented in statutory
accounts included in this Annual Report
represent the four months (1 December 2008
to 31 March 2009) results relating to the
Foundation Trust only.

Summary: Actual Income and Expenditure results compared with plan
Planned £000

Actual £000

Variance £000

Operating Income

189,511

194,538

5,027

Operating Expenses

(181,597)

(186,684)

(5,087)

Finance Costs

(4,114)

(3,844)
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Surplus

3,800

4,010
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The additional surplus is mainly as a result of
additional activity and income from Primary Care
Trusts for the provision of healthcare services
and the surplus generated will allow the Trust
to invest in clinical services and capital schemes.
Based on these financial results the Trust has

assessed its Financial Risk Rating as 4 which is
good performance and in accordance with the
planned rating at the start of the financial year.
A risk rating of 1 representing highest financial
risk and a risk rating of 5 representing lowest
financial risk.

Operating Income
The total operating income generated in the year was £194.5m with the majority of income received
from Primary Care Trusts for health care services provided to patients. An analysis of income is provided
in the tables below.
2009-2010 £000

2008-2009 £000

Primary Care Trusts

176,670

153,509

Department of Health

0

11,231

Education, Training, Research and Development

6,579

6,225

Other Clinical Income

1,865

1,890

Other Non Clinical Income

9,424

5,910

Total

194,538

178,765
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In 2008-2009 income relating to the Market Forces Factor was paid by the Department of Health but in
2009-2010 it was paid directly by Primary Care Trusts.
Analysis by Primary Care Trust

2009-2010 £000

2008-2009 £000

Warrington PCT

101,925

86,761

Halton & St Helens PCT

58,656

52,791

Western Cheshire PCT

3,841

5.421

Ashton, Leigh & Wigan PCT

3,582

2,909

Central & Eastern Cheshire PCT

3,344

2,691

Other PCTs

5,322

2,936

Total

176,670

153,509

Operating Expenses
The total operating expenses incurred in the year were £186.7m with the majority of expenses incurred
on salaries and wages. An analysis of operating expenses is provided in the table below.
Operating Expenses

2009-2010 £000

2008-2009 £000

Salaries and Wages

135,609

123,229

Drugs

8,420

8,049

Clinical Supplies and Services

15,712

15,199

General Supplies and Services

2,911

2,920

Establishment Expenses

2,196

2,096

Depreciation

6,430

6,078

Premises

7,881

7,983

Clinical Negligence

3,512

2,006

Fixed Asset Impairment

126

0

Other

3,887

4,399

Total

186,684

171,959

The year on year increase in expenses reflects the costs increases associated with inflation and pay
awards to staff and the increased cost of treating the higher than planned numbers of patients seen
during the year.
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Finance Costs
The total finance costs incurred in the year were £3.8m with the majority incurred on Public Dividend
Capital payments. An analysis of finance costs is provided in the table below.
Finance Costs

2009-2010 £000

2008-2009 £000

Public Dividend Capital payments

3,622

4,286

Finance Income (Interest receivable)

(24)

(444)

Finance Expenses (Interest payable)

246

392

Total

3,844

4,234

Capital Investments
During the year the Trust completed £5.8m of capital investments which has significantly improved
services for both patients and staff.
A summary of the capital investment undertaken in the year is provided in the table below although a
number of schemes will only be completed in 2010-2011.
Capital Investment Scheme

Investment Benefits

Value £000

Endoscopy Unit

Improved facilities for patients with state of the art
sterilisation services.

1.6

Energy Efficiency Scheme

Modern energy system resulting in improved services
and reduced costs.

0.8

Medical Equipment

Modern equipment resulting in improved services to
patients.

0.8

Information Technology

Hardware and software additions improving clinical
and corporate data and services.

0.5

Dignity and Privacy

Upgrading wards to improve the quality of the
environment for patients with the elimination of
mixed sex hospital accommodation in the significant
majority of areas.

0.4

Ophthalmology Day Case Unit

Improved facilities for patients in a modern fully
equipped environment.

0.3

Other Schemes

General improvements to buildings, services and
public areas.

1.4

Total

5.8
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Prudential Borrowing Limit and
compliance with the Prudential
Borrowing Code

Performance against Monitor’s
Compliance Framework
As part of the ongoing regulation the Trust
carries out a self assessment against the financial
risk rating metrics developed by Monitor.
These metrics which are set out below assess
the financial risks to the Trust based on its
historical financial performance. There are five
measurements which are weighted to provide a
combined overall score of between 1 and 5 with
a rating of 1 being the highest risk and 5 being
the lowest risk.

As an NHS Foundation Trust, Warrington and
Halton Hospitals is required to comply and
remain within a prudential borrowing limit. This
is made up of two elements:
a) The maximum cumulative amount of long
term borrowing. This is set by reference
to the four ratio tests set out in Monitor’s
prudential Borrowing Code. A copy of this
code is available on the Monitor website
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk

This self assessment is carried out monthly by the
Trust and reported and verified by Monitor on a
quarterly basis.

b) The amount of any working capital facility
approved by Monitor.

The metrics based on the annual accounts are
detailed in the table below and for the year
the rating is 4 which is in accordance with
the planned rating and indicates there are no
regulatory concerns at this time.

The Trust had a prudential borrowing limit of
£20.5m and a working capital facility of £15.0m
for the financial year. As at 31st March 2010,
following principle and interest repayments
during the year, the Trust has repaid in full
the working capital loan and has a remaining
principle balance of £3.2m on the capital
loan taken out to fund the Critical Care Unit
development in 2008-2009. A further £0.9m is
due for repayment in 2010-2011.
The NHS Foundation Trust working capital facility
of £15m has not been utilised during the year.

Risk Rating Metrics as at 31st March 2010
Financial Criteria

Metric

Rating

Underlying Performance

EBITDA margin %

3

Achievement of Plan

EBITDA % of plan achieved

4

Financial Efficiency

Return on assets

5

I & E surplus margin

4

Liquid Ratio (days)

3

Liquidity
Overall Rating

4
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Related Party Transactions

Appointment of Auditors

The Trust has a number of significant contractual
relationships with other NHS organisations are
essential to business. A list of the organisations
with whom the Trust holds the largest contracts
is included in the accounts.

The existing auditor (Audit Commission) has
been approved as the auditor of the accounts for
2008-2009 and 2009-2010 at a meeting of the
Governor’s Council on 11 December 2008. The
Governors’ Council at a meeting on the 13 May
2010 also approved the extension by one year of
the Audit Commissions contract to undertake the
external audit for the 2010-2011 financial year

Disclosure to Auditors
The Board of Directors would confirm that at the
date of the approval of this report that

Private Patient Cap

‘So far as the directors are aware there is no
relevant audit information of which the auditors
are unaware and further that each director has
taken all steps that they ought to have taken as
a director in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish
that the auditors are aware of that information.’

The proportion of private patient income to the
total patient related income is within the limit set
out in the Terms of Authorisation.

Going Concern
As set out in the notes to the accounts below
the accounts have been prepared on a going
concern basis. This decision has been made by
the directors of the Trust on the basis that after
making enquiries the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the NHS Foundation Trust has
adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. For this
reason we continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the accounts.
The directors confirm that the NHS Foundation
Trust has complied with the cost allocation and
charging requirements set out in HM Treasury
and Office of Public Sector Information guidance.
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2.2.11 Meeting the Foundation Trust Code of Governance
The Trust Board continues to seek to comply with
the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance
and has established processes to enable it to
comply with the code provisions.
The Trust Board has reviewed compliance against
all provisions within the NHS Foundation Trust
Code of Governance.
There are three areas of the Code of
Governance where the Trust is declaring non
or partial compliance:
• In relation to Code Provision C.1.1, C.1.2
and C.1.9
The Trust Board declares partial-compliance
The Trust Board Remuneration Committee
will review its role in succession planning
of Executive Directors in 2010-2011 in line
with the NHS Foundation Trust Code of
Governance.
• In relation to Code Provision C.2.1 The Trust Board declares non-compliance
The current Chief Executive and Executive
Directors retained their existing terms and
conditions of employment on achievement of
Foundation Trust status and are not subject to
reappointment after five years.
• In relation to Code Provision C.2.2
The Trust Board declares partial-compliance
The Non executive Directors in post when the
Trust achieved Foundation Trust status retained
their terms and conditions and are subject to
reappointment after four years. Non Executive
Directors post achieving Foundation Trust are
subject to reappointment after three years.
We will continue to test and carefully monitor
its compliance with all aspects of the Code of
Governance.
The Annual Report, and the financial statements
held in this report, were approved by the Board
of Directors on 2nd June 2010 and were signed
on its behalf by:

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive
2nd June 2010
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3 Foundation Trust Membership
As an NHS Foundation Trust, Warrington and
Halton Hospitals has a membership scheme
which means that local people (public and
staff) can become members of the Trust.
Members play a key role the hospitals. Public
and Staff Governors are elected from, and by,
the membership so that the hospitals have
ownership by the local community. This section
gives more detail of our membership and work to
involve our members and grow our membership
this year.

3.1 Eligibility, constituencies and boundaries for membership
There are two constituencies of membership
for Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust - the public constituency and
the staff constituency.
The public constituency comprises those
members that live in one of the following sixteen
public constituencies:

Halton
Public 1 - Daresbury, Windmill Hill, Norton North, Castlefield
Public 2 - Beechwood, Mersey, Heath, Grange
Public 3 - Norton South, Halton Brook, Halton Lea
Public 4 - Appleton, Farnworth, Hough Green, Halton View, Birchfield
Public 5 - Broadheath, Ditton, Hale, Kingsway, Riverside

Warrington
Public 6 - Lymm, Grappenhall and Thelwall
Public 7 - Appleton, Stockton Heath, Hatton, Stretton and Walton
Public 8 - Penketh and Cuerdley, Great Sankey North, Great Sankey South
Public 9 - Culcheth, Glazebury and Croft, Poulton North
Public 10 - Latchford East, Latchford West, Poulton South
Public 11 - Bewsey and Whitecross, Fairfield and Howley
Public 12 - Poplars and Hulme, Orford
Public 13 - Birchwood, Rixton and Woolston
Public 14 - Burtonwood and Winwick, Whittle Hall, Westbrook

Surrounding areas
Public 15 - North Mersey
Public 16 - South Mersey
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The staff constituency is divided into five classes:

Eligibility for membership is explained in detail on
the Foundation Trust section of the Warrington
and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
website and in the Trust’s Constitution.
Membership is available to any individual aged
12 years and above who lives in the constituency
areas above. The constitution states that there is
a requirement for a minimum of 65 members in
each of our constituencies which the Trust has
met since authorisation as an NHS Foundation
Trust. The North Mersey and South Mersey areas
take in the geographic areas around our core
catchment areas of Warrington, Runcorn and
Widnes and allow for representation of patients
who travel to the hospitals from these areas.

• Medical
• Nursing and Midwifery
• Support
• Clinical Scientist or Allied Health Professional
• Estates, Administrative and Managerial.
Staff employed by Warrington and Halton
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust automatically
become Staff Members unless they choose to
opt-out of membership. Since becoming an
NHS Foundation Trust in December 2008 a
total of three staff members have opted out of
membership.

We also have out of area members who are
able to join the Trust but who fall outside our
core Public Constituencies. The majority of these
members are former staff members who have
moved away from the area but who wished to
become public members of the Trust.
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3.2 Membership size and movements 1st April 2009 to 31st March 2010
Our total membership at 31st March 2010
was 12,850. This was largely in line with our
predicted total membership of 13,000 as set
out in the Trust’s annual plan for 2009-2010.
The membership size and movement in year
breaks down as follows:

Public constituency

Last year (1st April 2009
to 31st March 2010)

At Year beginning 1st April 2009

6610

New members

2527

Members Leaving

711

At year end 31st March 2010

8426

Staff constituency

Last year (1st April 2009
to 31st March 2010)

At year beginning 1st April 2009

4451

New members

587

Members Leaving

849

At year end 31st March 2010

4189

Out of Area members (living outside the
Public Constituency areas)

Last year (1st April 2009
to 31st March 2010)

At Year beginning 1st April 2009

104

New members

145

Members Leaving

14

At year end 31st March 2010

235
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3.3 Summary of membership
strategy and steps and work in year
to recruit and involve members

3.4 Changes in membership
numbers over last twelve months

The Trust recruited 2527 new Public
Members over the course of the year.
2009-2010 was the Trust’s first full year
as an NHS Foundation Trust and as part
of our commitment to growing the size of
the membership, a range of recruitment
activities were trialled over the course of the
year to assess which methods best suited
our local population and would help us to
grow our membership in a sustained way.

Alongside the recruitment of new members
there were some other changes to the
membership figures. The numbers of public
members leaving the membership was
higher than we anticipated.
This was mainly due to ‘gone away’ members
who either moved from the area or who could
not be located at their original address following
our audits before mailings (where we run checks
on the database) and returned mailings of our
regular hospital newsletter. There were also a
number of deceased members who have been
removed from the membership as part of the
regular audits that we have carried out to ensure
our membership list is up to date and accurate
during the year. This also removes any duplicate
members.

These methods were largely developed through
the Trust’s Communications and Membership
Committee - a committee of the Governor’s
Council. The Committee is chaired by a Public
Governor and the Associate Director of
Communications and Membership Officer sit on
the Committee alongside other Public Governor
representatives.

The number of staff members leaving was also
higher than expected. The reason for this is
that the Trust rectified an issue with the staff
membership during the year. As one of the lead
employers of medical trainees for the Mersey
Deanery there are a number of doctors in
training who are employed by the Trust but who
do not necessarily work at our hospitals (i.e. they
could work at other hospital units across the
Mersey region but we act as host employer for
HR and other purposes). These staff on what is
known as MADEL (Medical and Dental Education
Levy) contracts were initially included as staff
members when the Trust first became an NHS
Foundation Trust in 2008.

The Trust’s main recruitment focus was on
the hospital sites themselves with a range of
advertising, recruitment events, targeting of
patients through membership forms being placed
in pharmacy discharge packs and some direct
recruitment of visitors and patients.
Outside of the hospital environment, the Trust
ran recruitment events in local shopping centres,
at local major events, and ran a trial marketing
mailshot to local households. A quarterly
mailshot to GP practices is carried out and we
have worked with Governors to pilot door to
door mailshots in their constituency areas.
Over the year the Trust has found that the inhospital approach is a more sustainable way (in
terms of cost of recruitment per member) of
recruiting whilst the events outside the hospital
do not provide as many new members but
are a useful way of raising awareness of the
Foundation Trust.

On review it was decided that as they do not
necessarily work at the Trust’s two hospitals they
should be removed and offered the opportunity
to become public members instead. This process
was carried out during the year which accounts
for the higher than expected number of staff
members leaving in year (although some became
public members). We would now expect the staff
membership to remain stable and reflective of
general turnover of staff in the future.
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3.5 Involving our members

3.6 How to contact your Governors

During the year the Trust has worked
to establish a number of ways in which
Members can become involved in the
hospitals and ways to ensure they are
communicated with on a regular basis.

Governors for the Trust can be contacted
through our Membership Office. We have
a physical Membership Office in the main
entrance area at Warrington Hospital.
The office provides Governors a place to hold
meetings and the opportunity for members to
access the Internet and a range of membership
and health related information.

These methods were largely developed through
the Trust’s Communications and Membership
Committee and have included:
• Continuation of the quarterly Your Hospitals
magazine that is sent directly to every Public
Member by post and contains membership
information, articles on key health topics from
our clinical staff and general hospital news.

Messages are passed on directly to Governors
and general enquiries from members can also be
addressed to the Membership Office.
The contact details for the Membership Office
are:

• Direct letters from each Public Governor to
their constituents introducing themselves and
providing their contact details. These have
been sent out over the course of the year and
led to the staging of constituency meetings for
four of our Governors in response.

Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust
Membership Office
Warrington Hospital
Lovely Lane
Warrington WA5 1QG

• Development of a membership survey called
Three Things which allows members to
provide direct feedback on their experience
of hospital services which we can pass to
Governors. Around 500 responses have been
received since the survey was launched.

Tel: 01925 664222
Email: foundation@whh.nhs.uk

• Launch of a series of events called Medicine
for Members where our clinicians present
topics of interest to members in the form of
lectures and talks. We staged our first event in
February 2010.
• Development of further ways that Members
can get involved including taking part in
supporting survey work in the hospitals and
planning a launch of further opportunities
including reader’s panels for patient
information.
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4 The Governors’ Council
As an NHS Foundation Trust, our Governors’
Council helps shape and endorse the future
strategy of the organisation, and provide
a critical link between the hospital and
the local people it serves within Warrington,
Halton and other local areas.
Staff and Public Governors are elected by the
Foundation Trust Membership and give up their
time voluntarily and make a major contribution
to the way the hospital relates to its patients
and the wider community. The Governors hold
the hospital to account to the local population
and, crucially, ensure that local people input into
decisions and plans for the hospitals.

4.1 Structure and members of our Governors’ Council
Our Governors’ Council is made up of the
following representatives:

• 5 Staff Governors - elected by the hospital
Staff Members

We have further broken down Warrington and
Halton areas based on the electoral wards that
people live in. This means that when we run
the elections for Public Governors, Members
vote for a Governor to represent the area they
are resident in. We have grouped together the
electoral wards in Warrington, Widnes and
Runcorn and outside the area.

• 9 Partner Governors - nominated by
organisations we work closely with in 			
Warrington and Halton.

Full biographies and details on the tenure of
office for each Governor are available on the
Trust website:

Public Governors

www.warringtonandhaltonhospitals.nhs.uk

• 16 Public Governors - elected by the
Public Members and representing the local 		
community

Public Governors are elected by the Public
Members to represent them. In order to make
sure the Public Governors represent the areas
we serve we have based the split of Governors
proportionately by the number of residents from
each area.
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Halton area Public Governors

Warrington area Public Governors

• Daresbury, Windmill Hill, Norton
North, Castlefields - Position vacant at
31st March 2010

• Lymm, Grappenhall and Thelwall Peter Cotton
• Appleton, Stockton Heath, Hatton,
Stretton and Walton - David Knowles

• Beechwood, Mersey, Heath, Grange Doreen Shotton

• Culcheth, Glazebury and Croft,
Poulton North - Taha Tayih Al-Naimi

• Norton South, Halton Brook, Halton
Lea - David Trowbridge (replaced Bob
Bryant 11th December 2009)

• Penketh and Cuerdley, Great Sankey
North, Great Sankey South - Lydia
Carson

• Appleton, Farnworth, Hough Green,
Halton View, Birchfield - Ron Doran
(replaced Roy Radley May 11th 2009)

• Latchford East, Latchford West,
Poulton South - Pamela Heesom

• Broadheath, Ditton, Hale, Kingsway,
Riverside - George Skarratts

• Bewsey and Whitecross, Fairfield
and Howley - Jean Ann Pownall
• Poplars and Hulme, Orford - Donald
Miller (replaced Rebecca Kelly July
23rd 2009)

Surrounding area Public Governors
• North Mersey - Marjorie Conroy

• Birchwood, Rixton and Woolston Julia Ellis (replaced David King February
3rd 2010)

• South Mersey - Janet Walker

• Burtonwood and Winwick, Whittle
House, Westbrook - Chris Kenyon
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Staff Governors

Partner Governors

Staff Governors will represent our staff on the
Governors’ Council and will bring their knowledge
and skills from working in the organisation. There
are five Staff Governors representing the main
staff groups at the hospitals. Staff at the hospitals
automatically become Staff Members of the
Foundation Trust - although they can choose to
opt out if they wish to.

Our Partner Governors are nominated by key local
organisations that we work with. They bring their
knowledge and experience to the Governors’
Council and help us to work in partnership with
the community.
• Warrington Borough Council
Councillor Roy Smith
(replaced Councillor Celia Jordan 30th July 2009)

Medical
Janice Fazackerley

• Halton Borough Council
Councillor Stefan Nelson

Nursing and Midwifery
Allan Ralston

• Warrington Primary Care Trust
Chrissie Cooke (director of patient safety,
quality and governance)

Support
Lorna Carson

• Halton & St Helens Primary Care Trust
Fiona Johnstone
(director of health strategy)

Clinical Scientist or Allied Health Professionals
Jeff Green
Estates, admin and managerial
Andrée Jane Birch

• Warrington PBC (practice based
commissioning consortium)
Dr Brendon O’Colemain
• Halton PBC/Widnes PBC
Dr Cliff Richards
(chair of Runcorn PBC Consortium)
• Commercial sector
Colin Daniels
(Chamber of Commerce and Industry)
• Mental Health
Barrie Moore
(Mental Health Forum)
• LINKS representative
Brian Miller
(Halton LINks)*
* This post rotates on an annual basis between
Warrington LINks and Halton LINks. Brian Miller
replaced Ann Turner (Warrington LINks) on 1st
December 2009.
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4.2 Governors’ committees and work programme
Governor representation
on Trust committees

The formal public Governors’ Council
meeting programme (outlined in section 4)
is a small part of the Governors’ work
in the Trust.

Governors are also represented on a range
of Trust management committees and
groups, allowing them to understand and
contribute to Trust business and to report
back to the Governor Committees and to the
Governors’ Council. The groups with Governor
representation are the:

They have been involved in a range of work
programmes across the Trust, using their
experience and expertise to represent the views
of members and focus on issues of interest.

Governor Committee structure

• Patient and Workforce Experience Committee

A committee structure has also been put in place
with four formal Governor led committees, each
chaired by a Governor and with membership
made up of Governors:

• Infection Control Sub Committee
• Patient Experience Group
• Patient Communications Group

• Staff and Patient Care Committee Recommending objectives and strategy for the
Trust in the development and improvement of
the patient and workforce experience

• Diagnostic Users Group
• Research and Development Committee
• Transport Group

• Communications and Membership
Committee - Recommending objectives and
strategy for the Trust in the development
of communication and engagement with
members

• Dementia Strategy Steering Group
• Equality and Diversity Committee
• Staff Engagement and Wellbeing Group
This has helped to ensure that Governors are
involved in work throughout the Trust and we
are grateful for their time and commitment
in attending the various committees in their
voluntary role.

• Compliance with Authorisation
Committee - Reviewing the monthly Finance
and Corporate performance reports and the
annual report and accounts
• Nominations and Remuneration
Committee - The role of this committee is
outlined in more detail in the remuneration
report on page 84.

Other meetings and involvement
Alongside the formal meetings and committees,
a wide range of briefing sessions and workshops
have taken place to both inform the Governors of
Trust initiatives and work programmes and gain
their views and support.
Governors have also been directly involved in
surveying work around aspects of the patient
experience such as privacy and dignity and
bringing issues raised by members to the
attention of the Trust Board.
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4.3 Governor elections in year (including uncontested seats)
Our first Governors were elected following
the nominations and elections which took
place amongst our Staff Members and
Public Members in the summer of 2008.
Further elections have taken place during 20092010 to replace Governors who have resigned
their position or moved out of their constituency
area in year. Details of the elections (including
uncontested seats) are outlined below. The
nomination and election process has been carried
out by the Electoral Reform Society (Services) in
each case.

Date of
Election

Constituencies
Involved

No of
Members in
Constituency

No of Seats
Contested

Number of
Contestants

Election Turnout
%

May 11th
2009

Public 4 - Appleton
Farnworth Hough Green
Halton View Birchfield

415

1

1

N/A
Elected
unopposed

May 11th
2009

Public 12 - Poplars and
Hulme, Orford

567

1

-

N/A
no nominations
received

July 23rd
2009

Public 12 - Poplars and
Hulme, Orford

567

1

1

N/A
Elected
unopposed

December 11th
2009

Public 1 - Daresbury,
Windmill Hill, Norton
North, Castlefields

477

1

-

N/A
no nominations
received

December 11th
2009

Public 3 - Norton South,
528
Halton Brook, Halton Lea

1

1

N/A
Elected
unopposed

February 3rd
2010

Public 13 - Birchwood
Rixton and Woolston

1

3

25%

563
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4.4 Governors’ Council meetings and attendance
When the Trust was authorised the
constitution outlined that Governors’ Council
would meet at least four times a year
including the Annual Members Meeting.

Between April 1st 2009 and March 31st 2010 the
Governors’ Council met formally and in public on:
•
•
•
•

However, after reviewing the meeting structure
the Governors’ Council now meets formally six
times a year (excluding the Annual Members
Meeting) to better facilitate business. This
arrangement started in January 2010.

7th May 2009
30th July 2009
22nd January 2010
10th March 2010

The following tables show the attendance at
each formal public Governors’ Council meeting
by Governor and also by attending Executive and
Non Executive Directors.

Public Governors’ attendance at Public Governors’ Council meetings
Name/Constituency

7/05/09 30/07/09 22/01/10 10/03/10

Daresbury, Windmill Hill, Norton North, Castlefields
Position vacant at 31st March 2010
Beechwood, Mersey, Heath, Grange
Doreen Shotton
Norton South, Halton Brook, Halton Lea
David Trowbridge (Bob Bryant until 11th December 2009)
Appleton, Farnworth, Hough Green, Halton View, Birchfield
Ron Doran (Roy Radley until May 11th 2009)
Broadheath, Ditton, Hale, Kingsway, Riverside
George Skarratts
Lymm, Grappenhall and Thelwall
Peter Cotton
Appleton, Stockton Heath, Hatton, Stretton and Walton
David Knowles
Culcheth, Glazebury and Croft, Poulton North
Taha Tayih Al-Naimi
Penketh and Cuerdley, Great Sankey North, Great Sankey South
Lydia Carson
Latchford East, Latchford West, Poulton South
Pamela Heesom
Bewsey and Whitecross, Fairfield and Howley
Jean Ann Pownall
Poplars and Hulme, Orford
Donald Miller (Rebecca Kelly until July 23rd 2009)
Birchwood, Rixton and Woolston
Julia Ellis (David King until February 3rd 2010)
Burtonwood and Winwick, Whittle House, Westbrook
Chris Kenyon
North Mersey
Marjorie Conroy
South Mersey
Janet Walker
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Staff Governors’ attendance at Public Governors’ Council meetings
Name/Constituency

7/05/09 30/07/09 22/01/10 10/03/10

Medical
Janice Fazackerley
Nursing and Midwifery
Allan Ralston
Support
Lorna Carson
Clinical Scientist or Allied Health Professionals
Jeff Green
Estates, admin and managerial
Andrée Jane Birch

Partner Governors’ attendance at Public Governors’ Council meetings
Name/Constituency

7/05/09 30/07/09 22/01/10 10/03/10

Warrington Borough Council
Councillor Roy Smith (Celia Jordan until 30/07/09)
Halton Borough Council
Councillor Stefan Nelson
Warrington Primary Care Trust
Chrissie Cooke
Halton & St Helens Primary Care Trust
Fiona Johnstone
Warrington PBC (practice based commissioning consortium)
Dr Brendon O’Colemain
Halton PBC/Widnes PBC
Dr Cliff Richards (chair of Runcorn PBC Consortium)
Commercial sector
Colin Daniels (Chamber of Commerce and Industry)
Mental Health
Barrie Moore (Mental Health Forum)
LINks representative
Brian Miller (Halton LINks)
Replaced Ann Turner (Warrington LINks) on 1st December 2009
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Executive and Non Executive Directors’ attendance at public Governors’ Council meetings
Name/Constituency

7/05/09 30/07/09 22/01/10 10/03/10

Allan Massey
(Chairman)
Catherine Beardshaw
(Chief Executive)
Kath Holbourn
(Director of Nursing)
Sheila Samuels
(Director of Governance and Organisational Development)
Jonathan Stephens
(Director of Finance/Deputy Chief Executive)
Simon Wright
(Chief Operating Officer)
Gordon Ramsden
(Medical Director)
Chris Knights
(Director of Strategy and Business Development)
Maureen Banner
(Non Executive Director until 30 November 2009)
Carol Withenshaw
(Non Executive Director)
Clare Briegal
(Non Executive Director)
Allan Mackie
(Non Executive Director)
Lynne Lobley
(Non Executive Director from 1 December 2009)

Executive and Non Executive Director attendance
is not obligatory and is based on topics to be
raised and the agenda for the meeting.
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5 Board of Directors
5.1 Composition of the board

an MSc in clinical nursing, she then worked
at Bolton Health Authority advising on clinical
standards and service developments across both
primary and secondary care. She then returned to
secondary care in St Helens and Knowsley, initially
responsible for clinical developments for a year
before becoming their director of nursing in 1988.
Following a ten year career there with a varying
portfolio including mental health, Kath moved to
Mid Cheshire Hospitals as nurse director.

Executive Directors
Catherine Beardshaw - Chief Executive
Catherine Beardshaw was appointed as chief
executive in July 2006. Catherine started her NHS
career as a radiographer in Sheffield in the 1970s
and held a range of clinical posts, moving to her
first superintendent radiographer post in 1984 at
the Royal Hallamshire Hospital. In 1992 Catherine
moved to Leeds General Infirmary as radiology
services manager and then made a career
change into general management with a range
of management posts across the now Leeds
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust. This culminated in a
director of operations post at the hospitals which
she held from 2002 to her appointment at North
Cheshire Hospitals. During this time, Catherine
performance managed a wide range of services
with an expenditure budget of some £190 million
and over 5,000 staff.

Chris Knights - Director of Strategy
and Business Development
Chris Knights was appointed as director
of business development in July 2007. The
role includes responsibility for information
management and technology, service
modernisation, commissioning, business planning
and project director of the Trust’s Foundation
Trust application. Chris started his NHS career as a
graduate management trainee at Halton General
Hospital in 1993. He took up his first substantive
role in 1995 at the Royal Liverpool Hospital as a
business manager in the urology directorate. His
career then developed through a range of general
management posts at Stockport Acute Services
NHS Trust and University Hospitals Aintree NHS
Trust before his first board role at St Helens and
Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust in 2003.

Jonathan Stephens - Director of Finance
and Deputy Chief Executive
Jonathan Stephens joined the Trust as director
of finance in March 2008 and is deputy chief
executive of the Trust. Jonathan was previously
director of finance at Tameside Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust. He has over 18 years experience
in NHS finance with experience of community
and primary care health provision, specialist
teaching hospital services and the Strategic Health
Authority. At Tameside Hospital he led the Trust
through to Foundation Trust status and delivered
Department of Health and Treasury approval, and
the subsequent commercial contract sign off, of
the hospital’s major PFI capital development.

Gordon Ramsden - Medical Director
Gordon Ramsden became medical director of
the Trust in August 2007 and is also a consultant
in obstetrics and gynaecology at the hospitals.
Gordon qualified from Manchester Medical
School in 1979 and worked as registrar at
Warrington in 1986. In 1990 became lecturer
at the University of Liverpool in obstetrics
and gynaecology. He became a consultant
at Warrington Hospital in 1993. Gordon was
regional programme director for obstetrics and
gynaecology services for five years before taking
on the clinical directorship in women’s health
in 2004. In 2006 Gordon became director of
medical education and helped to reorganise the
Trust’s education centres.

Kathryn Holbourn- Director of Nursing
Kath Holbourn was appointed as director of
nursing to the Trust in May 2002. Kath trained
as a nurse at Manchester Royal Infirmary and
qualified in 1977. She held several clinical roles
there with her main specialty interests being A&E
and general intensive care. Having completed
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Non-executive directors

Sheila Samuels - Director of Governance
and Organisational Development

Allan Massey - Chairman

Sheila Samuels was appointed as director of
human resources at the Trust in June 2004.
Sheila has over 30 years of working in the public
sector, six years of which have been as a board
level director in the NHS. Sheila started her
public sector career in local government in 1976
working in the areas of policy development and
in a support and advisory capacity to council
members and leadership. In 1990 she moved into
Human Resource Management. Her first position
with the NHS was as director of human resources
in Mersey Regional Ambulance Service before
taking up her role at the Trust.

Allan Massey was appointed chairman of North
Cheshire Hospitals in December 2004. Allan
started his career in 1965 in a civil engineering
company in Warrington before working in a
variety of private sector accountancy roles,
culminating in works accounting manager for
a major manufacturing company. In 1982 Allan
moved to the public sector and worked in local
government with Warrington Borough Council as
treasury manager - managing a portfolio of over
£500 million. He became a local councillor in 1997
at Halton Borough Council with executive board
portfolios for social care and health, education
and lifelong learning and business efficiency.
Allan was appointed deputy chair of Halton NHS
Primary Care Trust in 2002 before joining North
Cheshire Hospitals as chairman. The Chairman has
no other significant commitments and is not the
Chairman of another NHS Foundation Trust.

Simon Wright - Chief Operating Officer
Simon Wright was appointed as director of
operations in June 2007. Simon started his
management career working for nine years
in the independent sector within health care
leading on tendering and national negotiations
on staff pay and conditions. On joining the NHS
in November 1997 as general manager at the
Walton Centre for Neurology and Neurosurgery
NHS Trust he supported the hospital relocation
onto the Fazakerly site. He moved to Salford
Royal Hospitals Trust in May 2001, overseeing the
integration of Greater Manchester Neurosciences
from three sites into the one integrated service.
The role expanded to pick up all surgical and
most specialist services becoming an Associate
Director. Before leaving Salford, Simon supported
the successful achievement of Foundation status
for the Trust.

Maureen Banner - Vice Chairman
(left 30 November 2009)
Maureen Banner joined the Trust in September
2000 just after the merger that created the
former North Cheshire Hospitals NHS Trust. As a
mature student, Maureen qualified as a teacher in
1974 and taught in primary schools in Warrington
and Widnes before taking early retirement in
1994. She was elected to Warrington Borough
Council in 1999 and represented the ward of
Rixton and Woolston. She has been member
of the cabinets on Community, Education and
Health and Wellbeing as well as being closely
involved in the care of children as member of the
Children’s Services Scrutiny Board and the Looked
After Children, Fostering and Adoption Panel.
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Allan Mackie

Lynne Lobley (joined 1st December 2009)

Allan Mackie joined the Trust as a non executive
director in March 2005. Entering production
management in the brewing industry in 1970,
he held senior leadership positions in operations
management with major national and regional
companies with responsibility for the delivery
of continuous improvement of business
performance. In 1998 he became operations
director of a company active in the fields of
business change, transformation and technical
management in the food and agriculture sectors
in Russia and Eastern Europe and was responsible
for the execution of strategic business plans and
the delivery of modern business practices.

Lynne joined the Trust in December 2009, having
held previous appointments on the Boards of
the Walton Centre NHS Foundation Trust and
Robert Jones and Agnes Hunt Orthopaedic and
District Hospital NHS Trust in Shropshire. She is
also the lay member of the Senior Management
Team of Mersey Deanery which is responsible
for commissioning and quality managing postgraduate medical education and training in
the region. In addition, she has considerable
executive level experience within the Further and
Higher Education sector, in both academic and
management roles.
Carol Withenshaw

Rory Adam

Carol Withenshaw was appointed as non
executive director with the Trust in 2007. Carol
is a health care management consultant and
acts as chair of the National Clinical Homecare
Association (NCHA) and is a member of National
Homecare Medicines Committee (NHMC). Carol
started her career at Greenall Whitley Brewery
PLC from 1969, becoming group training manager
in 1984. In 1988 she moved to the Fresenius
Healthcare Group and worked in a range of
senior management roles before becoming
operations director. Carol then became managing
director of Fresenius’ Calea UK subsidiary and
was responsible for developing and launching the
new business which provides specialist support
services to the NHS for patients and health care
professionals in community and hospital settings.
Carol is the Trust’s Senior Independent Director.

Rory Adam joined the Trust as a non executive
director in December 2007. Rory is a qualified
accountant and chartered director. He has many
years experience in industry as a finance director,
including five years until 2001 as finance director
of a local healthcare company Fresenius Kabi.
He has wide experience of commercial and
organisational aspects of organisations and is
chair of the Trust’s audit committee.
Clare Briegal
Clare Briegal joined the Trust as a non executive
director in November 2008. Clare is a general
manager and marketing consultant. She began
her career as a research scientist for a US medical
products firm and then transferred to a sales
and marketing role. Clare returned to the UK
and held a number of senior sales and marketing
positions with ICI Acrylics and then Twyford
Bathrooms where she was appointed Marketing
Director in 1999. She became Managing Director
of Trendsetter Home Furnishings in 2002 and set
up her own on-line business in 2005. Clare has
an MBA from Manchester Business School, an
MA in Natural Sciences from the University of
Cambridge and an MA in Biochemistry from Bryn
Mawr College, USA.
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5.2 Trust Board meetings and attendance

Allan Massey
(Chairman)
Catherine Beardshaw
(Chief Executive)
Kath Holbourn
(Director of Nursing)
Sheila Samuels
(Director of Governance
and Organisational
Development)
Jonathan Stephens
(Director of Finance/
Deputy Chief Executive)
Gordon Ramsden
(Medical Director)
Simon Wright
(Chief Operating Officer non voting director)
Chris Knights
(Director of Strategy and
Business Development non voting director)
Maureen Banner
(Non Executive Director
until 30 November 2009)
Carol Withenshaw
(Non Executive Director)
Rory Adam
(Non Executive Director)
Clare Briegal
(Non Executive Director)
Allan Mackie
(Non Executive Director)
Lynne Lobley (Non
Executive Director from
1 December 2009)
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31/03/10

24/02/10

27/01/10

14/12/09

25/11/09

28/10/09

30/09/09

26/08/09

29/07/09

24/06/09

03/06/09

27/05/09

Name/Constituency

29/04/09

The Trust Board met 13 times during the year in total (12 monthly meetings and one extraordinary
meeting to sign off the annual report and accounts). Attendance was as follows.

5.3 Balance, completeness and
appropriateness of membership

5.5 Understanding the views of the
Governors and members

The Trust has tested the balance of its Board of
Directors, established and developed the role
of its Non Executive Directors and tested the
governance structures across the Trust. This
has led to the development of new systems
and design of new committee structures that
allow our Governors to play their key role in
the governance work of the Trust and establish
communications with the membership.

The Board has had a number of Board to
Governors meetings to discuss issues with the
Governors and asked them to contribute their
views to the strategic development of the Trust.
At each of the Board meetings, there is a standing
item for the Chairman to share any views or
issues raised by Governors or members through
Governors at the Governors’ Council meetings.
At Governors’ meetings there is a standing
item for the Governors to feedback any issues
from constituency members both public and
staff. Issues raised at Constituency meetings
and through communications from members to
Governors is discussed at the Governors’ meeting.

5.4 Performance and evaluation
During the year, the Trust internal auditors have
assisted the Board to evaluate performance of
both the Trust Board and supporting committees.
This consisted of self-assessment processes
and evaluation of results. The results from this
work were positive and showed the strengths
of the Board and committee structure. Where
limited weaknesses were identified, an action
plan is to be developed to address them. An
example of actions includes ensuring all Directors
fully understand the role and function of
committees that they do not participate in. The
Trust is committed to continual improvement
and development and will review and evaluate
performance annually.

5.6 Register of interests
An updated Register of Interests of our Trust
Board is available on our internet site
www.warringtonandhaltonhospitals.nhs.uk in
the about us/corporate and Trust Board section.
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5.7 The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Rory Adam,
non executive director. The other Non Executive
Directors Maureen Banner (replaced by Lynne
Lobley on 1st December 2009), Allan Mackie,
Carol Withenshaw and Clare Briegal are also
members. The committee has met five times
within the full 12 months to March 31st 2010.

Name/Constituency

21/04/09 03/06/09 22/07/09 21/10/09 24/03/10

Rory Adam
(Non Executive Director)
Carol Withenshaw
(Non Executive Director)
Maureen Banner
(Non Executive Director until 30 November 2009)
Clare Briegal
(Non Executive Director)
Allan Mackie
(Non Executive Director)
Lynne Lobley
(Non Executive Director from 1 December 2009)

The role of the audit Committee which is
accountable to the Board is set out in the terms of
reference with the following key areas:
• Maintenance of an effective system of
integrated governance, risk management
and internal control across the organisation’s
activities that supports the achievement of the
organisational objectives
• Ensure there is an effective internal audit
function that provides appropriate independent
assurance
• Review the work and findings of external
audit and the implications and management
responses to their work
• Ensure the organisation has robust systems of
financial control and reporting.
Approved by Rory Adam, Chairman of the
Audit Committee.
Details of the Trust Remuneration and
Nomination Committees can be found in the
Remuneration Report on page 81.
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6 Quality Report
Introduction
Welcome to the Quality Report for 2009-2010
for Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust.
This Quality Report is a version of our Quality
Account which is also published separately on
the NHS Choices website.
Quality Accounts are annual reports to the public
from organisations that provide NHS services.
They provide information about the quality of the
services which we deliver.
We hope that the public, patients and others
with an interest in their hospitals will use this
report to help understand:
• what our Trust is doing well and how
we approach quality and safety in our
organisation
• where improvements in service quality are
required
• what our priorities for improvement are for the
coming year
• and how we have involved people who use
services, our staff, and others with an interest
in the Trust in determining these priorities for
improvement.
You can also read more about the hospitals
and our work on quality on our website
www.warringtonandhaltonhospitals.nhs.uk
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6.1 Chief Executive’s statement
At Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust our vision is to provide
High Quality, Safe Healthcare to all of our
patients.

LIPS is a complex national programme that
actively measures risks in the hospitals and
therefore allows us to take action. It has been
welcomed by our clinical teams. The surgical
checklist is a best practice tool that sees the
entire operating theatre team meeting before an
operation takes place to discuss risks and raise
possible concerns so that possible errors are
eliminated before the procedure starts. These
are two examples of different approaches we are
taking to reduce the risk of harm to patients.

Last year was a pivotal one in terms of driving
forward improvements in the quality and safety
of our services. We achieved all the national and
local key performance indicators, built on our
quality and safety strategy implemented in 20082009 and introduced four National Quality and
Safety Improvement Programmes. All of these
changes are designed to further improve quality
and safety in our hospitals and reduce risk to
patients.

Overall clinical effectiveness has been enhanced
by our participation in the North West Advancing
Quality programme which helps ensure that
patients get the right treatment at the right
stage of their care with us. The Trust has
performed well against the standards set for
acute myocardial infarction; community acquired
pneumonia; hip and knee replacements and
heart failure.

Two of those programmes focus particularly
on patient safety, those being the Leading
Improvement in Patient Safety (LIPS) programme
started in September 2009 and the Surgical
Safety Checklist Programme.
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We look forward to the challenge in the coming
year of implementing the Advancing Quality
Stroke care pathway.

We are moving in the right direction towards
meeting our objectives and are proud of our
achievements this year, particularly in:

Recognising that improving the working lives
of our staff is essential if real improvements
in patient care are to be achieved, we also
introduced the Productive Ward and Productive
Operating Theatre programmes which we
believe will increase the time our staff have to
care for patients, thereby improving the patient
experience.

• Reducing hospital acquired MRSA bacteraemia
and sustaining our reduced levels of C-difficile
infection
• Delivering the same sex accommodation plans
so that mixed sex areas of the hospital are
virtually eliminated
• Improving privacy and dignity, as reported by
our patients
• Seeing improvements in our Staff Survey
results. However we are not complacent, and
still have more to do. Our patients still need us
to improve:
• Access to services for those patients with
disabilities
• Services for those who are vulnerable
• Our patient information.

The Trust Board reviewed the overall vision and
strategic objectives of the Foundation Trust that
has led to our simple, yet clear, vision of High
Quality, Safe Healthcare.
The focus for the Trust is to continually improve
experiences by listening to patients, our
Governors, Foundation Trust members, partners
and others to learn from what has gone well but
importantly from when experiences are not as
good as we would like them to be. Considerable
discussion has taken place to ensure that three of
the four strategic objectives reflect our ambition
to continuously improve the quality, and safety of
the patient and staff experience. These are to:

The Quality Improvement Board becomes a formal
Board Committee in May 2010 and this group will
oversee these issues and our quality and safety
improvement programme to realise our ambition
to massively reduce harm events by 2012.
As you read this report, I hope our commitment
to improvement led by the Board of Directors
and Governors’ Council, and our willingness to
listen and learn is well demonstrated.

1 Ensure all our patients are safe in our care
2 Give our patients the best possible experience
3 Be the employer of choice for health care we
deliver

The information contained within this Quality
Report has been shared widely with the
organisation and with our partners. To the best
of my knowledge I believe the content to be
accurate.

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive
2nd June 2010
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6.2 Priorities for improvement and statements of assurance from the Board
Introduction

Progress from 2008-2009

In 2008, the Trust held a series of stakeholder
events to create its three year Quality and Safety
Strategy. 30 improvement themes were identified
as areas of work to progress, which it was felt
would make a real difference to patients and
staff. During 2009, the Trust successfully applied
to undertake the Leading Improvement in Patient
Safety course (LIPS) run by the NHS Institute for
Innovation and Improvement. This six month
course, led by the Director of Nursing; Associate
Director of Nursing and the Medical Director, has
focused the quality and safety work of the Trust
even further.

In last year’s Quality Report, the Trust highlighted
four key indicators:
1 Further reduce the incidences of hospital
acquired MRSA bacteraemia and Clostridium
difficile.
2 Delivering the Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation (CQUIN) improvement themes,
which included improvement of acute stroke
care; implementation of Copeland’s Risk
Adjustment Barometer (CRAB) across surgical
specialties to monitor trends in morbidity and
mortality; and implementation of nursing care
metrics, specifically related to falls, pressure
sores and medication issues.
3 Driving improvement through patient
feedback.
4 Improving performance through the quality
and safety framework improvement themes.
In parallel with the priorities identified above,
the Trust has continued its development of the
Advancing Quality Agenda.

Through this Quality Report, we want to
demonstrate how the Trust’s commitment to
quality and safety has strengthened and built
on the work identified in last year’s report, and
will be carried forward in the year ahead in a
systematic and consistent way.

The following section of the report shows how
we performed in each of these priority areas.
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How we’ve performed:
Priority 1 - reducing the incidence
of MRSA Bacteraemia and
Clostridium difficile
The reduction of healthcare acquired infections is a key national priority
for the NHS and for our patients. Over the last two to three years, the
Trust has made major improvements in reducing the incidence of MRSA
bloodstream infections and Clostridium difficile, the two infections that
have been the priority for the NHS to deal with.
The following graphs provide a look over the last three years to show the
numbers of infection that we have seen and some of the key steps that
have been put in place to reduce infection at our hospitals:
Clostridium Difficile cases and actions by month
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Mandatory reporting introduced
Colour coded cleaning equipment introduced
Target set to reduce incidence
Restrict antibiotic sensitivities on lab specimen report
Trial of chlorine based cleaning products Aug-Oct 2007
Infection control week focus to promote hand hygiene
Terminal cleaning guide introduced / cohort ward staff
education on C-diff
Infection ward opened / daily ward rounds by consultant
microbiologists
Deep cleaning programme Sept 07 - March 08
Bioquel decontamination
Task (cleaning) team established
Further restrictions on antibiotic sensitivities released
Antibiotic formulary review / traffic light prescribing poster
revised
GP seminar for education and joint working
Anti Microbial Team established to look at antibiotic usage
Antibiotic ward rounds introduced
Infection control week
Point Prevalence audit changed to quarterly
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MRSA bacteraemias and actions by month

Root cause analysis of infections introduced
Colour coded cleaning equipment introduced
Target set to reduce incidence
Re-launch and strengthen the role of infection control
link nurses / staff including training and development /
identification of medical infection control clinical leads
within each specialty
Review job descriptions to ensure infection control is
incorporated. Talking boxes installed in unscheduled care
Infection control week focus to promote hand hygiene
Use of Chloraprep skin preparation introduced
Department of Health recovery support
Work wear policy
Hand hygiene audits
Blood culture policy
Re-launch of saving lives audit
Re-launch scoring and audit compliance.
Launch of regular infection control news letter
Blood culture technique poster launched for staff
MRSA screening introduced for all elective cases

Standards the Trust agreed with the
Commissioners (Primary Care Trusts)
for 2009-2010:
• The Trust will have no more than 12 hospital
acquired MRSA bacteraemia (an internal stretch
target of eight hospital acquired cases was also
set)
The Trust had four hospital acquired MRSA
bacteraemias in 2009-2010 - this compares to
nine cases the year before
• The Trust will have no more than 204 cases
of Clostridium difficile (a later Commissioner
stretch target of 110 was also set)
The Trust had 114 cases in 2009-2010 which
was a very small reduction from the 116 cases
in 2008-2009. The Trust also set itself a stretch
target of 85 cases which it did not hit in the
year. In total 92 patients were affected. 22
of these cases were repeat specimens, taken
outside the Health Protection Agency’s 28 day
period so classed as a new case. We want
to improve on this each year. Continuous
improvement is essential so we will set
ourselves tough stretch targets again next year.

• The Trust only allows junior doctors to
prescribe antibiotics once they have consulted
with senior colleagues to ensure effective
prescribing.
• We have increased training for staff and
auditing of practice. Hand hygiene audits are
undertaken weekly; intravenous line audits are
undertaken three times per day and all High
Impact Interventions audits are performed at
least monthly. The High Impact Interventions
are a series of tools that reinforce practical
actions that clinical staff need to undertake
every time they carry out particular key tasks
(such as inserting catheters and caring for
surgical site infections)
• We have improved signage at ward entrances
reminding visitors about how they can play a
part in infection prevention and control and
staff about correct work wear (bare below the
elbows).
• Our cleanliness scores measured against
the Standards of Cleanliness (national DH
guidance) have remained strong. 97% of our
patients also reported in the National Inpatient
Survey that wards were clean / very clean.
Standards of Cleanliness scores by Trust site

What we did well
• MRSA screening is now in place for all elective
(planned) patients at the hospitals. From the
1st March 2010, non-elective patient screening
commenced for emergency admissions as well.
This allows for emergency patients who need
to be rapidly tested for MRSA to receive a result
within two hours. This is nine months ahead of
the December national implementation target
• Trust wide and Critical Care action plans and
audit have led to a marked decrease in cases of
MRSA bacteraemia this year. These plans have
looked at key risk areas around MRSA such as
Critical Care where a high number of invasive
lines are used.
• Use of antibiotics is a key factor in Clostridium
difficile cases. The Antibiotic formulary (the
Trust’s guide to which antibiotic drugs are
suitable for use in which circumstances) has
been reviewed again this year, with antimicrobial
ward rounds taking place twice a week to
monitor use. Increased compliance audits on
the use of antibiotics show 87% compliance to
the guidance across the Trust and have been
accompanied by monthly antimicrobial team
meetings and ongoing junior doctor training
around use of antibiotics.
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2008-2009

2009-2010

Warrington

91%

93%

Halton

95%

94%

Houghton Hall

92%

95%

Note: Scores are an average from across the entire year

What more do we need to do
• Continue the work on antibiotic prescribing this is a health economy wide issue so
collaborative working with the GPs will
continue. We audit our performance every
three months and compliance with the
Formulary is up to 87% but we want to reach
at least 90%.
• Ensure that all patients only receive antibiotics
for the minimum time required for their clinical
condition.
• Further reduce our length of stay - we know
that elderly patients who stay in hospital for
more than four weeks have a greater incidence
of Clostridium difficile.
• Reduce the rates of hospital acquired
Clostridium difficile to meet our stretch target
for 2010-2011.

How we’ve performed:
Priority 2 - delivering the
CQUIN Improvement themes

Standards agreed with the
Commissioners in 2009-2010:

A proportion (0.5%) of Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s income in
2009-2010 was conditional upon achieving
quality improvement and innovation goals.
These are agreed between the Trust and any
person they entered into a contract, agreement
or arrangement with, for the provision of NHS
services, through the Commissioning for Quality
and Innovation payment framework (CQUIN).
NHS Warrington as the Trust’s lead Commissioner
monitored improvement each month.
There were three key CQUIN Improvement Themes
that we focused on which are reported on below:

CQUIN Improvement Theme 1 Development of the acute
component of the stroke care
pathway, and improving compliance
with key standards of care

In order to proactively improve quality, the
initiative selected under CQUIN, aims to develop
the acute component of the stroke care pathway
that will focus on the key indicators defined
through the Sentinel audit. The Sentinel audit
only covers three months of the year, April to
June, which traditionally are the quieter months
of the year. We have looked at extending
the period for our audit and have found that
seasonal pressures do affect patients getting into
our Stroke Unit. In order to improve this further
we have now ring fenced two stroke beds and
have created a monthly electronic data gathering
tool so that we can improve on our previously
manually collected data.

In order to improve the standard of care to all
stroke patients the Trust measures each step of
the care that patients receive at the hospitals to
ensure they get the right treatment at the right
time. We use an audit called the Sentinel Audit to
measure how we are performing in this area.
% Compliance
Sentinel Audit Feb
2009 based on
April - June 08 data
collection

% Compliance

Patients treated for 90% of stay in a Stroke Unit.

81

67

Screening for swallowing disorders within
24 hours of admission.

65

54

Brain scan within 24 hours of stroke.

69

82

Commenced aspirin by 48 hours of admission.

93

88

Physiotherapy assessment within first 72 hours of admission.

88

82

Assessment by an Occupational Therapist within 4 working
days of admission.
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Key Indicators
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June - Nov 09

What we did well

Using data from a range of Trust information
systems, CRAB can predict the level of expected
complications and mortality for each operation
performed. A flagging system alerts where the
expected threshold is breached. It means that
every surgical patient’s care is audited, in order
to detect any potential complication. The Clinical
Benchmarking Group led by the Trust Clinical
Audit Lead, reviews both the CRAB and Dr
Foster systems each month and any flags from
either system are then looked into. A formal
report is received by the Clinical Governance Sub
Committee bimonthly, and by exception to the
Governance Committee and the Trust Board. The
development of CRAB has been sponsored by the
Department of Health.

• Significant reductions in length of stay have
been achieved through Early Supported
Discharge initiatives. This has been facilitated
through increased therapy, specialist
intervention and coordinated care across
hospital and the community.
• Improved access to timely brain scans.

What more do we need to do
• The Trust is participating in the 90:10 Stroke
Project as part of a regional collaborative
which is focused on improving performance
to achieve 90% in eight pathway indicators
(i.e. the acute phase plus mood and weight
assessment).
• To improve specialist assessment and care,
specific stroke assessment beds are being
introduced in April 2010 supported by
step down facilities on an Acute Elderly/
Neurological Ward.
• The Primary Care Trust have been asked to
increase the specialist training for our staff on
swallowing assessments
• Development of patient group directives to
facilitate nurse prescribing of aspirin
• Further improve patient access to brain
scanning.

Standards agreed with the Commissioners
• Implementation of CRAB across surgery
facilitating reporting at both specialty and
consultant level.

What we did well
• Implementation of the CRAB system across all
surgical specialties providing information at
specialty and consultant level.
• Improved the reporting back to Consultants so
that they are aware of their practice.
• Improved the level and reporting of
investigation into outlier surgical activity
providing a basis for early intervention and
corrective action. A good example of this in
action was that outlier activity was identified
by CRAB regarding complications relating to
minor wound haematomas (bruising where
blood collects as a result of an internal bleed).
This was attributed to the surgical practice
of a registrar which was identified and
immediately addressed resulting in a change
of practice by the individual.
• Improved the assurance reporting provided to
the commissioner.
• Initiated participation in a national study
and so are working on entering data directly
into the CRAB system within the Operating
Theatres, which is being nationally validated.

CQUIN Improvement Theme 2 Implementation of Copeland’s Risk
Adjustment Barometer (CRAB)
across all surgical specialties to
proactively monitor trends in
morbidity and mortality
To enhance Board Assurance, the Copeland Risk
Adjustment Barometer (CRAB), was introduced
to allow real time capture and trend analysis
on mortality and complications. Designed by
one of the Trust’s consultants, CRAB creates a
true picture of consultants’ practice, adjusting
for the patient’s presenting condition and
complexity of the surgical operation required. It
helps the Trust to identify best practice. It can
also provide feedback to improve clinical cost
effectiveness and patient safety, and over time
will allow clinicians to review the effectiveness of
treatments they undertake.
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Nursing Care Metrics measures Trust wide performance

• Use of the CRAB system to review each month
a sample of the case notes of patients who
have died, to see if there are lessons we can
learn or if care could be improved.

Rate of falls per 1000 bed days

What more do we need to do

10

• Continue the development of investigation of
outlier activity by the multi-disciplinary clinical
team, through the Clinical Benchmarking
Group.
• Develop and implement the Medical CRAB
system which will extend the system to all
Consultants and all patients’ activity.
• Use CRAB for our case note review work, as
this allows a greater focus on specific patient
conditions rather than just random sampling.

Number of falls

8
Average

6

4

2

CQUIN Improvement Theme 3 Implementation of the Nursing
Care Metrics
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Rate of pressure ulcers per 1000 bed days
4.5

Nursing Care Metrics are a series of measures
looking at the essentials of patient care. Using
a range of audit and direct observation we can
assess the way care is carried out and also ensure
that care is properly documented in patients’
notes. This year we have started to collect and
monitor this information in a more robust way.
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• Reducing hospital acquired infections focusing on the nurse’s role
• Reducing the incidence and severity of falls
• Reducing the incidence and severity of
pressure sores
• Reducing medication administration errors focusing on the nurses’ role in the medication
process.
The following three charts show how the Trust
has been performing in its measures of these
metrics. Studying the high and low incidences
allows us to look at practice in these areas and
any triggers that caused changes so we can then
review and change practice as necessary.

Average

Apr 09

Following discussion with the Commissioners, it
was agreed this would have a phased approach
across the year with each quarter introducing a
new metric and developing a baseline on which
to measure progress. The metrics chosen were:

3

Mar 09

Number of pressure ulcers

4

Nursing medication incidents
25

Number of Incidents
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Average
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Standards agreed with the
Commissioners in 2009-2010
The standard agreed with the Commissioners
was that for each metric baseline measurements
would be captured and that time would be spent
ensuring data accuracy. A monthly measurement
would be performed and these were shared
at the Contract Quality Review meetings
held monthly with the Commissioners. It was
recognised that as all the audits were manually
collected, this was time consuming and data
quality was essential. Quantitative reduction
targets were not explicitly set this year whilst the
systems were being established.

What we did well
• Established a robust system of data capture
which was shared with Ward Managers
regularly so that they are aware of the Trust’s
performance on the nursing metrics.
• Linked strongly with the work already
underway on a wider range of nursing
indicators which is looking at nursing
outcomes and is being reported through to
the Trust Board.
• Highlighted the importance of nurses using
the Incident Reporting system (Datix) in the
Trust to ensure data accuracy.

What more do we need to do
• Further develop the work on falls in a more
coordinated way. Falls are the highest incident
in the Trust and the Falls Group is being
revitalised to tackle this.
• Continue the work on medication
administration issues, as this work has only
recently been an area of focus and requires
ongoing attention.
• Review our health economy wide Wound
Formulary to ensure that there remains
consistency across hospital and community
on the management of wounds and pressure
sores.

64

How we’ve performed:
Priority 3 - driving improvement
through patient feedback

Considerable work has been undertaken this
year on a more structured approach to patient
feedback. The Trust Governors established a Staff
and Patient Care Committee which alongside
the Trust’s Patient and Workforce Experience
Committee has put a strong focus on ensuring
the patient’s voice has been heard and acted
upon. Both the Patient Experience Group and
Patient Communication Group have been
reconstituted in response to member suggestion
as to how they might operate more effectively.

• Complaints, comments and suggestions are
all taken seriously with these being focused
on monthly at Divisional level, and compliance
with response times monitored alongside the
top five themes.

Total formal
complaints received

2008-09

2009-10

380

378

A number of key survey and monitoring work has
been carried out in 2009-2010 across the Trust:

Formal Complaints by Subject
2009-2010 - Top five subjects

Total

• Monthly surveys have been undertaken as part
of the Trust’s commitment to Delivering Same
Sex Accommodation on ensuring Privacy and
Dignity, the results of which have been very
promising. The overall scores for feedback on
the overall privacy and dignity is shown in the
table below.

Aspects of clinical treatment

212

Attitude of staff

42

Appointments, delay/cancellation
(out-patient)

32

Communication/information to
patients (written and oral)

22

Monthly inpatient survey responses to question Do you feel you have been treated with dignity
and respect during your hospital stay?

Patients' property and expenses

19

Month

Yes %

No %

June 2009                             

89

11

August 2009                          

91

7

September 2009                              

96

4

October 2009                               

94

5

1

November 2009          

92

5

3

January 2010

99

1

February 2010

91

3

6

March 2010

93

2

5

• PALS contacts are an informal but valuable
way of gaining patient feedback and these
continue to be encouraged. In 2009-2010
we put in place a range of publicity materials
to encourage use of the PALS service at the
hospitals.

Not
stated

2
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2008-09

2009-10

Total PALS contacts

691

920

Number of PALS
contacts escalated
to formal complaints

7

15

PALS contacts by subject 2009
-2010 - Top five subjects

Total

Requests for information

440

Waiting Times

103

Attitudes

67

Service Delivery

62

Communication Problems

60

• An important addition for the Trust this year
has been the purchase of Patient Experience
Trackers (PET) which allows patients in
both Outpatients and in ward areas to give
feedback on hand held devices and reports are
generated electronically. Whilst the questions
are restricted to five, it allows more timely
feedback to be given and a wider spread
across the Trust as they are used on all the
hospital sites. Key areas that the trackers are
being used to gain feedback on are privacy
and dignity and discharge. The Trust’s Public
Governors and LINks groups have been
involved in developing this work.

• The Divisional Matrons, Ward Managers and
Clinical Leads discuss anonymised PALS
information at their team meetings to ensure
that learning from any negative patient and/
or relatives experiences is shared with staff
to prevent recurrence. Issues regarding staff
attitude are addressed on an individual basis,
either through attendance at the customer
care training or via the disciplinary procedure.
• The Tell Us Three Things survey is a way of
gaining feedback using the Trust’s Foundation
Trust members (most of whom have been
patients or visitors) and visitors to the Trust
internet site. Designed to give the Governors
direct feedback from their Members, patients
and visitors are encouraged to tell us what is
both good about their visit and how we might
improve things. To date there have been over
300 responses and initial feedback has been
shared through the members’ newsletter Your
Hospitals. Key themes from the survey such
as parking and time waiting for appointments
after arriving at hospital have been fed back
into the Trust and have led to action by our
Governors and at committees.
• The Your Thoughts suggestion scheme
which has been so successful in Maternity
has been rolled out into the Scheduled
Care Division this year, with notice boards
identifying issues patients have raised and
what has been done as a result.
• The national Inpatient Survey is an
important area of feedback. It takes the views
of a wide range of patients who have had care
at the hospitals during the year and is carried
out independently. Our Clinical Divisions
ensure that action plans are drawn up to
address areas of weakness. The Trust scores
for 2009-2010 showed little change from the
improved scores recorded in 2008-2009 and
the senior nursing team are creating a series
of patient pledges in response to the key
elements of the survey that will be used at the
entrances to wards.

Standards the Trust set itself to be
achieved:
• The Trust will have systems in place to ensure
regular and timely information from patients
that can be reported the Board and Governors’
Council

What we did well
• Engage the Governors in conducting the
Privacy and Dignity audits.
• Engage LINks in undertaking visits and audits
• Implemented the PET system
• Staff increasingly want to actively survey
patients on how good their service is. More
patients are able to express their views in a
variety of ways reflecting the open culture of
learning and listening that we are trying to
establish across the hospitals.

What more do we need to do
• Improve the feedback to staff further.
• Use the patient experience module from the
Clinical Nursing Indicator project to triangulate
with all the other feedback to continually
watch for any areas of dissatisfaction.
• Use patient stories at the Board - due to start
in May 2010
• Create a series of patient pledges based
around themes of the Inpatient Survey, and
reflecting the NHS Constitution pledges, to
remind staff and patients of the standards the
Trust expects to deliver.
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How we’ve performed:
Priority 4 - further implement the
quality and safety framework
unnecessary readmissions and the time patients
have to spend in hospital whilst at the same time
improving the care patients receive.

The Quality and Safety Framework has given
the Trust a real focus for its quality and safety
work. In last year’s report, an area which was
highlighted was the improvement theme on
improving End of Life care.

So for example, for the Hip and Knee pathway in
advancing quality we would measure these key
steps on the patient’s journey to make sure they
happen in a timely way and are fully recorded:

As part of the quality agenda, we have reviewed
our approach to End of Life / Care of the Dying.
A multi-disciplinary group, which has included
external partners, has produced a draft strategy
on Care of the Dying patient, which incorporates
the national strategies on end of life care, the
local care pathway for end of life care and has
developed some basic standards of care which
we will be ensuring are delivered to those
who die in the hospital setting. This work has
recognised some of the common issues that
have been raised at the Trust via the complaints
system and ensure that whilst attention is given
to the clinical aspects of issues such as pain relief,
equal attention is paid to dignity and respect. Our
strategy has been produced in consultation with
our lead Commissioner and will be implemented
within the Trust during the coming year.

Hip and knee replacement AQ measures
1 Prophylactic antibiotic received within one
hour prior to surgical incision
2 Prophylactic antibiotic selection for surgical
patients
3 Prophylactic antibiotics discontinued within
24 hours after surgery end time
4 Recommended Venous Thromboembolism
prophylaxis ordered
5 Appropriate Venous Thromboembolism
prophylaxis within 24 hours prior to surgery to
24 hours after surgery
6 Re-admission rates within 28 days.
For each of the AQ areas there a re a similar set
of standards relevant to that condition.

Many of the themes have similarly made excellent
progress and have helped focus the work for
the LIPS programme. Whilst the course is of six
month duration, the real work then is expected
to take two to three years to complete, and be
the basis of a continual improvement process.

The table below shows the percentage
compliance with the best practice standards
agreed by the AQ programme, and shows the
Trust’s improvement over the year:

Development of the Advancing
Quality (AQ) Agenda

Pathway

October 08

October 09

Acute MI

93.98%

99.06%

Staff and patients at the Trust are benefiting
from a revolutionary healthcare improvement
programme which went live in the North West
region on October 1st 2008. Advancing Quality
aims to save lives and promote better quality
patient care. The programme at the Trust is
based on a series of quality standards when
treating patients for four common conditions and
procedures for - heart attacks (known as acute
Myocardial Infarction or acute MI), pneumonia,
heart failure, hip and knee replacements; helps
the hospital save valuable resources by cutting

Hip & Knee

88.40%

92.00%

Heart Failure

70.31%

87.80%

Pneumonia

82.81%

84.09%

What more do we need to do
• The Trust will continue to develop systems for
compliance with the requirements for each of
the AQ pathways.
• Introduce the new pathways e.g. Stroke
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Statements of Assurance
from the Board
Review of services

Termination of pregnancies

During 2009-2010 Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust provided and
subcontracted eight service themes including:

The termination of a pregnancy carried out
by, or under the supervision of, a healthcare
professional in Warrington hospital.

Diagnostic and screening procedures

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

These are X-rays and other methods to
examine the body: the use of radiation,
ultrasound or magnetic resonance imaging;
the use of instruments or equipment which
are inserted into the body to view its internal
parts and gather physiological data; the
removal of tissues, cells or fluids from the
body to discover the presence, cause or extent
of a disease, disorder or injury; the use of
equipment to measure or monitor physiological
data in relation to the neurological, vision,
cardiovascular, respiratory, gastro-intestinal,
urinary or audio-vestibular system.

The treatment by a health care professional or a
multi-disciplinary team which includes a health
care professional. If the treatment is for a mental
disorder a social worker will be involved.

Estates Management
The provision and maintenance of all NHS
services and utilities across the estate for
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust.

Patient Services
The facilities services include: catering, domestic,
portering, switchboard, linen, general offices,
mortuary, security services and procurement.

Family planning
Services that involve the insertion or removal of
an intrauterine contraceptive device (formerly
called a coil) carried out by, or under the
supervision of, a health care professional. Other
forms of contraceptive fitting or supply are
included in nursing care or are exempt from
regulated activities.

The locations where Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust carries out its
registered activities are:
• Halton General Hospital (Runcorn)
• Houghton Hall (Warrington)
• Warrington Hospital
The list of services above cover the activities
that the Trust is registered to carry out and any
conditions that apply. These services have been
approved and are registered by the Care Quality
Commission for 2010-2011.

Maternity and midwifery services
Health care professionals provide or supervise
the care of pregnant mothers and the delivery
of babies.

Surgical procedures

Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust have reviewed all the data
available on the quality of care in all six of these
NHS services.

Surgical operations, including all pre-operative
and post-operative care, carried out by a health
care professional for the purpose of: treating
disease, disorder or injury; cosmetic procedures
where instruments or equipment are inserted
into the body; religious observance.

The income generated by the NHS Health Care
services reviewed in 2009-2010 represent 91% of
the total income generated from the provision of
NHS services by Warrington and Halton Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust for 2009-2010.
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Participation in Clinical Audits and
National Confidential Enquiries

The Trust identifies the importance of using data
to review clinical practice, to identify remediable
factors in the care of patients, and to make
recommendations for clinicians and managers to
implement.

During 2009-2010 the total number of National
Clinical Audit and National Confidential enquiries
covered NHS services that the Trust provides was:

Below are a summary of the number of cases
submitted to each audit or enquiry as a
percentage of the number or registered cases
required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.

• National confidential enquiries: Seven studies
• National Audits carried out at Warrington and
Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust:
- National Audits: 108
- Local Audits: 24
- Others: 101
During 2009-2010 Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust participated in
the following national Clinical Audits which it
was eligible to participate in, they were:

• Adding Insult to Injury - 2/4 cases (50%)
• Deaths in Acute Hospitals - 40/268 (15%)
• National Audits - Database in place for review
of data.
The reports of national clinical audits were
reviewed by the Trust in 2009-2010 and we have
taken or intend to take the following actions to
improve the quality of Healthcare provided:

• National Confidential Enquiry into Patient
Outcome and Death (NCEPOD): Seven studies
in total of which four studies were eligible, the
Trust has agreed to take part in all four studies
(100%)
• National Audits: 101
• NICE: 16 / 88 audits carried out.
The purpose of NCEPOD is to assist in
maintaining and improving standards of medical
and surgical care for the benefit of the public
by reviewing the management of patients, by
undertaking confidential surveys and research,
and by maintaining and improving the quality
of patient care and by publishing and generally
making available the results of such activities.

• Improving standards of care by accessing
national comparative data that would allow
clinicians, healthcare professionals Trust-wide
to examine key aspects of the quality of care
and impact on patient outcomes and quality of
life, and implement change accordingly
• Patient choice and improvement of
patient care and outcomes - the information
generated from the reports will be used to
assist patients in making decisions about their
care
• Measuring Quality - measure the internal
quality and standards and develop models to
reflect improvement on areas identified
• Develop Local working links to identify
other ways in which clinical audit and the audit
department can support local improvement
and drive change.
The reports and recommendations of local
clinical audits were reviewed by the Trust and we
intend to take the following actions to improve
the quality to healthcare we provide:

Each year, NCEPOD invites organisations or
individuals to submit original study proposals for
consideration as possible forthcoming studies.
Proposals should be relevant to the current
clinical environment and have the potential
to contribute original work to the subject.
Organisations or individuals wishing to submit
a study proposal are required to complete a
Study Proposal Form, which will be available to
download from this website at the time the call
for proposals is announced.

• Standardised clinical guidelines across the
Trust
• Raise staff awareness regarding clinical coding
rules.
• Utilise and apply audit recommendation
to encourage the use of evidence-based
medicine.
• Utilise recommended guidelines and protocols
which would result in improving the method
of healthcare data collection, transparency,
quality management, patient safety, efficiency,
efficacy and appropriateness of care.

The four NCEPOD studies that WHH were eligible
for were:
1 Peri-operative Care - ongoing
2 Elective and Emergency Surgery in the Elderly published later this year.
3 Deaths in Acute Hospitals: Caring to the End published 2009
4 Acute Kidney Injury: Adding Insult to Injury published 2009
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Commitment to research as a
driver for improving the quality of
care and patient experience

In 2009-2010 the NIHR supported 30 of these
studies through its research networks.
There have been a number of publications that have
been contributed to by staff in the Trust in helping
to improve patient outcomes and experience across
the NHS.

The number of patients receiving NHS services
provided or sub-contracted by the Trust in
2009-2010 that were recruited to participate
in research approved by a research ethics
committee was 97.

The use of CQUIN
A proportion (0.5%) of Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust’s income in
2009-2010 was conditional upon achieving
quality improvement and innovation goals agreed
between the Trust and any person they entered
into a contract, agreement or arrangement with
for the provision of NHS services, thorough
the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
payment framework (CQUIN). The conditional
income equated to £815,730. Progress on each of
the schemes was discussed previously, and as all
schemes were achieved this resulted in full payment.

The Trust continues to build on recruitment
into cancer clinical trials with a total of 84
patients being recruited during 2009-2010
(30% decrease from 2008-2009). People with
cancer in Warrington and Halton have received
a major boost with the opening of the CANtreat
chemotherapy centre at Halton General Hospital.
The Trust provides this service in partnership
with Clatterbridge Centre for Oncology NHS
Foundation Trust.
A considerable amount of cancer research is still
being undertaken within the Trust and a further
number of national trials have been opened,
which are mainly led by Consultant Medical and
Clinical Oncologists from Clatterbridge Centre
for Oncology. We are working closely with the
Merseyside & Cheshire Cancer Research Network
to secure resources to support further cancer
projects.

The 2009-2010 primary schemes related to:
• Development of the acute component of the
stroke care pathway, and improving compliance
with key standards of care
• Implementation of Copeland’s Risk Adjustment
Barometer (CRAB) across all surgical specialties
to proactively monitor trends in morbidity and
mortality
• Implementation of the Nursing Care Metrics

The Trust is continuing working closely
with other topic specific networks to build
its research portfolio in Stroke, Diabetes,
Medicines for Children, Reproductive Health and
Cardiovascular, Respiratory and Critical Care. We
are also continuing to work in close partnership
with the Cheshire & Merseyside Comprehensive
Local Research Network to further support
National Institute for Health Research (NIHR)
clinical research activity. The Trust is committed
to supporting researchers in developing new
research projects and to secure future funding.

The anticipated schemes for 2010-2011 relate
to national, regional and local schemes.
National Schemes
• Reduce avoidable death, disability and chronic ill
health from Venous-thromboembolism (VTE)
• Improve responsiveness to personal needs of
patients.
Regional Schemes
• To promote Clinical Effectiveness, Safety and
Patient Experience through Advancing Quality
(AQ).
• Improved trauma care for patients in the North
West with better outcomes.

We were involved in conducting in conducting 58
clinical research studies (a 29% increase on 20082009). The Trust completed 20% of these studies
as designed within the agreed time and to an
agreed recruitment target. We used national
systems to manage the studies in proportion to
risk. Of the 58 studies given permission to start
20% were given permission by an authorised
person less than 30 days from receipt of a valid
complete application. 22% of these studies
were established and managed under the
National Coordinated Systems for gaining NHS
permissions and 11% of the 58 eligible research
involved used a Research Passport.

Local Schemes
• These remain to be finalised with NHS
Warrington, but the schemes being discussed
include:
• Improvement of care for patients with Chronic
Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD).
• Development and implementation of CRAB in
Acute Medicine to promote clinical effectiveness,
safety and patient experience.
• Improved prescribing of medication.
70

Registration with the Care
Quality Commission

Information Quality and
Records Management

The Care Quality Commission has registered
Warrington & Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust without conditions.

Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust score for Information Quality
and Records management assessed using the
information governance toolkit was 70% (Green).
This score is the overall Trust score for when
using the information governance toolkit.

The Care Quality Commission has not taken any
enforcement action against Warrington and
Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust during
2009-2010.

Payment by Results Clinical Coding audit

Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust is not subject to periodic review
by the Care Quality Commission.

Clinical coding is the process of categorising
procedures and what happens to a patient in the
right way. Different procedures have different
codes and it ensures that the Trust is paid
correctly for the work it carries out and that a
patients’ care is properly logged. Warrington
and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
was subject to the Payment by Results clinical
coding audit during the reporting period by the
Audit Commission and the error rates reported
in the latest published audit for diagnosis and
treatment coding (clinical coding) was:

Special Reviews by the Care
Quality Commission
The Trust has not been involved in any Special
Reviews but will be participating in a range of
reviews in 2010:
• Services for people who have had a stroke and
their carers - Data collection mid April/May
2010, results October 2010
• Meeting the physical health needs of those
with mental health needs and learning
disabilities - Data collection May 2010, results
September/October 2010
• Support for families with disabled children
- Data collection May/June 2010, results
September 2010

•
•
•
•

Primary diagnosis - 0.8%
Secondary diagnosis - 1.1%
Primary procedures - 5%
Secondary procedures - 3.3%

The Trust is performing excellently compared
with the overall performance of NHS Trusts in
2009-2010. Our HRG error rate has remained
low compared with the previous audits and it
has implemented the recommendations from
our 2008-2009 review, indicating excellent
performance. This year our HRG error rate was
3.3%.

Quality of data
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust submitted records during 20092010 to the Secondary User Service for inclusion
in the Hospital episode statistics which are
included in the latest published data.

The national average in 2008-2009 was 8.1%
and our Strategic Health Authority (SHA) average
error rate in 2008-2009 was 8%.

The percentage of records in the published data:
• which included the patient valid NHS number
was: 94.55% for admitted patient care:
96.82% for outpatient care and 90.92% for
accident and emergency.
• which included the patients valid General
practitioner registration code was: 98.48% for
admitted patient care; 99.17% for outpatient
care and 96.66% for accident and emergency
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6.3 Improving Quality, Safety and Patient Experience
The Way Forward in 2010-2011

These areas have been chosen from our
quality and safety framework by staff as
areas of development; in discussion with our
Commissioners in order to address national
and local issues; in response to concerns from
Governors and patients’ complaints and by
the Trust Board in order to achieve the Trust’s
strategic objectives.

The quality measures that have been chosen
for ongoing development in the following year
were highlighted in Part 2, but will be explained
in more detail here. A considerable amount of
work has been invested in the LIPS programme
which will be the focus of the majority of quality
indicators for next year. However it is not the
only area of focus, as the patient experience
work continues alongside the Clinical Nursing
Indicators project.

Within the LIPS programme, there are six
primary areas:
• Reduction of Hospital acquired Health Care
Infections
• Reducing harm to patients
• Reduction in medication errors
• Reducing harm to patients who are critically ill
• Improving care of the deteriorating patient
• Ensuring safer Surgery
Within each area there are further pieces of
work which build on the quality and safety work
undertaken to date. The work in each area is
described in more detail below.

The areas the Board has chosen are encompassed
in our driver diagram produced as part of the
LIPS programme. The ambitious target is to
reduce harm events by 50% by March 2012. To
do this the Trust is focusing its activities into
six primary areas, which are subdivided into a
further 20 key areas of work.

• Reduce further hospital acquired MRSA Bacterium
• Further reduce hospital acquired Clostridium Difficile
• Ongoing surveillance of causative organisms of all bacteria

Reducing hospital acquired health
care infections

• Improve the assessment, prescription and administration
of Thromboprophylaxis
• Reduce the incidence and severity of falls
• Reduce the incidence and severity of hospital acquired
pressure sores
• Improve the reporting of harm events/near misses

Reducing harm to patients

Reduce harm
events to
patients by
March 2010

Reducing medication

• Reduce omitted medication
• improve take home medication

•
•
•
•

Reducing harm to patients
who are critically ill

Reduce ventilator acquired pneumonia
Reduce blood stream infections
Reduce urinary catheter associated infections
Reduce critical care transfers

Improving the care of
deteriorating patients

• Reduce the number of cardiac arrests in A&E,
Theatre and Critical Care
• Improve the detection of deterioration

Ensuring safer surgery

• Implement Safe Surgery Check briefings
• Participation in the national Darzi survey
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LIPS area 1 - Reduction in Hospital
Acquired Health Care Infections

c) Reducing the incidence of hospital acquired
Grade 3 and above pressure sores.

Three indicators which have been agreed under
this driver are:

This also builds on the CQUIN work of last
year. As with falls, the Chief Nursing Officer for
England has established a definition for those
newly acquired pressure sores per 1000 bed days
which are to be reported monthly.

1 Set a Trust stretch target to further reduce
hospital acquired MRSA bacteraemia to 3
cases which is a higher target than that set
by the National Quality Board, which already
places the Trust in the highest quartile of
Acute Trusts.
2 Further reduce hospital acquired Clostridium
difficile to hit the stretch target of 85.
3 Undertake ongoing surveillance of other
bacteraemias, to ensure that there are no
dormant organisms which suddenly become
activated without notice.

d) Improving the reporting of actual
patient harm events and near misses.
The Trust noted a slight reduction in incident
reporting last year whilst it changed to an
electronic version of incident reporting. This
dropped the Trust just into the lowest quartile of
reportees. The target for 2010 will be to increase
reporting to a level determined by the National
Reporting and Learning Service (NRLS) as in the
top third of Acute Trust reporting.

LIPS area 2 - Reducing harm to patients

LIPS area 3 - Reducing Medication Errors

There are four key areas under this driver:

There are several key areas of work which fall
under this important quality and safety driver:

a) Improving the assessment; prescribing
and administration of thromboprophylaxis.

a) Reducing omitted medication

This is to prevent patients developing a deep vein
thrombosis as a result of inactivity whilst they
are in hospital. Assessment has now become
a national CQUIN requirement, using the new
national assessment form. Over the past year
the Trust has developed slightly different forms
across the main specialties, but has struggled
with ensuring effective assessment occurs with
every patient. The Trust is now in the process of
changing to use the national assessment form
and identifying how this might be electronically
captured in order to demonstrate the required
90% compliance.

This has been the source of some patient
negative feedback and recently been the subject
of a National Patient Safety Alert, to ensure that
patients receive their prescribed medication on
time. Whilst there are many reasons for patients
potentially missing doses of their medication
(refusing medication, being off the ward at the
time of the drug round or being nil by mouth
in preparation for a procedure for examples),
the therapeutic benefit may be lost if this is not
recognised. The Trust identified in a small scale
test of change that using a highlighter pen on the
medication administration sheet made omissions
highly visible and helped our staff quickly act to
ensure that medications are then given quickly
and the routine re-established. On one ward in
the pilot phase, within one week the number of
omissions dropped by 50%. The pilot phase is
now almost complete and will then be rolled out
to all wards, with the improvement monitored.

b) Reducing the incidence and severity of falls
This builds on the work undertaken last year in
establishing the baseline and data quality. An
initial 10% reduction is aimed at which will be
achieved by more effective falls assessment when
patients are admitted. This is being monitored
through the Clinical Nursing Indicators project
which audits one third of patients’ notes in
each ward per month. At a Trust wide level, the
Falls Group has been revamped with increased
leadership and it is anticipated that the benefit
of their work will become apparent in the latter
half of the year. The Chief Nursing Officer has
recently published Nurse sensitive indicators
which will be used to measure the adjusted falls
rate per 1000 bed days.

b) Improving take home medication
This has been the source of patient complaint
that medication has either to be waited for or
is unavailable on discharge. This is a system
issue at the heart of which is effective discharge
planning. A new system is being trialled which
will improve information to GPs; allow more
timely dispensing and improve medication
education for patients. This will be measured by
patient satisfaction and a reduction in complaints
citing delays in medication.
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b) Reducing blood stream infections

We are also working to ensure that patients
have a better understanding of their medication
and its importance to ensure they realise the
importance of completing their course of
medication once outside the hospital.

This relates primarily to central lines, but the
Trust also monitors peripheral Intravenous (IV)
lines and arterial lines each shift. The Trust is
part of the Matching Michigan national study
which is hoping to replicate the results achieved
in Michigan USA and subsequently maintained,
by using measures that reduced central line
infections.

LIPS area 4 - Reducing harm to
patients who are critically ill
The Critical Care areas in any Trust are highly
technical environments with very ill patients,
many of whom are suffering from multi-organ
failure. Such patients are very susceptible to
infection because of their weakened immune
response coupled with the need to be intensively
monitored through invasive devices. What is
critical to patients’ survival is rigorous attention
to detail and a near obsession with infection
prevention and control. These patients are the
most vulnerable in the hospital and a harm event
that happens to them can be extremely serious.
There are several areas of focus:

c) Reducing urinary catheter
associated infections
Work is beginning on the definitional work
associated with urinary catheters. The Chief
Nursing Officer’s Nurse Sensitive Outcome
measures highlight the difficulties of
benchmarking with the lack of consensus with
what is defined as an infection. Internally,
agreement has been reached on a definition
between the Consultant Microbiologists and
Consultant colleagues, so this definition will be
used and applied to gain baselines over the first
two quarters.

a) Reducing ventilator acquired
pneumonia (VAP)

d) Reducing further critical care transfers

This is monitored by the Intensivists and the
Consultant Microbiologist daily. Using the care
bundle approach for ventilated patients, a range
of interventions rigorously undertaken at a fixed
interval 24 hours a day will reduce the incidence
of VAP. The Trust wide Critical Care Delivery
Group have agreed the definition of what
constitutes a VAP (as there is no consistently
agreed national definition) and this is now being
measured to establish a baseline. Audit of the
care bundle is undertaken weekly.

Prior to the move into the new Critical Care Unit,
the Trust had one of the highest transfer rates
in the North West. There has been a significant
drop since the Unit opened in February 2009,
which has made a significant difference to
patients and their families who have not had
the trauma of moving to a hospital and the
subsequent cost in time and resources of
excess travelling. The impact on patients and
families’ experience is well recognised and the
Trust would like to reduce this further for non
specialist transfers.

Reducing non-clinical Critical Care transfers progress so far since opening our new Critical Care Unit

Previous Unit

Quality Improvement Measures

The unit had the highest rate
of non-clinical transfers within
Mersey & Cheshire.

There has been a 94% reduction (since 2006) in the number of
non-clinical transfers.

In 2006 alone, 66 patients
were transferred out.

Relatives do not have to travel to neighbouring units and back
again, therefore reducing the inconvenience and the risk of
complaints. The Trust has received no formal complaints since
January 2008 in relation to non-clinical transfers.
We have improved staffing levels, due to staff no longer
needing to accompany transferred patients.
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LIPS area 5 - Improving the care
of the deteriorating patient

LIPS area 6 - Ensuring Safer Surgery
The Trust is part of a national research project
looking at the implementation of the World
Health Organisation Safe Surgery Checklist. As
one of only four Trusts involved in all stages of
the research, this links in with last year’s CQUIN
scheme of implementing CRAB in Surgery, as it
is hoped this will be able to demonstrate positive
patient outcomes.

There has been considerable national work
which highlights the efficacy of treating the
deteriorating patient quickly and arresting the
deterioration if at all possible. To do this requires
constant observation, ensuring physiological
observations are undertaken responsively
and subtle changes detected quickly. Once
deterioration is detected, then proactive
management is required with escalation to
senior colleagues occurring quickly. There are a
range of initiatives underway in this area, but key
indicators are:

A key element of the checklist implementation is
ensuring a culture of safety is generated in the
Operating Theatre, similar to that in an airplane
cockpit where safety checks occur before takeoff. The Trust is keen to learn from errors that
have occurred, especially wrong site surgery,
where it has been found that in such cases
someone in the Theatre suspected something
was wrong but felt unsure and did not speak
out. By having a briefing / debrief as well as the
checklist it is hoped that all staff, irrespective
of how junior they are, feel empowered to seek
clarification if they are concerned or suspect an
error without detriment.

a) Reducing the number of cardiac arrests
outside of A&E, Theatre and Critical Care areas
Work has been undertaken over the past
quarter to establish a baseline of cardiac arrests
occurring outside specialist areas. The cardiac
arrest team may be called to a range of clinical
incidents which are not true arrest situations, so
understanding when and where arrests occur
is essential. The Trust has spent considerable
resource in standardising equipment and in
training staff how to respond but the outcome /
impact now needs to be evaluated. This indicator
has three components - one is a quantitative
reduction in the overall number of cardiac
arrests; secondly is an increased survivability to
discharge of those patients who suffer a cardiac
arrest and finally audit of selected cases to
determine if the arrest was preventable.

We will continue the establishment of the
checklist as part of our culture, embedding the
principles of the work and ensuring that it is
documented.

Patient Experience /
Clinical Nursing Indicators
Over the past 18 months, The Director of Nursing
and the senior nursing team have been working
on refining a set of clinical nursing indicators
which would capture the contribution of nursing
both quantitatively and qualitatively. The CQUIN
work of 2008-2009 helped develop a series of
benchmarks on several of the indicators, but
there is an important qualitative element that
needed to be captured.

b) Improving the detection of deterioration
The Trust currently uses the Modified Early
Warning Score (MEWS) system which uses
observations and rates them to give an overall
picture of a patient’s condition and ensure action
is taken in the event of deterioration. However in
reviewing other Trusts’ documentation it was felt
that adopting a colour coded observation chart
would enhance the visibility of deterioration
more vividly than on a plain chart. Work is almost
completed on this, and it will be measured to
determine if the number of incidents where
observations are not acted upon quickly reduce.
Audit of a sample of observation charts is
undertaken by the Ward Manager on the weekly
ward key performance indicators and a third of
ward charts are audited monthly as part of the
Clinical Nursing Indicators work.

The Clinical Research and Audit Nurse (CRAN)
each month audits a random sample of one third
of the patients in each adult ward.
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Safeguarding Children and
Vulnerable Adults

The nursing indicators cover the following areas
of clinical practice:
• Documentation
• Observations
• Nutrition
• Falls
• Tissue Viability
• Continence
• Prevention of venous thrombo-embolism (VTE)
• Medicines Management
• Pain management
• Patient Experience
The CRAN, who is an advanced Nurse
Practitioner, audits the patient’s notes as well
as discussing their experience with them and
undertakes observation of the patient and their
surrounding bed space. Each component is scored
with a percentage score given for each area of
practice. The first reports have been shared with
Ward Managers; Matrons and Divisional Heads of
Nursing, and the Trust Board. It is anticipated that
modification of the indicators will take place over
the next six months to make them relevant for
Maternity and Paediatrics.

The Trust has continued to undertake
considerable work on Safeguarding. In
recognition of the increasing work around care
of vulnerable adults, a full time Matron post was
created this year for vulnerable adults which
complemented the two staff who support the
Safeguarding Children agenda. Staff training is a
key issue to ensure staff are aware and can react
quickly and responsively to support potentially
vulnerable patients. Training is undertaken at
induction and within the Trust, as well as on
a multi-agency basis with both Warrington
and Halton Council staff; Primary Care staff;
Cheshire Police and other agencies. The Trust
actively supports both Warrington and Halton
Safeguarding Children’s Boards and Safeguarding
Adults Boards and their various sub-committees.

Our performance against key
national priorities
The following overview of performance is
against the 2009-2010 national priorities and
national core standards from the department
of health operating Framework and against the
department of health’s national core standards.
The national core standards are detailed
within table below. Against the 10 existing
commitments the Trust is delivering on these
standards with non failing.

The existing Patient Experience work will
continue as last year and develop further with
the implementation of the Patient Involvement
Strategy. The Trust is committed to improving the
patient experience, and has learnt considerably
from the Delivering Same Sex Accommodation
work on what matters to patients. Patient
information is being targeted for further
improvement, and has been considerably
enhanced by Governor and LINks input on the
Group.

Against the 13 national priorities the Trust has
not failed to deliver on any of these standards.
The Care Quality Commission self assessment
confirms this stated position
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Clinical Quality

Health and
Wellbeing
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√
√

√

Stroke Care

Maternity Hospital Episode statistics data
quality indicator

√

√

National
priority

Engagement in clinical audits

Time to reperfusion for patients following
a heart attack

√

√

Data quality on ethnic group

Participation in heart disease audits

√

Existing
commitment

Access to genito-urinary medicine (GUM)

Infant health and inequalities: smoking
during pregnancy and breastfeeding
initiation

2009-2010 acute indicator

Target is <= 15%

Sentinel audit outcomes
are detailed and
improved on previous
year

Evidenced via clinical
audit committee

2008-2009
target >=68%

Target is >=85%

Target is >= 98%

2008-2009 target
Achieved = Within
tolerance of 2007-2008
performance, or the
2007-2008 national
average, for both
smoking during
pregnancy and
breastfeeding initiation
rates

Target/commentary

Achieved (14.75%)

Improvement achieved on last
year by sentinel audit data set

Achieved

2009-2010 threshold has not
been published. Achieved against
2008-2009 target (87.5%)

Achieved

(96.39%)

Achieved

Achieved (100%)

2009-2010 threshold has not
been published. Achieved against
2008-2009

Achieved

Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust performance
against key national priority targets 2009-2010:
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Patient focus and
access

Safety

Experience of patients

√

√

All cancers: two month urgent referral to
treatment (including new cancer strategy
commitments)

Total time in A&E

√

All cancers: one month diagnosis to
treatment (including new cancer strategy
commitments)

√

√

√

√

All cancers: two week wait (including
new cancer strategy commitments)

18 week referral to treatment times

Delayed transfers of care

√

Incidence of Clostridium difficile

National
priority
√

Existing
commitment

Incidence of MRSA bacteraemia

2009-2010 acute indicator

98% of patients to be
admitted to hospital or
discharged within four
hours of arrival.

There are a range of
targets around referral
to treatment and
diagnosis to treatment
designed to ensure
patients with suspected
cancer are seen and
treated quickly.

90% of admitted
patients and 95% of
non-admitted patients
seen within 18 weeks of
GP referral.

2008-2009
target <= 3.5%

Maximum of 204 cases
over the year.

Maximum of 12 cases
over the year.

Target/commentary

Achieved 98.06%

2009-2010 threshold has not
been published. Achieved against
2008-2009 targets.

2009-2010 threshold has not
been published. Achieved against
2008-2009 target.

2009-2010 threshold has not
been published. Achieved against
2008-2009 target.

2009-2010 thresholds have not
been published. Achieved against
2008-2009 targets.

2009-2010 threshold has not
been published. Achieved against
2008-2009 target.

(114 hospital acquired cases)

Achieved

(Eight cases including four
hospital acquired)

Achieved

Achieved
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Patient focus and
access
√
√
√
√

Inpatients waiting longer than the 26
week standard

Patients waiting longer than three
months (13 weeks) for revascularisation

Waiting times for rapid access chest pain
clinics

Cancelled operations and those not
admitted within 28 days

NHS staff satisfaction

√

Existing
commitment

Outpatients waiting longer then the 13
week standard

2009-2010 acute indicator

√

National
priority

National survey
undertaken

Underachieved = Less
than or equal to 1.5%
cancelled operations
and less than or equal to
15% breaches of the 28
day cancelled operations
standard.

Achieved = Less than or
equal to 0.8% cancelled
operations and less than
or equal to 5% breaches
of the 28 day cancelled
operations standard.

Target is >= 98%

Target is <= 0.03%

Target is <= 0.03%

Target/commentary

Achieved improvement

Underachieved

Achieved (99.52%)

Not applicable

Achieved (0%)

Achieved (0%)

Achieved

Performance against Care Quality
Commission Standards

In recognition that our staff are key to delivery
of a quality service, an action plan has been
drawn up to implement the recommendations
of the Boorman Report on Health and Wellbeing
and will be seeking to enhance our level of staff
engagement in the development and delivery of
our services.

The Trust declared compliance with all 44 health
care standards. Standards for Better Health is a
set of standards that the National Health Service
in England must meet. The standards were set
out by the Department of Health. NHS Trusts
must declare their level of compliance with these
standards annually as part of the Annual Health
Check. The Care Quality Commission has now
published a set of standards which superseded
those previously used in the Annual Health
Check. The Trust must demonstrate ongoing
compliance with these as part of its registration
requirements.

Improving the Environment of Care
In order to continue to improve the quality
of care within the Trust some significant
investments occurred during 2009-2010:
• Endoscopy Unit - £1.4m was invested into
the transfer of the endoscopy unit into a
new purpose built facility on the Warrington
Hospital site. The new unit offers single sex
accommodation and additional diagnostic
capacity within a new state of the art
environment.
• Ophthalmology Day Case Unit - this
£300,000 development opened at Warrington
in February 2010 and will ensure that all
patients requiring eye surgery are treated
within a designated area immediately adjacent
to the theatre suite.
• Medical equipment - £600,000 was invested
into new and replacement medical equipment
during 2009-2010
• Single sex accommodation - £473,000
was invested to ensure that the Trust is now
able to declare compliance with virtually
eliminating mixed sex accommodation on
both the Warrington and Halton Hospitals
sites. Examples of where the money was
spent include ensuring all ward bays have
sliding doors to improve privacy and reduce
noise for patients; improving bathroom and
toilet facilities and creating an adolescent
lounge within the paediatric wards to ensure
our teenage patients have an appropriate
environment away from younger children.

Standards of Workforce
Performance
The Trust Board has recognised the need
for improvement and has been focusing on
improving those areas which contribute to
enhancing the quality of our service. In particular
we are pleased to have improved the attendance
at key mandatory training and the number of
staff who are undertaking an annual appraisal.
There is still room for improvement in these areas
and we will major on this during the coming year.

April 2008 to
March 2009

April 2009 to
March 2010

Health and Safety

74%

82%

Fire Safety

52%

55%

Manual Handling

63%

80%

51%

67%

Indicators
Mandatory Training

Non-medical staff appraisals
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Preparation of the Quality Report
and Accounts

The Trust is consistently assessing how the
patient environment can be improved. Further
developments are planned over the next two
to three years to ensure that the level of patient
care continues to be of the highest standard
across both our sites

The Trust’s quality and safety work has been
strongly influenced by patients; Governors and
our partners. The Trust embarked on a three year
programme in 2008, refined each year, which
was a commitment to continuous improvement.

Improving Quality in Partnership

This report highlights the progress made with
them on that improvement journey. The content
of the report has been shared within the Trust
with staff, but importantly with our Governors;
LINks and our Commissioners, to ensure it is an
accurate reflection of our performance to date.

The Trust cannot deliver its services in isolation,
and is an active participant in quality and safety
work undertaken across the health economy
both with lead commissioners and neighbouring
provider units. Through its Safeguarding
work with both Adult and Children, strong
relationships have been developed with other
partner agencies such as the Police; Social Care;
Youth Offending Services / Probation and the
Voluntary sector.

Unfortunately, the Overview and Scrutiny
Committees are not formally meeting due to the
local and national elections, however a copy was
sent for information and comment if possible.

Key partners are the Trust Governors, who
through their own sub committees and
involvement in the Trust committees are able to
bring the patients’ and local communities’ views
and experiences into our quality improvement
work. Their challenge and positive commitment
to enhancing the patient experience, has been
practically focused into undertaking audits;
identifying quality priorities and bringing external
expertise into improving communication and
patient journeys.

Assurance
The Trust’s Audit Committee chaired by a Non
Executive Director has formally reviewed this
Quality Report and Accounts.

Our two local LINks provide external scrutiny
by undertaking visits with formal reports which
identify both areas of good practice as well
as areas for improvement. Their involvement
in larger pieces of work such as improving
discharge and in membership of the Patient
Experience and Patient Communication groups
has been particularly valuable.
The Trust has close links with both Local
Authorities Overview and Scrutiny Committees.
Warrington has a system of Emissary members,
whereby three members of the Health Overview
and Scrutiny Committee have a specific liaison
function with the Trust and meet with the Trust
regularly to learn about key issues. This has been
an excellent opportunity for the Trust to work
more closely with elected members, and gain
feedback on services from their constituents’
viewpoint.
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Annex to the Quality
Report - Statements from
commissioners and partners
NHS Warrington

Nevertheless, this document presents a view
of services that I think is a good start to a
meaningful debate with the public about what
quality of care means to them and what it is like
to be in hospital.

NHS Warrington is responsible for ensuring
that the health services it commissions for the
people of Warrington are of good quality. We
have checked and verified the content of the
Quality Accounts on the data that we have
access to and I reported this to the Warrington
and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.
I congratulate the Trust on their significant
achievement in controlling Healthcare Acquired
Infections such as C.difficile and MRSA and also
the improvements that have been made in care
for strokes; heart attacks; hip and knee surgery
and pneumonia. These improvements mean
that those patients are getting a better standard
of care than they were in the past. The CRAB
system has also assisted in assuring the quality
of treatment in general surgery and the roll out
to medical specialties will further improve and
safeguard this.

Chrissie Cooke
Executive Director of Patient Safety,
Quality and Governance/Executive Nurse

Halton LINk
As a method of monitoring services Halton LINk
members welcome a Quality Accounts report.
It demonstrates openness and willingness to
engage with the community and members look
forward to being able to measure improvements
in future years by using this report as a benchmark. Members respected and acknowledged
the effort put into compiling this informative
report. The Halton LINk looks forward to
engaging with the Trust throughout this coming
year, so that ideas and comments can be
exchanged during the year and actions taken if
necessary, rather than waiting until April next
year.

It is disappointing that little real improvements
have been made in the patient’s experience of
services - hopefully the work the Trust plans to
undertake over the next 12 months will see this
change in the Quality Accounts in future. I hope
to see much more information in next year’s
document about what has actually happened
to patients in terms of outcomes and much
more about the rate of complaints; incidents
and litigation, the common themes and what
the Trust plans to do about them. It is also
disappointing that the national guidance was
produced quite late in the year; this resulted
in the Trust being unable to develop as full
a process of consultation with stakeholders
such as Governors. A complete and thorough
consultation would have been preferred in
the production of this document. As a partner
governor, I have high hopes that this will be
significantly different next year.

Lyn Williams
Halton LINk Manager
on behalf of the Halton LINk Board
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7 Remuneration report
The Board Remuneration Committee

During the 2009-2010 the Committee met twice
on 29th April 2009 (apologies received from
Catherine Beardshaw, Chief Executive) and on
24th February 2010 (apologies received from Rory
Adam, Non Executive Director).

The Board Remuneration Committee meets
annually, or as required to make decisions
regarding remuneration and conditions of
service for executive directors including our
Chief Executive.

The Trust Board Remuneration Committee will
review its role in succession planning of Executive
Directors in 2010-2011 in line with the NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance.

Agreements for these staff reflect the provisions
of national arrangements. Pay arrangements are
also determined for senior managers and staff
not covered by national pay review bodies.

The Governors’ Council Nomination
and Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has general
oversight of the Trust’s pay policies, but only
determines the reward package for directors and
staff not covered by Agenda for Change. The vast
majority of staff remuneration to include the first
layer of management below board level is covered
by the NHS Agenda for Change pay structure.

The Governors’ Council Nomination and
Remuneration Committee meets annually or as
required to recommend to the Governors’ Council
the nomination of appropriate candidates to the
posts of Non Executive Directors, including the
Chair and Deputy Chair. The committee also has
responsibility for making recommendations to the
Governor’s Council as to the remuneration and
allowances, and other terms and conditions, of
office of Non Executive Directors.

Remuneration and conditions of service
include provisions for other benefits as well as
arrangements for termination of employment. It
considers all in gratia payments and redundancy
payments over £50k. There are no special
termination arrangements for senior managers,
and no such awards have been made to past
senior managers this year.

The committee comprises the Trust’s:
• Chair (or Deputy Chair when the appointment
of the Chair or his or her remuneration and
allowances/other terms and conditions of office
are being discussed)

The Trust does not apply performance conditions
linked to remuneration. Executive directors
participate in annual performance development
reviews and appraisals. Individual objectives are
linked to the corporate objectives.

• One Partner Governor (Colin Daniels)
• One Staff Governor (Janice Fazackerley)
• Two Public Governors (Doreen Shotton and
David Knowles).

There have been no changes to Executive
Directors’ pay in 2009-2010.

During 2009-2010, the committee met six times.

The Committee comprises the Trust’s:

Attendance was as follows:

• Chairman
• Chief executive (except for matters concerning
their employment and conditions)
• All non executive directors.
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Name

14/07/09 05/10/09 14/10/09 01/12/09 01/03/10 23/03/10

Allan Massey
(Chairman)
Colin Daniels
Janice Fazackerley
Doreen Shotton
David Knowles

Appointment process adopted
for Non Executive Directors

and the advertisement and divided into three
groups (A, B and C). Group A to consist
of candidates who present the strongest
evidence against the criteria with Groups B
and C demonstrating less evidence of how
they met the qualities/expertise required. A
breakdown of all three groups to be provided
to the Governors’ Council Nomination and
Remuneration Committee.

It was agreed at the Governors’ Council meeting
on 15th January 2009 to engage the Appointments
Commission to act as the Governors’ Council
recruitment advisors for the appointment of Non
Executive Directors. A decision in regard to the
position of Chairman will be made in due course
and will follow best practice. The process followed
in relation to Non Executive Director appointment
is as explained below;

• The Governors’ Council Nomination and
Remuneration Committee to review the
stronger applications from Group A at a
shortlisting meeting and agreed a final
shortlist of 5 candidates to attend a formal
interview. References to be sought for the
shortlisted candidates.

• The Appointments Commission work closely
with the Governors’ Council Nomination and
Remuneration Committee together with the
Chairman, Executive Director of Organisational
Development and Governance and the Board
Secretary. The Appointments Commission to
attend the Trust at all key stages including
briefing, shortlisting and interviews for the
Non Executive Director.

• Interviews to be conducted by the Governors’
Council Nomination and Remuneration
Committee supported by the Chairman of
the Board and set questions posed to all
candidates to explore the qualities, expertise
and competencies outlined in the candidate
information pack as requirements for the post.

• The Governors’ Council Nomination and
Remuneration Committee to agree the basis
on which candidates are to be assessed
based on feedback from the Board of the
skills required on the Board. Candidates to
be assessed on the basis of the qualities and
expertise criteria set out in the advertisement
and candidate information pack, the
competence demonstrated at interview
and the eligibility stated in the candidate
information pack.

• The Governors’ Council Nomination
and Remuneration Committee to assess
all candidates against the criteria and
fully discussed by the Committee at the
conclusion of the interviews. Assessment
documentation to be completed for all
candidates and decision made to propose a
candidate for appointment to the position.
• The Governors’ Council Nomination and
Remuneration Committee to make a
recommendation to the Governors’ Council for
ratification of the preferred candidate.

• Initial Assessment and Shortlisting - The
pre-assessment exercise to be managed
by the Appointments Commission. The
applications are to be assessed against the
criteria in the candidate information pack
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Contractual arrangements for non executive directors
Name

Contract
Commencement date

Contract expiry date

Notice period

Allan Massey

01/12/2004

30/11/2013

Three months

Lynne Lobley

01/12/2009

1/12/2012

Three months

Carol Withenshaw

01/07/2006

30/06/2010

Three months

Allan Mackie

01/03/2005

28/02/2013

Three months

Rory Adam

01/12/2007

30/11/2011

Three months

Clare Briegal

01/11/2008

30/11/2012

Three months

Executive directors - our executive directors
are not employed under fixed term contractual
arrangements and are required to give three
months notice under the terms of their
employment.
Both the employee and employer contribute to
the NHS pension scheme and Note 1.5 of the
annual accounts provides an explanation of how
pension liabilities are treated in the accounts.
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Directors Remuneration - Year ended 31st March 2010 (and comparison
1st December 2008 to 31 March 2009)
Name and title

1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Other
Remuneration
(bands of
£5,000)

1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

Benefits in
Salary
kind
(bands of
(rounded to
£5,000)
the nearest £)

Other
Remuneration
(bands of
£5,000)

Benefits in
kind
(rounded to
the nearest £)

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive

145-150

Gordon Ramsden
Medical Director

95-100

Sheila Samuels
Director of Organisational
Development and
Governance

95-100

Jonathan Stephens
Director of Finance/
Deputy Chief Executive

110-115

Kath Holbourn
Director of Nursing

95-100

nil

30-35

nil

Simon Wright
Chief Operating Officer

95-100

nil

25-30

nil

Chris Knights
Director of Strategy and
Business Development

95-100

nil

25-30

nil

Allan Massey
Chairman

40-45

nil

10-15

nil

Allan Mackie
Non Executive Director

10-15

nil

0-5

nil

Maureen Banner
Non Executive Director
Leaver 30.11.09

5-10

nil

0-5

nil

Rory Adam
Non Executive Director

10-15

nil

0-5

nil

Carol Withenshaw
Non Executive Director

10-15

nil

0-5

nil

Lynn Lobley
Non Executive Director
Starter 01.12.09

0-5

nil

Clare Briegal
Non Executive Director
Starter 01.11.08

10-15

nil

80-85

nil

40-45

nil

25-30

nil

25-30

nil
25-30

nil

nil

30-35

Fiona Matthews
Non Executive Director
Leaver 31.10.08
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nil

0-5

nil

0-5

nil

Pension Entitlements

Real increase in
pension at age 60
(bands of £2,500)

Real increase in pension
lump sum at age 60
(bands of £2,500)

Total accrued pension at age
60 at 31 March 2010
(bands of £5,000)

Lump sum at age 60 related to
accrued pension at 31 March
2010 (bands of £5,000)

Cash Equivalent Transfer
Value at 31 March 2010

Cash Equivalent Transfer
Value at 31 March 2009

Real increase in Cash
Equivalent Transfer Value

Employer’s contribution to
stakeholder pension

Name and title

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive

7.5-10

22.5-25

60-65

190-195

1,450

1,153

239

nil

Gordon Ramsden
Medical Director

0-2.5

5-7.5

20-25

60-65

320

266

42

nil

15-17.5

47.5-50

65-70

195-200

1,426

980

397

nil

Jonathan Stephens
Director of Finance/
Deputy Chief Executive

5-7.5

15-17.5

35-40

115-120

628

489

114

nil

Kath Holbourn
Director of Nursing

0-2.5

0-2.5

40-45

125-130

917

818

58

nil

Simon Wright
Chief Operating Officer

0-2.5

5-7.5

35-40

110-115

697

594

73

nil

Chris Knights
Director of Strategy and
Business Development

0-2.5

2.5-5

10-15

40-45

228

187

31

nil

Sheila Samuels
Director of Organisational
Development and
Governance

As Non Executive Directors do not receive
pensionable remuneration, there are no entries in
respect of pensions for Non Executive Directors.
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Explanation of cash equivalent transfer values
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the
actuarially assessed capital value of the pension
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particular point in time. The benefits valued
are the member’s accrued benefits and any
contingent spouse’s pension payable from the
scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme
or arrangement to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme or arrangement when
the member leaves a scheme and chooses to
transfer the benefits accrued in their former
scheme.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits
that the individual has accrued as a consequence
of their total membership of the pension scheme,
not just their service in a senior capacity to which
disclosure applies. The CETV figures and other
pension details include the value of any pension
benefits in another scheme or arrangement
that the individual has transferred to the NHS
pension scheme. They also include any additional
pension benefit accrued to the member as a
result of their purchasing additional years of
pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty
of Actuaries.
Explanation of real increase in cash equivalent
transfer values
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively
funded by the employer. It takes account of the
increase in accrued pension due to inflation,
contributions paid by the employee (including the
value of any benefits transferred from another
scheme or arrangement) and uses common
market valuation factors for the start and end of
the period.
Remuneration report signed by:

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive
2nd June 2010
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Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by
Monitor, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis;

Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities
as the accounting officer of Warrington and
Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

• make judgements and estimates on a
reasonable basis;

The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive
is the accounting officer of the NHS Foundation
Trust. The relevant responsibilities of accounting
officer, including their responsibility for the
propriety and regularity of public finances
for which they are answerable, and for the
keeping of proper accounts, are set out in the
accounting officers’ Memorandum issued by the
Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts
(‘Monitor’).

• state whether applicable accounting
standards as set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Financial Reporting Manual have been
followed, and disclose and explain any material
departures in the financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.
The accounting officer is responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the NHS Foundation Trust and to
enable him/her to ensure that the accounts
comply with requirements outlined in the
above mentioned Act. The Accounting officer
is also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the NHS Foundation Trust and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has directed
the Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial
year a statement of accounts in the form and
on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis
and must give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of Warrington and Halton Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and
expenditure, total recognised gains and losses
and cash flows for the financial year.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have
properly discharged the responsibilities set out
in Monitor’s NHS Foundation Trust Accounting
Officer Memorandum.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer
is required to comply with the requirements of
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting
Manual and in particular to:

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive
2nd June 2010
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Statement on internal control
Scope of Responsibility

The system of internal control has been in
place in Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March
2010 and up to the date of approval of the
annual report and accounts.

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility
for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the
NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public
funds and departmental assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance with
the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also
responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation
Trust is administered prudently and economically
and that resources are applied efficiently and
effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities
as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Capacity to Handle Risk
Leadership and Accountability
Up until the 31 December 2009 I delegated
the responsibility for risk management to the
Director of Nursing and Governance., Following
my review of Executive Director duties and
portfolios, with effect from the 1 January 2010,
I transferred the delegated responsibility for risk
management to the Director of Organisational
Development and Governance. This change in
delegated responsibility for risk management
was taken to provide more time for the Director
of Nursing to focus on the delivery of the
Trust’s quality, safety and patient experience
objectives and also to ensure focused and
enhanced support for the overall system of
managing risk within the Trust. A supporting
system for managing risk has been devolved
to the Associate Director of Governance,
bringing together all aspects of the risk
management process and Governance systems.
Further support is provided to the Trust’s risk
management systems through designated risk
and clinical governance leads within Divisions.

The Purpose of the System of Internal Control
The system of internal control is designed
to manage risk to a reasonable level rather
than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve
policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore
only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. The system of
internal control is based on an ongoing process
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives
of Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of
those risks being realised and the impact should
they be realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.
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The current Risk Management Strategy provides
a framework for managing risk across the
organisation in line with best practice and
Department of Health guidance. The strategy
provides a clear, structured and systematic
approach to the management of risk to ensure
that risk assessment is an integral part of clinical,
managerial and financial processes across the
organisation.

Control Mechanisms including
‘Learning Lessons’

The role of the Board and the committees,
together with individual responsibilities of the
Chief Executive, Executive Directors, managers
and all staff are set out within the strategy, and in
particular the role of the Governance Committee,
which is the mechanism for managing and
monitoring risks across the Trust and reporting
through to the Board. Board committees covering
Patient and Workforce Experience and the Audit
Committee support this role along with the sub
committees of Clinical Governance, Infection
Control and Safety and Risk.

A single IT Risk Management System is in place
which links all key risk elements (including
incident reporting, complaints and claims
management) which, in turn, inform the Trust’s
Risk Register.

Each Clinical Division has, within their
establishment, clearly defined posts in
governance/risk management. These key post
holders work closely together, sharing best
practice and learning lessons collectively rather
than on an individual Divisional basis.

Lessons learned when things go wrong are
shared throughout the organisation via a
range of mechanisms including safety alerts,
newsletters and governance forums.
The Trust Board routinely considers specific risk
issues and receives minutes from Board SubCommittees including the Audit and Governance
Committees. The Governance Committee, on
behalf of the Trust Board, routinely receives
information on Serious Untoward Incidents (SUI’s)
including lessons learned and examples of good
practice.

Training
Risk management training is provided through
a number of sources. The Trust’s corporate
induction programme ensures all new staff
(including Consultant appointments) are provided
with details of the Trust’s risk management
systems and processes. This is also supported by
a local induction programme. Risk management
training is provided to all levels of staff within the
organisation based upon the requirements of the
position held.

The Trust actively encourages networking and
has strong links with relevant central bodies, e.g.
National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA), National
Health Service Litigation Authority (NHSLA),
Health and Safety Executive (HSE), and acts on
recommendations / alerts from these bodies as
appropriate. During 2009-2010 the Trust received
2 improvement notices, one from the Health
and Safety Executive and one from the Fire
Authority both of which are being resolved with
appropriate action in line with agreed timescales.

The comprehensive mandatory training covers
a wide variety of risk management processes
including, Health and Safety, Manual Handling,
Resuscitation and Blood Transfusion. An
E-learning system has been developed by key
individuals across the organisation to support
the continued delivery of the Trust’s mandatory
requirements.

The Trust achieved NHSLA new standard Level
1 General (with a score of 50 out of 50) and
NHSLA new standard Level 1 Maternity in
December 2009. Robust action plans have been
put in place to ensure work towards achievement
of Level 2 is embedded across the Trust.

Root Cause Analysis training has been
undertaken by a number of Divisional staff
including those specific staff members who have
dedicated responsibility for risk management
within their areas and it is envisaged that this
training will be further disseminated within the
future.
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The risk and control framework

Input from both Warrington LINks and Halton
LINks, along with the emissary members of
Warrington Overview and Safety Committee has
been a welcome addition in providing patient
and public involvement on a range of issues.

The risk management framework is set out in
the Risk Management Strategy. The key elements
of the strategy include delegated roles and
responsibilities in respect of the various elements
of the risk management process and a strong
focus on the training and support given to staff
within the organisation to enable them to fulfill
their responsibilities.

There is a Board approved Assurance Framework
in place which is reviewed by the Governance
Committee and the Trust Board, and includes the
following:

There is a robust system in place of risk
identification, monitoring and reporting
throughout the organisation’s Divisions and
committees. The Trust’s strategic risk register is
based upon the principle risks of the organisation
and is populated by all services/departments
via local risk registers, which are monitored and
maintained within Divisions. This enables risk
management decision-making to occur as near as
practicable to the risk source and for those risks
that cannot be dealt with locally to be escalated
to the appropriate level.

• the strategic objectives of the Trust covering
the main activities of the organization,

The Safety and Risk Sub Committee maintains
and monitors the Corporate Risk register on a
monthly basis. The Governance Committee has
an overarching role to ensure that significant
issues are brought to the attention of the Trust
Board.

• evidence of compliance with equality diversity
and human rights legislation.

The Trust employs a number of systems to ensure
that risk management is embedded within
the organisation including business planning
and performance management frameworks.
Regular reports are also available to the various
committees responsible for aspects of risk
management.

The framework also links with the corporate risk
register providing a holistic review of strategically
significant risks relating to the organisation’s
business and where gaps in control or assurance
and evidence of risk management are identified
action is taken to rectify them.

• the identification of the key deliverables
and the key risks to the achievement of the
strategic objectives and the systems in place to
manage / mitigate these risks,
• the control systems in place to manage the key
risks,
• the identification of sources of internal
and external assurances evidencing the
management of risk,

The framework links to the Care Quality
Commission related standards and performance
targets and statutory registration requirements.

The Assurance Framework, the process for midyear declaration / self assessment of compliance
with core standards completed in October
2009 (“Standards for Better Health”) and the
ongoing assessment of compliance with core
standards and requirements for the unconditional
registration for the provision of Health Care
services with the Care Quality Commission for
2010-2011 have provided clear mechanisms for
identifying gaps in control and assurance, and
enabled these to be managed in year.

The Trust has a number of corporate policies and
procedures in place to support risk management,
covering the management of adverse incidents,
safety alerts, and consent and general risk
management arrangements.
The Trust encourages stakeholder and partner
organisations’ participation and has developed
an active Patient Experience Group with
representatives attending the Patient Experience
and Workforce Committee, as well as assisting
the Governors’ Council’s work . Representatives
are encouraged to raise issues, be involved in
determining solutions and input to all aspects of
risk management.

The application of the Board Assurance
Framework together with the Trust’s risk
management and control systems and processes
has ensured the Foundation Trust is fully compliant
with the core Standards for Better Health.
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As part the process of continual review and
development, the existing Board Assurance
Framework will be further strengthened to reflect
the future requirement required to support
ongoing registration with the Care Quality
Commission and any changes to Monitor’s,
the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation
Trusts, Compliance Framework.
The Trust has established robust systems to
identify, monitor, and implement actions in
respect of working towards the achievement of
all of its targets including the Standards of Better
Health and subsequently the requirements for
registration with the Care Quality Commission in
conjunction with partner organisations.
The Trust complies with equality, diversity and
human rights legislation and has provided a
declaration to this effect as part of the Annual
Health Check. The Trust has continued to
strengthen and embed these arrangements
through the Equality and Diversity Committee
which has a wide membership including external
partners and representatives of key groups. The
Trust commenced wide ranging consultation on
the Single Equality Scheme during the early part
of 2009-2010 for introduction mid 2010.

The Trust has had no Data Protection / Personal
Data related incidents of severity 3-5 (SUI’s)
which require reporting in the SIC for this time
period.

Control measures are in place to ensure that all
the organisation’s obligations under equality,
diversity and human rights legislation are
complied with.

The Trust submitted an Information Governance
self assessment score in March 2010 of 70%
(Green Status). This process continues to be
undertaken on a quarterly basis to ensure that
robust and consistent information governance is
maintained.

As an employer with staff entitled to
membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer
obligations contained within the Scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes
ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s
contributions and payments into the Scheme are
in accordance with the Scheme rules, and that
member Pension Scheme records are accurately
updated in accordance with the timescales
detailed in the Regulations.

In addition to the Information Governance self
assessment, the Trust is also working towards
the achievement of ISO 27001 (the international
information security standard) which will require
development and certification of a robust
Information Security Management System. This
will further enhance the information governance
arrangements.

The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk
assessments and Carbon Reduction Delivery
Plans are in place in accordance with emergency
preparedness and civil contingency requirements,
as based on UKCIP 20098 weather projects, to
ensure that this organisation’s obligations under
the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation
Reporting Requirements are complied with.

Risks to information are managed and controlled
through the use of the Information Governance
Toolkit.
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Review of effectiveness

Review of Economy, Efficiency and
Effectiveness of the Use of Resources

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors and the executive
managers within the NHS Foundation Trust who
have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework.
My review of effectiveness is also informed by
the Head of Internal Audit Opinion of Significant
Assurance in relation to internal control and
comments made by the external auditors in their
management letter and other reports.

The Foundation Trust’s financial plan, which was
submitted to Monitor, Independent Regulator of
Foundation Trusts, included a planned surplus
of £3.8million for the period from 1 April
2009 to March 31st 2010. This plan included a
savings target of £4.9million (described within
the organisation as the cost improvement
programme target) which has been delivered in
the year. The actual surplus delivered by the Trust
for the year ended 31 March 2010 is £4million,
which marginally exceeds the plans submitted to
Monitor at the start of the financial year and as
forecast in the Trust’s Annual Plan for 2009-2010.

I have also received independent auditor
assurance provided on behalf of NHS Shared
Business Services Ltd clients confirming the
robustness and effectiveness of controls
associated with the shared financial services
provided to the Trust.

The resources of the Foundation Trust are
managed within the framework set by the
Standing Financial Instructions and various
guidance documents that are produced within
the Foundation Trust which have a particular
emphasis on budgetary control and ensuring
the service developments are implemented with
appropriate financial controls.

I have been advised on the implications of the
result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the board and
the audit committee and a plan to address
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement
of the system is in place.

The Board of Directors receives a comprehensive
finance report on a monthly basis incorporating
all relevant financial information including future
projections to allow them to discharge their
duties effectively.

There have been no significant gaps in control to
report in this statement.

The Foundation Trust also provides financial
information to Monitor, the independent
Regulator of Foundation Trusts on a quarterly
basis inclusive of financial tables and a
commentary.
The financial results and performance against the
relevant Governance rating metrics is reported
to the Governors’ Council and is discussed in
detail on a quarterly basis at the Governors’
Compliance with Authorisation Sub-Committee.
The resource and financial governance
arrangements are further supported by both
internal and external audit to secure economic,
efficient and effective use of the resources the
Foundation Trust has at its disposal.
Clinical Divisions and other corporate functions
are explicitly made responsible for the delivery of
financial and other performance targets through
a system of Performance Targets which are
agreed as part of the annual business planning
cycle and monitored through a series of meetings
led by the Director of Finance.
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Annual Quality Report

• In Quarter 3 (2009-2010) the Trust introduced
a comprehensive monthly audit of ward based
Clinical Nursing Care Indicators which are
reported to and reviewed by the Board on a
quarterly basis from January 2010.

The Directors are required under the Health Act
2009 and the National Health Service (Quality
Accounts) Regulations 2010 to prepare Quality
Accounts for each financial year. Monitor has
issued guidance to NHS Foundation Trust
boards on the form and content of annual
Quality Reports which incorporate the above
legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual.

• The Trust has engaged Governors, PCT
Commissioners and LINks in the preparation of
the Quality Accounts of this Trust.
• The Trust engaged Governors in conducting
Privacy and Dignity Audits, as well as the
introduction of Patient Experience Trackers,
which give real time patient feedback from
both inpatient and outpatient areas..

The following steps have been put in place
to assure the Board that the Quality Report
presents a balanced view and that there are
appropriate controls in place to ensure the
accuracy of data.

• The Trust continues to work with a range
of Community Groups such as Warrington
Older People’s Forum and Runcorn Residents
Association, as well as self help groups such
as Diabetes UK and Breathe Easy, in order to
ensure the Patient experience is integral to
planning and review of services and informs
where improvements are targeted.

• The Trust has reviewed the Strategic Objectives
and agreed two objectives focussing on
quality and safety and patient experience,
these being: 1) Ensure all patients are safe
in our care and 2) Give our patients the best
possible experience.

• Each Executive Director accepted responsibility
for an element of the Quality Report and
Accounts. They were each responsible for
validation of all data and explanatory text
within that section. This was overseen by a
Steering Group of Executive Directors; a NonExecutive Director; Senior Managers and LINks
representative.

• The Board has appointed the Director of
Nursing to lead, and advise it, on all matters
relating to the preparation of the Trust’s
annual Quality Account for 2009-2010
• In May 2010, the Board established a Quality
Improvement Committee which will provide
ongoing assurance and drive the delivery of
the Trust’s quality improvement strategy and
performance targets described in the annual
Quality Report and Accounts.

• The patient focus was championed by the
Patient Experience Group, consisting of staff;
patients; Governors and Lay members who
gave a valuable perspective on content;
language and presentation.

• During 2009-2010 the Trust took part in
the Leading Improvement in Patient Safety
initiative, run by the NHS Institute, the output
of which has resulted in the development of
the patient safety and quality improvement
dashboard which is now routinely reported to
and reviewed by the Board.
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The processes established to maintain and
review the effectiveness of the systems of
internal control in relation to the Quality
Report include:
• The Trust meets monthly with the PCT to
specifically discuss performance against
quality improvement performance measures
contained within the Contract for Healthcare
services. The Trust has received confirmation
from the Lead Commissioner that they will
provide a corroborative statement on the
Quality Report and Accounts.
• The Annual Internal Audit programme agreed
by the Audit Committee includes a review
of elements of the systems, processes and
performance metrics which are included in or
support the preparation of the annual Quality
Account.
• The 2010-2011 internal audit plan agreed by
the Audit Committee specifically includes the
review of Quality Metrics reporting.
While the 2009-2010 Quality Report and
Accounts reflects the contribution Governors
have made throughout the year, their close
involvement with the 2009-2010 document was
not as comprehensive as we would have liked
because of the tight timescales. This will be
addressed for 2010-2011.

Conclusion
In conclusion, I can confirm that during the
period 1st April 2009 to 31st March 2010 no
significant internal control issues have been
identified and that the Quality Accounts are
fairly stated.

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive
2nd June 2010
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Foreword to the accounts for the
period 1st April 2009 to 31 March
2010 				

Independent auditor’s report to the
Governors’ Council of Warrington
and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

I have audited the financial statements of
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust for the year / period ended 31 March 2010
under the National Health Service Act 2006. The
financial statements comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial
Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’
Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the
related notes. These financial statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out
within them.

These accounts for the period ended 31st March
2010 have been prepared by the Warrington and
Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust under a
direction issued by Monitor in accordance with
Schedule 7, sections 24 and 25 of the National
Health Services Act 2006.

I have also audited the information in the
Remuneration Report that is subject to audit, being:

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive
2nd June 2010

• the table of salaries and allowances of senior
managers and related narrative notes on page
87; and
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers
and related narrative notes on page 88.
This report is made solely to the Governors’
Council of Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust as a body in accordance with
paragraph 24(5) of Schedule 7 of the National
Health Service Act 2006. My work was undertaken
so that I might state to the Governors’ Council
those matters I am required to state to it in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. In those
circumstances, to the fullest extent permitted by
law, I do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Foundation Trust as a body,
for my audit work, for the audit report or for the
opinions I form.

Respective responsibilities of the
Accounting Officer and auditor
The Accounting Officer’s responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements in accordance
with directions made by the Independent
Regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts (Monitor) are
set out in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s
Responsibilities.
My responsibility is to audit the financial
statements in accordance with statute, the Audit
Code for NHS Foundation Trusts and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). I report
to you my opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view in accordance
with the accounting policies directed by Monitor as
being relevant to NHS Foundation Trusts.
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I report whether the financial statements and the
part of the Remuneration Report to be audited
have been properly prepared in accordance with
the accounting policies directed by Monitor
as being relevant to NHS Foundation Trusts. I
also report to you whether, in my opinion, the
information which comprises the commentary
on the financial performance included within the
Directors’ Report and, included in the Annual
Report, is consistent with the financial statements.

I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain
all the information and explanations which I
considered necessary in order to provide me with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance
that:
• the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
other irregularity or error; and
• the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report subject to audit have
been properly prepared.

I review whether the Accounting Officer’s
Statement on Internal Control reflects compliance
with the requirements of Monitor contained
in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting
Manual 2009-10. I report if it does not meet
the requirements specified by Monitor or if the
statement is misleading or inconsistent with
other information I am aware of from my audit
of the financial statements. I am not required
to consider, nor have I considered, whether the
Accounting Officer’s statement on internal control
covers all risks and controls. Neither am I required
to form an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Trust’s corporate governance procedures or its
risk and control procedures.

In forming my opinion I also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information
in the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report subject to audit.

Opinion
In my opinion:
• the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of Warrington and
Halton Hospitals Foundation Trust as at 31st
March 2010 and of its income and expenditure
for the year then ended in accordance with the
accounting policies adopted by the Trust;

I read the other information contained in the
Annual Report and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited financial statements.
This other information comprises the Chairman’s
Statement, Directors’ Report, the sections on
the Governors’ Council, the Board of Directors,
Foundation Trust membership and the un-audited
part of the Remuneration Report. I consider the
implications for my report if I become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies
with the financial statements. My responsibilities
do not extend to any other information.

• the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report subject to audit has
been properly prepared in accordance with
the accounting policies directed by Monitor as
being relevant to NHS Foundation Trusts; and
• information which comprises the commentary
on the financial performance included within the
Directors’ Report, the Chairman’s Statement, the
sections on the Governors Council, the Board of
Directors, and Foundation Trust membership,
included in the annual report, is consistent with
the financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion

Certificate

I conducted my audit in accordance with the
National Health Service Act 2006 and the
Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued
by Monitor, which requires compliance with
International Standards on Auditing (United
Kingdom and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination,
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements and the part of the Remuneration
Report subject to audit. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and
judgments made by the directors in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the Trust’s circumstances, consistently applied
and adequately disclosed.

I certify that I have completed the audit of the
accounts in accordance with the requirements
of the National Health Service Act 2006 and the
Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued by
Monitor.

Julian Farmer
Officer of the Audit Commission First Floor Block 4
The Heath Technical and Business Park
Runcorn
WA74QF
2 June 2010
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31st March 2010
2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

2
3.1

194,538
(186,684)
7,854

62,611
(59,825)
2,786

5
6.1

24
(246)
0
(3,622)
(3,844)

25
(167)
0
(1,429)
(1,571)

Corporation tax expense
Surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations

0
4,010

0
1,215

Surplus/(deficit) of discontinued operations and the gain/(loss) on
disposal of discontinued operations
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR

0
4,010

0
1,215

0
0
(8,240)
0

0
0
0
0

0

0

0
(147)

100
(47)

0
0
0
(4,377)
0
(4,377)

0
0
0
1,268
0
1,268

0
4,010
4,010

0
1,215
1,215

0
(4,377)
(4,377)

0
1,268
1,268

NOTE
Operating Income from continuing operations
Operating Expenses of continuing operations
OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
FINANCE COSTS
Finance Income
Finance expense - financial liabilities
Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions
PDC Dividends payable
NET FINANCE COSTS

Other comprehensive income
Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures
Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses on intangible assets
Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses property, plant and equipment
Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses arising from
classifying non current assets as Assets Held for Sale
Fair Value gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial investments
Recycling gains/(losses) on Available-for-sale financial investments
Increase in the donated asset reserve due to receipt of donated assets
Reduction in the donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation,
impairment, and/or disposal of on donated assets
Additions/(reduction) in "Other reserves"
Other recognised gains and losses
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE PERIOD
Prior period adjustments
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR

20

Note: Allocation of Profits/(Losses) for the period:
(a) Surplus/(Deficit) for the period attributable to :
(i) minority interest, and
(ii) owners of the parent
TOTAL
(b) total comprehensive income/(expense) for the period
attributable to:
(i) minority interest, and
(ii) owners of the parent
TOTAL
Comparative figures included within the Accounts in respect of the period ending
31st March 2009 are part year figures only and relate to the first year the Trust operated as a
Foundation Trust which was 1st December 2008 to 31st March 2009.
The notes on pages 105 to 125 form part of these accounts.			
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Statement of financial position as at 31st March 2010
31st March
2010

31st March
2009

1st
December
2008

£000

£000

£000

109
116,855
0
0
0
1,231
0
0
0
118,195

0
125,885
0
0
0
1,265
0
0
0
127,150

2,604
6,624
0
0
0
9,671
18,899

2,403
8,381
0
0
0
6,748
17,532

(12,390)
(900)
0
(1,590)
(3,434)
(2,595)
0
(20,909)

(15,024)
(2,332)
0
(550)
(3,268)
(2,085)
0
(23,259)

(24,837)

116,185

121,423

121,806

0
(2,250)
0
(1,314)
0
(1,054)
(4,618)

0
(3,150)
0
(1,190)
0
(1,139)
(5,479)

(1,238)
(7,130)

Total assets employed

111,567

115,944

114,676

Financed by (taxpayers' equity)
Minority Interest
Public dividend capital
Revaluation reserve
Donated Asset reserve
Available for sale investments reserve
Other reserves
Merger reserve
Pensions reserve
Income and expenditure reserve
Total taxpayers' equity

0
75,950
28,009
1,239
0
0
0
0
6,369
111,567

0
75,950
37,066
1,386
0
0
0
0
1,542
115,944

0
75,950
37,066
1,333

NOTE
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment Property
Investments in associates (and joined controlled operations)
Other Investments
Trade and other receivables
Other Financial assets
Tax receivable
Other assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Tax receivable
Non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal groups
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

7.1
8.1

14.1

13
14.1
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Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Provisions
Tax payable
Other liabilities
Liabilities in disposal groups
Total current liabilities

15
17
19
15
16

Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Provisions
Tax payable
Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

15
17
19
15
16

20

The primary financial statements on pages 100 to 125 and the notes on
pages 105 to 125 were approved by the Board of Directors on 2nd June 2010
and signed on its behalf by Catherine Beardshaw, Chief Executive
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123,485

1,014

124,499

2,404
10,227

9,513
22,144

(14,305)
(3,834)
0
(1,070)
(3,200)
(2,428)

(5,065)
(827)

327
114,676

Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity
Total Minority
Public Revaluation Donated
Other Income and
Interest dividend
reserve
asset reserves expenditure
capital
reserve
reserve
(PDC)
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2009 as previously stated
Prior Period Adjustment
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2009 restated
At start of period for new FTs
Surplus/(deficit) for the year/(period)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

115,944

0

75,950

37,066

1,386

0

1,542

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

115,944

0

75,950

37,066

1,386

0

1,542

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4,010

0

0

0

0

0

0

(8,240)

0

0

0

4,010

Share of comprehensive income
from associates and joint ventures

0

Revaluation gains/(losses) and
impairment losses on tangibles

0

Revaluation gains/(losses) and
impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment

(8,240)

0

Fair value gains/(losses) on availablefor-sale financial investments

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Recycling gains/(losses) on availablefor-sale financial investments

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Increase in the donated asset reserve
due to receipt of donated assets

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Reduction in the donated asset
reserve in respect of depreciation,
impairment, and/or disposal of
donated assets

(147)

(147)

Additions/(reductions) in 'Other
reserves'

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other recognised gains and losses

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined
benefit pension schemes

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Transfers to the income and
expenditure account in respect of
assets disposed of

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Transfer of the excess of current
cost depreciation over historical
cost depreciation to the Income and
Expenditure Reserve

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Public Dividend Capital received

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Public Dividend Capital repaid

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Public Dividend Capital repayable
(creditor)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Public Dividend Capital written off

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other transfers between reserves

0

0

0

(817)

0

0

817

Movements on other reserves

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6,369

Taxpayers' Equity at
31 March 2010

111,567

0

75,950
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28,009

1,239

Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity continued
Total Minority
Public Revaluation Donated
Other Income and
Interest dividend
reserve
asset reserves expenditure
capital
reserve
reserve
(PDC)
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 December
2008 - as previously stated

115,055

0

75,950

37,066

1,333

0

706

(379)

0

0

0

0

0

(379)

114,676

0

75,950

37,066

1,333

0

327

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,215

0

0

0

0

0

1,215

Share of comprehensive income
from associates and joint ventures

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Revaluation gains/(losses) and
impairment losses on tangibles

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Revaluation gains/(losses) and
impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment

0

0

0

0

0

0

Fair value gains/(losses) on availablefor-sale financial investments

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Recycling gains/(losses) on availablefor-sale financial investments

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Increase in the donated asset
reserve due to receipt of donated
assets

100

0

0

0

100

0

0

Reduction in the donated asset
reserve in respect of depreciation,
impairment, and/or disposal of
donated assets

(47)

0

0

0

(47)

0

0

Additions/(reductions) in 'Other
reserves'

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other recognised gains and losses

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined
benefit pension schemes

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Transfers to the income and
expenditure account in resect of
assets disposed of

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Transfer of the excess of current
cost depreciation over historical
cost depreciation to the Income and
Expenditure Reserve

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Public Dividend Capital received

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Public Dividend Capital repaid

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Public Dividend Capital repayable
(creditor)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Public Dividend Capital written off

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other transfers between reserves

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Movements on other reserves

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,542

Prior Period Adjustment Restatement to IFRS
Taxpayers' Equity at 1 December
2008 - restated
At start of period for new FTs
Surplus/(deficit) for the year/(period)

Taxpayers' Equity
at 31 March 2009

115,944

0

75,950
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37,066

1,386

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31st March 2010
2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

7,854
0
7,854

2,786
0
2,786

Non-cash income and expense
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments
Reversals of impairments
Transfer from donated asset reserve
Amortisation of government grants
Amortisation of PFI credit
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions
Tax (paid)/received
Movements in operating cashflow of discontinued operations
Other movements in operating cashflows
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS

6,430
1,183
(1,057)
(147)
0
0
1,791
0
(201)
(2,634)
425
1,164
166
0
109
15,083

2,019
0
0
(47)
0
0
1,595
0
1
507
0
(157)
0
0
0
6,704

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of financial assets
Sales of financial assets
Purchase of intangible assets
Sales of intangible assets
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment
Cash flows attributable to investing activities of discontinued operations
Cash from acquisitions of business units and subsidiaries
Cash from disposals of business units and subsidiaries
Net cash generated from/used in investing activities

24
0
0
(109)
0
(5,766)
0
0
0
0
(5,851)

25
0
0
0
0
(4,419)
0
0
0
0
(4,394)

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received
Public dividend capital repaid
Loans received
Loans repaid
Capital element of finance lease rental payments
Capital element of Private Finance Initiative Obligations
Interest paid
PDC Dividend paid
Cash flows attributable to financing activities of discontinued operations
Cash flows from/(used in) other financing activities
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities

0
0
0
(2,332)
0
0
(246)
(3,731)
0
0
(6,309)

0
0
0
(3,417)
0
0
(229)
(1,429)
0
0
(5,075)

2,923
6,748
9,671

(2,765)
9,513
6,748

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations
Operating surplus/(deficit) from discontinued operations
Operating surplus/(deficit)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March
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Notes to the accounts

1 Accounting Policies

Provisions

Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS
Foundation Trusts shall meet the accounting requirements
of the NHS Foundation Trust Financial Reporting Manual
which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently,
the following financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the 2009-2010 NHS Foundation
Trust Financial Reporting Manual issued by Monitor. The
accounting policies contained in that manual follow
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM
Treasury's Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that
they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation
Trusts. The accounting policies have been applied
consistently in dealing with items considered material in
relation to the accounts.

Pension provisions relating to former employees,
including directors have been estimated using the life
expectancy from the Governments actuarial tables.
Other legal claims provisions relate to employer and
public liability claims and expected costs are advised by
the NHS Litigation Authority.

Provision for impairment of receivables
A provision for impairment of receivables has been made
for amounts which are uncertain to be received from
Non NHS organisations. The provision includes 7.8%
of accrued Injury Cost Recovery (ICR) income to reflect
the average value of claims withdrawn as advised to the
Department of Health by the Compensation Recovery
Unit.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the NHS
Foundation Trust will continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and have therefore continued
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these
accounts.

Provision for SAS Doctors
SAS Doctors back pay provision has been estimated based
on Doctors in post as at 31st March 2008. Additional
guidance on the calculation has been sought using
Employee Contract Terms and Conditions.

1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical
cost convention modified to account for the revaluation
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
inventories and certain financial assets and financial
liabilities and in accordance with applicable accounting
standards.

Asset Valuations and Lives
The value and remaining useful lives of land and building
assets are estimated by the District Valuers of the HM
Revenue & Customs Government Department. The
valuations are carried out in accordance with the Royal
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and
Valuation Manual insofar as these terms are consistent
with the agreed requirements of the Department
of Health and HM Treasury. In accordance with the
requirements of the Department of Health, the last asset
valuations were undertaken in 2004 as at the prospective
valuation date of 1 April 2005 and were applied on 31
March 2005. Valuations are carried out primarily on the
basis of Depreciated Replacement Cost for specialised
operational property and Existing Use Value for nonspecialised operational property. No building indices have
been applied as research into building costs implies the
fair value of the building has not increased.

1.2 Key Sources of Judgement
and Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies,
management is required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from those estimates and the estimates and underlying
assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

An asset valuation by the District Valuer was undertaken
in 2009 as at the prospective valuation date of 1st April
2010 and was applied on 31st March 2010.
The lives of equipment assets are estimated on historical
experience of similar equipment lives with reference
to national guidance and consideration of the pace of
technological change. Operational equipment is carried
at its cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. Where assets are of low value and/
or have short useful economic lives, these are carried at
depreciated historical cost as a proxy for current value.

The following are the critical judgements that
management have made in the process of applying
the entity’s accounting policies, together with the key
assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Software licences are depreciated over the shorter of the
term of the licence and the useful economic life.
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Employee Benefits

Expenditure on Employee Benefits

Holiday pay earned by employees which they have not
taken at the financial year end, but to which they remain
entitled to is accrued for at the year end. Accruals are
calculated using a sample of Trust employees with each
member of staff in the sample assumed to be on mid
point of their salary band.

Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are
recognised in the period in which the service is received
from employees. The cost of leave entitlement earned
but not taken by employees at the end of the period is
recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the
following period.

1.3 Acquisitions and discontinued operations
Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ where they
meet all of the following conditions:

Pension costs

a the sale (this may be at nil consideration for activities
transferred to another public sector body) or
termination is completed either in the period or before
the earlier of three months after the commencement
of the subsequent period and the date on which the
financial statements are approved;

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions
of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS
Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions

c the sale or termination has a material effect on the
nature and focus of the reporting NHS Foundation
Trust’s operations and represents a material reduction
in its operating facilities resulting either from its
withdrawal from a particular activity or from a material
reduction in income in the NHS Foundation Trust’s
continuing operations; and

The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other
bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of
State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed
to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if
it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the
NHS Body of participating in the scheme is taken as
equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the
accounting period.

d the assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities
are clearly distinguishable, physically, operationally and
for financial reporting purposes.

The scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every
four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting
valuation every year. An outline of these follows:

Operations not satisfying all these conditions are classified
as continuing.

a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

b if a termination, the former activities have ceased
permanently;

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of
liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme
(taking into account its recent demographic experience),
and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by
employers and scheme members. The last such valuation,
which determined current contribution rates was
undertaken as at 31 March 2004 and covered the period
from 1 April 1999 to that date. The conclusion from the
2004 valuation was that the scheme had accumulated a
notional deficit of £3.3 billion against the notional assets
as at 31 March 2004.

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ whether or not
they are acquired from outside the public sector.

1.4 Income
Income in respect of services provided is recognised
when, and to the extent that, performance occurs,
and is measured at the fair value of the consideration
receivable. The main source of income for the Trust is
from commissioners for healthcare services. Income
relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at
the year end are immaterial and therefore excluded from
the accounts.

In order to defray the costs of benefits, employers pay
contributions at 14% of pensionable pay and most
employees had up to April 2008 paid 6%, with manual
staff paying 5%.

Where income is received for a specific activity that is
to be delivered in the following year, that income is
deferred.

Following the full actuarial review by the Government
Actuary undertaken as at 31 March 2004, and after
consideration of changes to the NHS Pension Scheme
taking effect from 1 April 2008, his Valuation report
recommended that employer contributions could
continue at the existing rate of 14% of pensionable
pay, from 1 April 2008, following the introduction of
employee contributions on a tiered scale from 5% up
to 8.5% of their pensionable pay depending on total
earnings. On advice from the scheme actuary, scheme
contributions may be varied from time to time to reflect
changes in the scheme’s liabilities.

The Trust receives income under the NHS Injury Cost
Recovery Scheme, designed to reclaim the cost of treating
injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation
has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The Trust
recognises the income when it receives notification from
the Department of Work and Pension’s Compensation
Recovery Unit that the individual has lodged a
compensation claim. The income is measured at the
agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured
individual, less a provision for unsuccessful compensation
claims and doubtful debts.
Other operating income is recognised when, and to the
extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at
the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main
source of this income is from Strategic Health Authorities,
Primary Care Trusts, NHS Trusts and Borough Councils.

b) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually
by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting
period by updating the results of the full actuarial
valuation.
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Between the full actuarial valuations at a two-year
midpoint, a full and detailed member data-set is provided
to the scheme actuary. At this point the assumptions
regarding the composition of the scheme membership are
updated to allow the scheme liability to be valued.

Transfer between Funds

The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2010,
is based on detailed membership data as at 31 March
2008 (the latest midpoint) updated to 31 March 2010
with summary global member and accounting data.

Preserved Benefits

Scheme members have the option to transfer their
pension between the NHS Pension Scheme and another
scheme when they move into or out of NHS employment.
Where a scheme member ceases NHS employment with
more than two years service they can preserve their
accrued NHS pension for payment when they reach
retirement age.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is
contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales)
Resource Account, published annually. These accounts
can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

Compensation for Early Retirement
Where a member of the Scheme is made redundant they
may be entitled to early receipt of their pension plus
enhancement, at the employer’s cost.

c) Scheme provisions

1.6 Expenditure on other goods and services

In 2008-09 the NHS Pension Scheme provided defined
benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an
illustrative guide only, and is not intended to detail all
the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific
conditions that must be met before these benefits can be
obtained.

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when,
and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset
such as property, plant and equipment or an intangible
asset.

Annual Pensions

1.7 Intangible assets

The Scheme is a ‘final salary’ scheme. Annual pensions
are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and
of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for
each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of
reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who
are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations
have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable
earnings over the relevant pensionable service.

Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without
physical substance, which are capable of sale separately
from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from
contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust;
where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and
where the cost is at least £5000.

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to
give up some of their annual pension for an additional
tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted
under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as
‘pension commutation’.

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the
operating of hardware, for example an operating system,
is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property,
plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the
operation of hardware, for example application software,
is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on
research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Pensions Indexation
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at
rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are
based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months
ending 30 September in the previous calendar year.

Lump Sum Allowance

Measurement

A lump sum is payable on retirement which is normally
three times the annual pension payment.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost,
comprising all directly attributable costs needed to
create, produce and prepare the asset to the point this
it is capable of operating in the manner intended by
management.

Ill-Health Retirement
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement in certain
circumstances, is available to members of the Scheme
who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties or
regular employment effectively through illness or infirmity.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value.
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are
recognised in the revaluation reserve, excepts where,
and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment
previously recognised in operating expenses, in which
case they are recognised as operating income. Decreases
in asset values and impairments are charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available
balance for the for the asset concerned, and thereafter
are charged to operating expenses. Gains and losses
recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other
comprehensive income’.

Death Benefits
A death gratuity of twice their final year’s pensionable
pay for death in service, and five times their annual
pension for death after retirement is payable.

Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs)
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS
Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run
by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free
Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC)
providers.
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1.8 Property, plant and equipment

Trusts must apply these new valuation requirements by 1
April 2010 at the latest.

Recognition

An asset valuation by the District Valuer was undertaken
in 2009 as at the prospective valuation date of 1st April
2010 and was applied on 31st March 2010.

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• it is held for use in delivering services or for
administrative purposes;

Properties in the course of construction for service or
administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but
not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses
immediately, as allowed by International Accounting
Standard (IAS) 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are
revalued and depreciation commences when they are
brought into use.					

• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to,
or service potential will be supplied to, the Trust;
• it is expected to be used for more than one financial
year;
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
• the item has cost of at least £5,000; or
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least
£5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250,
where the assets are functionally interdependent,
they have broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and
are under single managerial control; or

Until 31 March 2008, fixtures and equipment were
carried at replacement cost, as assessed by indexation
and depreciation of historic cost. From 1 April 2008
indexation has ceased. The carrying value of existing
assets at that date will be written off over their remaining
useful lives and new fixtures and equipment are carried
at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be
materially different from fair value.

• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up
cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of
their individual or collective cost.

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the
revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment
for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure,
in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent
of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation
decrease is recognised as an impairment charged to
the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter,
to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the
revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other
comprehensive income’.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a
number of components with significantly different asset
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and
depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially
at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. All
assets are measured subsequently at fair value.

Subsequent expenditure

Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services or for
administrative purposes are stated in the statement of
financial position at their revalued amounts, being the
fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Professional valuations are carried out by the District
Valuers of the HM Revenue & Customs Government
Department. The valuations are carried out in accordance
with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS)
Appraisal and Valuation Manual insofar as these terms
are consistent with the agreed requirements of the
Department of Health and HM Treasury. In accordance
with the requirements of the Department of Health, the
last asset valuations were undertaken in 2004 as at the
prospective valuation date of 1 April 2005 and were
applied on 31 March 2005. Revaluations are performed
with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts
are not materially different from those that would be
determined at the balance sheet date. Fair values are
determined as follows:

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond
its original specification, the directly attributable cost is
added to the asset’s carrying value. Where a component
of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is
capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above.
The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised.

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated at rates calculated
to write them down to estimated residual value on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. No
depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets
surplus to requirements.
Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated
until the asset is brought into operational use.
Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on
their current value over the estimated remaining life of
the asset as assessed by the NHS Foundation Trust’s
professional valuers. Leaseholds are depreciated over the
primary lease term.

Land and non specialised buildings - market value for
existing use.

Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the
estimated life.

Specialised buildings - depreciated replacement cost.
Until 31 March 2008, the depreciated replacement cost
of specialised buildings has been estimated for an exact
replacement of the asset in its present location. HM
Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated
replacement cost valuations based on modern
equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location
requirements of the service being provided, an alternative
site can be valued. HM Treasury has agreed that NHS

Minimum Maximum
Life
Life
Buildings excluding dwellings
16
46
Dwellings
27
43
Plant and Machinery
5
15
Information Technology
5
8
Furniture and Fittings
7
10
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The Trust as lessee

At each reporting period end, the Trust checks whether
there is any indication that any of its tangible assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an
impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated to determine whether there has been a loss
and, if so, its amount.

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases
are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease,
at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for
the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of
the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are recognised in calculating the Trust’s surplus/
deficit.

If there has been an impairment loss, the asset is written
down to its recoverable amount, with the loss charged
to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but
capped at the amount that would have been determined
had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal
of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the
extent of the decrease previously charged there and
thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and
subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the
period in which they are incurred.

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are
recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and
to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are
recognised in operating income.

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and
building components are separated. Leased land is
treated as an operating lease. Leased buildings are
assessed as to whether they are operating or finance
leases.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as
an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.

1.13 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula.
This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to
fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.

1.10 Donated assets
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair
value on receipt, with a matching credit to the donated
asset reserve. They are valued, depreciated and impaired
as described above for purchased assets. Gains and
losses on revaluations and impairments are taken to the
donated asset reserve and, each year, an amount equal
to the depreciation charge on the asset is released from
the donated asset reserve to the income and expenditure
account. Similarly, any impairment on donated assets
charged to the income and expenditure account is
matched by a transfer from the donated asset reserve. On
sale of donated assets, the net book value is transferred
from the donated asset reserve to the Income and
Expenditure Reserve.

1.14 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at
the current value. Interest earned on bank accounts
and interest charged on overdrafts are recorded as,
respectively, Finance Income (interest receivable) and
Finance Expense (interest payable) in the periods to which
they relate. Bank charges are recorded as operating
expenditure in the periods to which they relate. Balances
exclude monies held in bank accounts belonging to
patients (Note 21.1 Third Party Assets).

1.15 Liquid Resources
Deposits and other investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, at or close to,
their carrying amounts, are treated as liquid resources
in the cash flow statement. The NHS Foundation Trust
does not hold any investments with maturity dates
exceeding one year from the date of purchase. The
maximum investment period of the NHS Foundation Trust
is 3 months, which complies with the Trust’s Treasury
Management Policy.

1.11 Government grants
Government grants are grants from Government bodies
other than Income from Primary Care Trusts or NHS Trusts
for the provision of services. Grants from the Department
of Health, including those for achieving three star status,
are accounted for as Government grants, as are grants
from the Big Lottery Fund. Where the Government grant
is used to fund revenue expenditure, it is taken to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that
expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund capital
expenditure the Grant is held as deferred income and
released to operating income over the life of the asset in
a manner consistent with the depreciation charge for that
asset.

1.16 Provisions
The NHS Foundation Trust provides for legal or
constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or
amount at the Statement of Financial Position date on the
basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value
of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash
flows are discounted using HM Treasury’s discount rate of
2.2% in real terms.

1.12 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
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1.17 Clinical negligence costs

1.24 Public Dividend Capital
(PDC) and PDC dividend

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk
pooling scheme under which the NHS Foundation Trust
pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA which in return
settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution
is charged to expenditure. Although the NHSLA is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence
cases the legal liability remains with the NHS Foundation
Trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions
carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Foundation Trust is
disclosed at Note 19.1.

Public dividend capital represents taxpayers’ equity in the
NHS Foundation Trust. At any time the Secretary of State
can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC
from, the Trust. PDC is recorded at the value received. As
PDC is issued under legislation rather than under contract,
it is not treated as an equity financial instrument.
An annual charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised
by the Trust, is payable to the Department of Health
as PDC. The charge is calculated at the real rate set by
HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average carrying
amount of all assets less liabilities, except for donated
assets and cash balances held with Government Banking
Services (GBS). The average carrying amount of assets is
calculated as a simple average of opening and closing
relevant net assets. Prior to 2009-2010 the PDC dividend
was determined using forecast average relevant net
assets and a note to the accounts discloses the rate that
the dividend represents as a percentage of the actual
average carrying amount of assets less liabilities in the
year. From 1 April 2009, the dividend payable is based on
the actual average relevant net assets for the year instead
of forecast amounts.

1.18 Non-clinical risk pooling
The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property
Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the
Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation
Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs
of claims arising. The annual membership contributions,
and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims
are charged to operating expenses as and when they
become due.

1.19 Commercial Insurance
The NHS Foundation Trust has also arranged additional
commercial insurance cover to supplement the schemes
in 1.18.

1.25 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament
would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature
they are items that ideally should not arise. They are
therefore subject to special control procedures compared
with the generality of payments. They are divided into
different categories, which govern the way that individual
cases are handled.

1.20 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are
outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does
not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant
functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good
through insurance cover had NHS Trusts not been bearing
their own risks (with insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue expenditure). However, the
note on losses and special payments is compiled directly
from the losses and compensations register which reports
amounts on an accruals basis with the exception of
provisions for future losses.

1.21 Corporation Tax
The introduction of Corporation Tax has been postponed
in respect of Foundation Trusts until 1st April 2011.
However during the period under review, the Trust did
not have any trading accounts, and therefore would have
no Corporation Tax Liability.

1.22 Foreign currencies
The Trust’s functional currency and presentational
currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a foreign
currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate
ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on
31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either
of these are recognised in the Trust’s surplus/deficit in the
period in which they arise.

1.26 Subsidiaries
Material entities over which the Trust has the power
to exercise control so as to obtain economic or other
benefits are classified as subsidiaries and are consolidated.
Their income and expenses; gains and losses; assets,
liabilities and reserves; and cash flows are consolidated
in full into the appropriate financial statement lines.
Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation
where the subsidiary’s accounting policies are not aligned
with the Trust’s or where the subsidiary’s accounting date
is before 1 January or after 30 June.

1.23 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on
behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts
since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. Details
of third party assets are given in Note 21.1 to the
accounts.

Subsidiaries that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount or ‘fair
value less costs to sell’.
For 2009-2010, in accordance with the directed
accounting policy from the Secretary of State, the Trust
does not consolidate the NHS charitable funds for which
it is the corporate trustee.
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1.27 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Other financial liabilities

Recognition

All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate
that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
of the financial liability.

Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from
contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in
accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust’s normal
purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised
when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e.
when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts
payable more than 12 months after the Statement of
Financial Position date, which are classified as non current
liabilities.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

De-recognition

Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
is calculated using the effective interest method and
charged to the income and expenditure account.

All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the
NHS Foundation Trust has transferred substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership.

Determination of fair value
For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at
fair value, the carrying amounts are determined from
any of quoted market prices, independent appraisals or
discounted cash flow analysis.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation
is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and Measurement

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through
Income and Expenditure’, Loans and receivables or
Available for Sale financial assets.

At the balance sheet date, the Trust assesses whether
any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value
through income and expenditure’ are impaired. Financial
assets are impaired and impairment losses are recognised
if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as
a result of one or more events which occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.

Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Fair value through
Income and Expenditure’ or as ‘Other Financial liabilities’.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘Fair
Value through Income and Expenditure’
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value
through income and expenditure’ are financial assets or
financial liabilities held for trading. The NHS Foundation
Trust does not hold any of this particular class.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the revised future cash flows discounted at
the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments which are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in current
assets.

1.28 Accounting standards that have been
issued but have not yet been adopted

The NHS Foundation Trust’s loans and receivables
comprise: Cash at bank and in hand, NHS receivables,
accrued income and other receivables.

No accounting standards have been issued during the
period which the Trust has decided not to adopt.

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts
exactly estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset or, when appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

1.29 Accounting standards issued
that have been adopted early

Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the
effective interest method and credited to the income and
expenditure account.

In accordance with the Government’s timetable for the
NHS to move its reporting from UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles to International Financial Reporting
Standards, this is the first time the Trust has presented its
accounts under the IFRS convention.

No accounting standards have been issued which the
Trust has decided to adopt early.

1.30 First time adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Available-for-sale financial assets
The NHS Foundation Trust does hold any of this class of
assets.
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2. Operating Income
2.1 Income from Activities
Mandatory Income
Elective income
Non elective income
Outpatient income
A&E income
Other NHS clinical income
Non Mandatory Income
Private patient income
Other non-protected clinical income *
TOTAL INCOME FROM ACTIVITIES

2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

35,789
72,093
29,480
8,014
31,294

12,225
23,754
10,799
2,719
7,414

62
1,803
178,535

42
515
57,468

*Other non-protected clinical income relates to the income received from the
Compensation Recovery Unit.

2.2 Private patient income

Private patient income
Total patient related income
Proportion (as percentage)

2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

2002-03
£000

62
178,538
0.03%

42
57,468
0.07%

269
129,162
0.21%

To comply with the NHS Foundation Trust's Terms of Authorisation as a Foundation Trust and section 44 of the
2006 Act, the NHS Foundation Trust must ensure that the income received from treating private patients during
the year does not exceed a cap of 0.2% of the total income from activities earned whilst the body was an NHS
Trust in 2002-2003. The NHS Foundation Trust is therefore compliant with its obligation in this respect.

2.3 Operating Income by type

Primary Care Trusts
Department of Health - other
NHS Other
Non NHS: Private patients
NHS injury scheme
Non NHS: Other
TOTAL

2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

176,001
0
669
62
1,803
0
178,535

53,025
3,724
162
42
515
0
57,468

2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

6,579
147

2,391
47

2,864
6,413
16,003

1,075
1,630
5,143

Other Operating Income

Education and training
Transfers from the donated asset reserve in respect of
depreciation, impairment and disposal of donated assets
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other
TOTAL

Other operating income of £6,413 includes: Staff Recharges £2.7m, IT Funding £951k, car parking
£907k, clinical tests £498k, Catering £263k, Estate Recharges £204k, and other misc income of £890k.

Total Income
Total Income from Activities
Total Other Operating Income

2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

178,535
16,003
194,538

57,468
5,143
62,611

In 2008-2009 income relating the Market Forces Factor was paid by the Department
of Health and in 2009-2010, it was paid directly by Primary Care Trusts.
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2.5 Operating Segments
The Trust has only one operating segment - Provision of
Healthcare and has reported all activities as such.

2.6. Operating Lease income
The Trust has received £52k during the year in respect of
rental income.

3.1 Operating expenses

Services from NHS Trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies
Employee Expenses - Executive directors
Employee Expenses - Non-executive directors
Employee Expenses - Staff
Drug costs
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs)
Supplies and services - general
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Increase / (decrease) in bad debt provision
Depreciation on Property Plant and Equipment
Impairments of Property Plant and Equipment
Reversal of impairments -Property Plant and Equipment
Audit Fees
audit services - statutory audit
Clinical negligence
Other
TOTAL

2009-10
Total
£000

2008-09
Total
£000

108
302
929
118
134,562
8,420
15,712
2,911
2,196
1,527
7,881
25
6,430
1,183
(1,057)

15
245
358
39
44,239
753
5,778
1,005
705
524
3,354
0
2,019
0
0

64
3,512
1,861
186,684

84
682
25
59,825

Other operating expenses includes Legal fees of £237k (£238k in 2008-2009) Consultancy fees of £350k (£157k in
2008-2009) Training and Education of £563k (£223k in 2008-2009) and Insurance of £98k (£37k in 2008-2009).

3.2 Arrangements containing an operating lease

Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Less sublease payments received

2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

258
0
0
258

128
0
0
128

2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

154
386
1,794
2,334
0

4
85
171
260
0

3.3 Arrangements containing an operating lease

Future minimum lease payments due:
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years
TOTAL
TOTAL of future minimum sublease payments to be
received as at 31st March 2009
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The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) ACT 1998
There were no payments made under this legislation.

Better Payment Practice Code - measure of compliance

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the period
Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the period
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

2009-10
Number

£000

2008-09
Number

£000

66,740
56,171
84%

50,276
43,202
86%

23,231
21,592
93%

18,476
16,943
92%

3,556
1,951
55%

21,600
14,211
66%

1,096
679
62%

6,049
3,728
62%

As a NHS Foundation Trust there is no statutory requirement to achieve a target of 95% of invoices paid within
30 days. The Trust however considers this to be good practice and monitors its progress against the 95% target.

4. Employee Expenses
4.1 Staff costs
2009-10

2008-09

Permanently
Total
Employed
£000
£000
Salaries and Wages
Social Security Costs
Pension costs - defined
contribution plans Employer
contributions to NHS Pensions
Agency Contract Staff

Agency
Contract
Staff
£000

Permanently
Total
Employed
£000
£000

Agency
Contract
Staff
£000

104,953
7,385
10,838

104,953
7,385
10,838

0
0
0

33,871
2,258
3,333

33,871
2,258
3,333

0
0
0

12,315
135,491

0
123,176

12,315
12,315

5,135
44,597

0
39,462

5,135
5,135

2008-09
Permanently
Total
Employed
Number
Number

Other
Number

4.2 Average number of persons employed
2009-10
Permanently
Total
Employed
Number
Number
Medical and Dental
Administration and Estates
Healthcare Assistants and
other support staff
Nursing, Midwifery and
health visiting staff
Scientific, therapeutic and
technical staff
Bank and Agency Staff
Other
Total

Other
Number

336
713
668

336
713
668

0
0
0

326
696
731

326
696
731

0
0
0

1,060

1,060

0

941

941

0

481

481

0

474

474

0

164
0
3,422

0
0
3,258

164
0
164

0
186
3,354

0
0
3,168

0
186
186
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4.3 Employee benefits

A total of £8,240k has been charged to the revaluation
reserve and £1,183k to Impairment of Property Plant and
Equipment within operating expenses.		

An accrual in respect of annual leave entitlement carried
forward at the balance sheet date of £539k has been
provided for within the accounts.

During 2007-2008 the Trust impaired 6 building blocks
on the North Lodge area of the Warrington site which
were due to be demolished.

(£676k as at 31st March 2009). No other employee
benefits were made during the period.

During 2008-2009, 3 of the buildings listed in the
original impairment review were demolished in
accordance with the plan but as at the 31st March 2010
the 3 blocks remain standing.

4.4 Early Retirements due to ill-health
6 Members of staff retired early on ill health grounds
during the year at an additional cost of £193,155 (0, £0
for the period 1st December 2008 to 31st March 2009).
These retirements represent 1.63 per 1,000 active scheme
members. The cost of ill health retirements are borne by
the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.

Although the Trust did have plans in place to demolish
these 3 buildings in the future, no firm date has been
arranged, and the buildings are currently being used for
the foreseeable future, in the same capacity that they
were being used at the time of the original impairment.

4.5 Directors Remuneration and other benefits

Directors Remuneration
Employer Contributions
to NHS Pension Scheme
No of directors to whom
benefits are currently
accruing under the NHS
Pension Scheme

2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

851
102

338
13

7

7

The original entries made at the time of impairment
during the 2007-2008 accounts, in respect of the 3
buildings remaining standing have been reversed to
reinstate the buildings back onto the Trusts asset register
with a further entry being made to ensure that the
values placed on the buildings by the district valuer are
reflected in the Trust asset register at the year end.
A total of £1,057k has been debited to Property Plant
and Equipment in respect of the reversal of the original
impairment and £1,057k credited to operating expenses.
A total of £192k has been charged to the revaluation
reserve and £69k to operating expenses to restate the
building blocks to their current value.

5 Finance Income

Overall a net figure of £126k has been charged to
Operating Expenses in respect of impairment of assets.		
					

During the year, 2009-2010, the Trust received £23k
from cash deposited in accounts held with GBS (£25k
2008-2009). Additional interest was received during
the year 2009-2010 of £1k as a result of the Trust
investing £1m in a Barclays Business Premium account in
accordance with its current Treasury Management Policy.

6.1 Finance Expense
The Trust incurred Finance Expenses during the period
on the following Loans as detailed below;

Working Capital Loan
Capital Loan

2009-10
£000
60
186
246

2008-09
£000
87
80
167

6.2 Impairment of Assets
As a result of the recent valuation undertaken by the
District Valuer, Land and Buildings have suffered an
impairment loss, i.e. a reduction in value, the overall total
of which amounts to £14,657k. In addition, some Land
and Buildings have increased in value totalling £5,234.
The net effect of these changes in values amounts to an
overall decrease in value of Trust Buildings of £9,423k.
The appropriate asset has been written down to its
recoverable amount within the balance sheet, with the
loss charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent
that there is a balance on the reserve for that asset and,
thereafter, to expenditure - Impairment of Property Plant
and Equipment.
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Information technology
(internally generated)

Development expenditure
(internally generated)

Other (purchased)

Other (internally generated

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Gross cost at 1 April 2009
Impairments charged to
revaluation reserve
Reclassifications
Revaluation surplus
Additions - purchased
Additions - donated
Disposals
Gross cost at 31 March 2010
Amortisation at 1st April 2009
Provided during the year
Impairments recognised in the
income and expenditure account
Reversal of impairments recognised
in the income and expenditure
account
Reclassifications
Revaluation surplus
Disposals
Amortisation at 31 March 2009
Net book value
NBV - Purchased at 1 April 2009
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2009
NBV total at 1 April 2009
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0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Net book value
NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2010
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2010
NBV total at 31 March 2010

109

109

109

109

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0
109
0
0
109
0
0
0

109

0

0
0
0
0
0

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed
to create, produce and prepare the asset to the point this it is capable of operating in the manner
intended by management.
Subsequently intangible assets are measured at fair value. Increases in asset values arising from
revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, excepts where, and to the extent that, they
reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised
as operating income. Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve
to the extent that there is an available balance for the for the asset concerned, and thereafter are
charged to operating expenses. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’. Intangible assets
are depreciated over the economic life of the asset.

7.2 Economic Life of Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are depreciated
over the economic life of the asset.

Intangible Assets Under
Construction

Patents (purchased)

£000

£000
0

Goodwill

Licences & trademarks
(purchased)

£000

Total

Software licences
(purchased)

7.1 Intangible Assets

Minimum Life
Years
5

Maximum Life
Years
5
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Total

Land

Buildings excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
Construction

Plant &
Machinery

Transport
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture & Fittings

8.1 Property Plant and Equipment

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Cost or valuation at 1st April 2009
Additions - purchased
Additions - donated
Impairments charged to revaluation
reserve
Reclassifications
Revaluation surpluses
Disposals
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2010
Depreciation at 1st April 2009
Provided during the year
Impairments recognised in operating
expenses
Reversal of impairments
Reclassifications
Other revaluations
Disposals
Depreciation at 31 March 20110
Net book value
NBV - Purchased at 1 April 2009
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2009
NBV total at 1 April 2009

141,781 23,669 87,368
5,766
4,026
0
(13,474) (4,488) (8,986)

1,140

Net book value
NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2010
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2010
NBV total at 31 March 2010

115,616 19,181 80,413
1,239
916
116,855 19,181 81,329

0
845
5,234
5,191
0
139,307 19,181 88,444
15,896
3,295
6,430
3,694
1,183
1,183

0 21,453
1,223

0

6,624
506

1,527
11

78

(776)

(147)
43
1,183
37
37

0 22,529
10,126
1,745

0

7,208
2,081
835

762
357
119

7,115

74

0 11,871

0

2,916

476

124,499 23,669 83,120
1,386
953
125,885 23,669 84,073

1,103

10,905
422
0 11,327

4,543

1,159
11
1,170

(1,057)
0
0
0
22,452

(1,057)

0

1,103

1,109
1,109

10,341
317
0 10,658

0

4,543

4,292
0

4,292

280
6
286

There is no element of land included within buildings or
dwellings in the above classifications.
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1,109

Furniture & Fittings

1,109

19,181

Information
Technology

79,363
1,966
19,181 81,329

99,653
17,202
116,855

Transport Equipment

£000

Plant & Machinery

Dwellings

£000

£000

Assets under
Construction

Buildings excluding
dwellings

£000

Total
NBV - Protected assets at 31.3.1010
NBV - Unprotected assets at 31.3.10
Total at 31 March 2010

Land

8.2 Analysis of Property Plant and Equipment

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

10,658
0 10,658

0

4,292
4,292

286
286

Total

Land

Buildings excluding
dwellings

Dwellings

Assets under
Construction

Plant &
Machinery

Transport
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture
& Fittings

8.3. Property Plant and Equipment 2008-2009

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Cost or valuation at 1st April 2008 137,362 23,669 80,888
Additions - purchased
Additions - donated
4,319
3,183
Impairments
100
100
Reclassifications
0
3,197
Other revaluations
0
Disposals
0
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2009 141,781 23,669 87,368
Depreciation at 1st April 2009
13,877
2,258
Provided during the year
2,019
1,037
Impairments
0
Reversal of impairments
0
Reclassifications
0
Other revaluations
0
Disposals
0
Depreciation at 31 March 2009
15,896
0 3,295

1,597

3,273 20,886

Net book value
NBV -Purchased at 1 April 2008
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2008
NBV total at 1 April 2008

122,052 23,669 77,764
1,433
866
123,485 23,669 78,630

Net book value
NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2009
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2009
NBV total at 31 March 2009

124,499 23,669 83,120
1,386
953
125,885 23,669 84,073

3

340

(460)

(3,613)

567

6,518

531

106

120
876

1,140
35
2

0 21,453
9,419
707

0

6,624
1,833
248

1,527
332
25

37

0 10,126

0

2,081

357

1,562
1,562

1,103
1,103

3,273

11,021
446
3,273 11,467

0

4,685

0

4,685

78
121
199

0 10,905
0
422
0 11,327

0
0
0

4,543
0
4,543

1,159
11
1,170

£000

£000

107,427

23,669

82,655

1,103

18,458
1,418
125,885 23,669 84,073
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1,103

Furniture
& Fittings

Assets under
Construction

£000

Information
Technology

Dwellings

£000

Transport Equipment

Buildings excluding
dwellings

£000

Plant &
Machinery

Land

NBV Protected assets at 31 March 2009
NBV Unprotected assets at 31 March 2009
Total at 31 March 2009

Total

8.4. Analysis of Property Plant and Equipment 2008-2009

£000

£000

£000

£000

0

4,543
4,543

1,170
1,170

11,327
0 11,327

8.5 Measurement

8.7 Revaluation

Property, plant and equipment are measured initially
at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. All
assets are measured subsequently at fair value.

Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services or for
administrative purposes are stated in the balance sheet
at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the
date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
A professional valuation was carried out by the District
Valuers of the HM Revenue & Customs Government
Department in 2009 at the prospective valuation date of
1st April 2010 and values applied on 31st March 2010.

Land and buildings used for the Trust’s services or for
administrative purposes are stated in the balance sheet
at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the
date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

For non specialised asset fair value has been determined
from market based evidence.

Land and non specialised buildings - market value for
existing use.

Specialised property, i.e. the Trust Hospital Buildings, have
been valued on a Depreciated Replacement Cost basis
which is the current cost or reproduction or replacement
of an asset less deductions for physical deterioration and
all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation.

Specialised buildings - depreciated replacement cost.
Properties in the course of construction for service or
administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but
not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses
immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair
value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences
when they are brought into use.

9 Net Book value of assets held
under finance leases
The Trust does not hold any assets obtained under
finance leases.

Until 31 March 2008, fixtures and equipment were
carried at replacement cost, as assessed by indexation
and depreciation of historic cost. From 1 April 2008
indexation has ceased. The carrying value of existing
assets at that date will be written off over their
remaining useful lives and new fixtures and equipment
are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not
considered to be materially different from fair value.

10 Fixed Asset Investments
The Trust does not have any Fixed Assets investments.

11 Current Asset Investments
The Trust does not hold any Current Asset Investments.

12 Profit/(Loss) on disposal of fixed assets
The Trust did not dispose of any fixed assets during the
year.

8.6 Depreciation
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated at rates calculated
to write them down to estimated residual value on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. No
depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets
surplus to requirements.

13 Inventories
2009-10 2008-2009
£000
£000

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated
until the asset is brought into operational use.

Materials
TOTAL

2,604
2,604

2,403
2,403

Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on
their current value over the estimated remaining life of
the asset as assessed by the NHS Foundation Trust’s
professional valuers. Leaseholds are depreciated over the
primary lease term.

13.2 Inventories recognised in expenses

Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the
estimated life.

During the year £24m (£22m in 2008-2009) was
recognised as expenditure in respect of inventories.

Buildings excluding dwellings
Dwellings
Plant & Machinery
Information Technology
Furniture and Fittings

Minimum
Life
Years
16
27
5
5
7

Inventories consists of drugs, medical supplies and other
consumable items.

Maximum
Life
Years
46
43
15
8
10
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14.1 Trade and other receivables
2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

3,165
(158)
1,166
0
96
109
2,246
6,624

4,750
(136)
1,008
0
117
0
2,642
8,381

0
(104)
1,335
1,231
7,855

0
(107)
1,372
1,265
9,646

2009-10
£000
243
0
25
(6)
0
262

2008-09
£000
0
243
0
0
0
243

2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

Current
NHS receivables
Provision for impairment of receivables
Prepayments
Corporation Tax Receivable - Relates to VAT
Accrued income
PDC Receivable
Other receivables
Sub Total
Non-current
NHS debtors
Provision for impaired receivables
Other receivables
Sub Total
TOTAL

14.2 Provision for impairment of debtors

At 1 April
At start of period for new FTs
Increase in provision
Amounts utilised
Unused amounts reversed
At 31 March

Note 14.3 Analysis of impaired debtors

Ageing of impaired debtors
Up to three months
0
In three to six months
0
Over six months
262
Total
262
Ageing of non-impaired debtors past their due date
Up to three months
361
In three to six months
336
Over six months
555
Total
1,252

1
2
240
243
4,460
816
453
5,729

15 Trade and other payables

Current
NHS payables
Trade payables capital
Other Trade Payables
Taxes payable
Other payables
Accruals
Total

2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

4,051
874
1,920
3,434
145
5,400
15,824

2,481
2,805
2,528
3,268
122
7,088
18,292
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16 Other liabilities
2009-10
£000

2008-09
£000

Current
Deferred income
Deferred government grant
Net pension scheme liability
Total Other Current Liabilities

671
85
1,839
2,595

307
100
1,678
2,085

Non Current
Deferred income
Deferred government grant
Net pension scheme liability
Total Other Non Current Liabilities

0
1,054
0
1,054

0
1,139
0
1,139

2009-10
£000
20,500

2008-09
£000
13,300

15,000
35,500

15,000
28,300

17 Prudential borrowing limit

Total long term borrowing limit set by
Monitor
Working capital facility agreed by Monitor
Total Prudential Borrowing Limit

NHS Foundation Trusts are able to borrow from commercial or public sources within limits set
by Monitor through the Prudential Borrowing Code (PBC) and as specified in their Terms of
Authorisation.
The Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit which is made
up of two elements:
• The maximum cumulative amount of long term borrowing. This is set by reference to the
four ratio tests set out in Monitor’s Prudential Borrowing Code. The financial risk rating set
under Monitor’s Compliance Framework determines one of the ratios and can therefore
impact on the long term borrowing limit.
• The amount of any working capital facility approved by Monitor.
The Trust has a prudential borrowing limit of £35,500k (£28,300k in 2008-2009) including the
working capital facility of £15,000k (£20,500k net limit.) The Trust has £3,150k of outstanding
borrowing against the net limit of £20,500k after having repaid £2,332k of loans during the
period.
The Trust has not utilised the working capital facility of £15,000k.

Financial Ratio
Maximum debt/capital ratio
Minimum dividend cover
Minimum interest cover
Minimum debt service cover
Maximum debt service to revenue

2009-10
Actual
Approved
Ratios
PBL Ratios
4
59
15
0.56%

> 1 times
> 3 times
> 2 times
< 2.5%
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2008-09
Actual
Approved
Ratios
PBL Ratios
4.60%
25%
3
> 1 times
33
> 3 times
3
> 2 times
2%
< 3%

18 Finance Lease Obligations
The Trust does not hold any Finance Leases.

19 Provisions for Liabilities and Charges
Total
£000
At 1st April 2009
Arising during the period
Utilised during the period
Reversed unused
At 31st March 2010
Expected timing of cashflows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

2009-10
Legal
Other Pensions
£000
£000
£000

Total
£000

2008-09
Legal
Other Pensions
£000
£000
£000

1,740
1,602
(313)
(125)
2,904

121
181
(38)
(49)
215

229
1,312
(153)
(76)
1,312

1,390
109
(122)
0
1,377

1,897
747
(518)
(386)
1,740

179
119
(177)
0
121

691
203
(279)
(386)
229

1,027
425
(62)
0
1,390

1,590
542
772
2,904

157
58
0
215

1,312
0
0
1,312

121
484
772
1,377

550
700
490
1,740

121
0
0
121

229
0
0
229

200
700
490
1,390

The amounts and timings of the above provisions are subject to significant uncertainty.
Pensions provision relates to early retirement costs in line with the NHS Business Service Authority Pensions Division. Legal claims relates to employers and public liability claims advised by the NHS
Litigation Authority. Others relates to estimated outstanding settlements.

19.1 Clinical Negligence Liabilities
£31,362k is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority as at 31st March 2010 in
respect of clinical and employers liabilities of the Trust (£25,598k as at 31st March 2009).

Revaluation Reserve
Property, plant &
equipment

Revaluation Reserve at 1 April 2008 restated
Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses
property, plant and equipment
Other transfers between reserves
Movements on other reserves
Revaluation Reserve at 31 March 2009

Revaluation Reserve
Intangibles

Revaluation Reserve at 1 April 2009
Revaluation gains/(losses) and impairment losses
property, plant and equipment
Other transfers between reserves
Movements on other reserves
Revaluation Reserve at 31 March 2010

Total Revaluation
Reserve

20 Revaluation reserve

£000

£000

£000

37,066
(8,240)

0
0

37,066
(8,240)

(817)
0
28,009

0
0
0

(817)
0
28,009

37,066
0

0
0

37,066
0

0
0
37,066

0
0
0

0
0
37,066

As a result of the recent valuation undertaken by the District Valuer a number of buildings have suffered
an impairment loss totalling £9,423k of which £8,240k has been credited to the revaluation reserve.
In addition £817k has been transferred from the revaluation reserve to Retained Earnings in respect of
derecognised assets.				
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21 Cash and cash equivalents

At 1 April
Net change in year
At 31 March
Broken down into:
Cash at commercial banks and in hand
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Other current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP
Bank overdraft
Cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF
Third party assets held by the Trust

2009-10
£000
6,748
2,923
9,671

2008-09
£000
9,513
(2,765)
6,748

1,033
8,638
0
9,671

9
6,739
0
6,748

9,671

6,748

14

16

At the end of the financial year the Trust held £19k within Trust bank accounts which related
to patient monies held by the Trust on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from cash
at bank and in hand figure reported in the accounts. Balances held in bank accounts (£706K)
managed by the Trust on behalf of its Charitable Funds are excluded from cash at bank and in
hand figure reported in the accounts.

22 Contractual Capital Commitments
The Trust has contractual capital commitments of £210k as at the 31st March 2010. (£1,112k as
at 31st March 2009)

23 Related Party Disclosures
During the financial year under review none of the Board Members or members of the key
management staff or parties related to them has undertaken any material transactions with
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.
Transactions with other NHS Organisations and Government bodies are deemed to be
transactions with a related party. A summary of these transactions is given below:

Related Party

Department of Health
Other NHS Bodies
Other WGA Bodies
NHS CGA Bodies
Charitable Funds
NHS Shared Business Services
NHS Pension Scheme
Related Party

Department of Health
Other NHS Bodies
Other WGA Bodies
NHS CGA Bodies
Charitable Funds
NHS Shared Business Services
NHS Pension Scheme

2009-10
£000
£000
Income Expenditure
3
3
188,020
20,826
0
0
0
0
315
300
0
399
0
14,173

2008-09
£000
£000
Income Expenditure
3,729
280
56,518
2,605
0
534
0
5
113
105
0
171
0
19,808

2009-10
2008-09
£000
£000
£000
£000
Receivables
Payables Receivables
Payables
0
0
206
280
3,165
5,889
4,544
2,201
227
6
574
6,812
0
0
0
0
0
47
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,839
0
1,132
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Included in the above, are significant transactions with
the following NHS Organisations under Service Level
Agreements:
- NHS North West - Strategic Health Authority
- NHS Warrington
- NHS Halton & St Helens
- NHS Western Cheshire
- NHS Ashton Leigh & Wigan
- NHS Central & Eastern Cheshire
- NHS Salford
- 5 Boroughs Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
In addition the Trust has had significant transactions with
the following organisations for the purchase of goods
and services:
- NHS Supply Chain
- NHS Litigation Authority
- NHS Pension Scheme
- NHS Professionals
- National Blood Authority

24 Financial Instruments
Liquidity Risk
The Trust’s net operating costs are incurred under service agreements with Primary Care Trusts which
are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to
significant liquidity risks.
Interest-Rate Risk
All of the Trust’s financial assets and financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest and the Trust is
not therefore exposed to significant interest-rate risk.
Credit Risk
The main source of income for the Trust is from Primary Care Trusts in respect of healthcare services
provided under agreements. Non NHS customers represent a small proportion of income, the majority
of which relate to other public sector bodies which are considered low risk. The Trust is not, therefore
exposed to significant credit risk.
Currency Risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations and therefore has low
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
All financial assets and liabilities are held in sterling and are shown at book value, which also equates to
fair value.

24.1 Financial assets by category

Assets as per statement of financial position
Trade and other receivables excluding non
financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand
Total Financial Assets

2009-10
Assets at fair
Loans and value through
receivables
I&E
£000
£000

2008-09
Assets at fair
Loans and value through
receivables
I&E
£000
£000

4,443

0

6,702

0

9,671
14,114

0
0

6,748
13,450

0
0
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24.2 Financial liabilities by category
2009-10
Other financial
liabilities
£000
Liabilities as per statement of financial position
Borrowings excluding Private Finance Initiative
contracts
Trade and other payables excluding non
financial assets
Provisions under contract
Total Financial Liabilities

2008-09
Liabilities
Liabilities
at fair value Other financial
at fair value
through I & E
liabilities through I & E
£000
£000
£000

3,150

0

5,482

0

12,365

0

14,979

0

2,689
18,204

0
0

1,619
22,080

0
0

25 Losses and Special Payments
There were 66 cases of losses and special payments totalling £74k (34
cases, £69k in 2008-2009) paid during the year. During the year the
Trust recovered £34k from the NHS Litigation Authority in respect of
Public and Employers Liabiliabily payments made above the excess limit
(£12k in 2008-2009) giving net payments of £39k (£57k in 2008-2009).
There were no cases exceeding £100,000 in either current year or prior
year.

26 Auditors Liability
The Audit Commission is currently the Foundation Trust Auditors and
there is no limit on the Auditors Liability.
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